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PART I

ITEM 1.                      BUSINESS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain statements that may be considered forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and such statements are subject to the safe harbor created by those sections.  All
statements, other than statements of historical fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements,
including without limitation: any projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items; any statement of plans,
strategies, and objectives of management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or
developments; any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance; and any statements of belief and
any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing.  Such statements may be identified by their use of
terms or phrases such as "expects," "estimates," "projects," "believes," "anticipates," "plans," "intends," and similar
terms and phrases.  Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which
cannot be predicted or quantified, which could cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set
forth in, contemplated by, or underlying the forward-looking statements.  Readers should review and consider the
factors discussed in "Risk Factors" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, along with various disclosures in our press
releases, stockholder reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  You are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.  We expressly disclaim any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect
any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which
any such statement is based.

References in this Annual Report to "we," "us," "our," or the "Company" or similar terms refer to Covenant
Transportation Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

General

We focus on targeted markets throughout the United States where we believe our service standards can provide a
competitive advantage.  We are a major carrier for transportation companies such as freight forwarders,
less-than-truckload carriers, and third-party logistics providers that require a high level of service to support their
businesses, as well as for traditional truckload customers such as manufacturers, retailers, and food and beverage
shippers.  All of our asset-based subsidiaries are truckload carriers and as such generally dedicate an entire trailer to
one customer from origin to destination.  We also generate revenue through a subsidiary that provides freight
brokerage services.

We were founded as a provider of expedited long-haul freight transportation, primarily using two-person driver teams
in transcontinental lanes.  A combination of customer demand for additional services and changes in freight
distribution patterns resulted in additional services.  Through several acquisitions in the late 1990's and continuing
through 2006, we entered the refrigerated, solo, and regional markets.  In addition, over the past several years, we
internally developed the capacity to provide dedicated fleet and freight brokerage services.

We have two reportable segments: Asset-Based Truckload Services ("Truckload") and our Brokerage Services, also
known as Covenant Transport Solutions, Inc. ("Solutions").

The Truckload segment consists of three asset-based operating fleets that are aggregated because they have similar
economic characteristics and meet the aggregation criteria.  The three operating fleets that comprise our Truckload
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segment are as follows: (i) Covenant Transport, Inc. ("Covenant Transport"), our historical flagship operation, which
provides expedited long-haul, dedicated, and regional solo-driver service; (ii) Southern Refrigerated Transportation,
Inc. ("SRT"), which provides primarily long-haul and regional temperature-controlled service; and (iii) Star
Transportation, Inc. ("Star"), which provides regional solo-driver service, primarily in the southeastern United States.

The Solutions segment provides freight brokerage service directly and through freight brokerage agents who are paid a
commission for the freight they provide.  The brokerage operation has helped us continue to serve customers when we
lacked capacity in a given area or when the load has not met the operating profile of our Truckload segment.

3
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The following chart reflects the size of each of our subsidiaries measured by 2010 freight revenue:

Distribution of
Revenue
Among

Subsidiaries
Covenant
Transport

59%

SRT 25%
Star 9%
Solutions 7%

Asset-Based Truckload Services

Our Truckload segment comprised approximately 93%, 91%, and 91% of our total freight revenue in 2010, 2009, and
2008, respectively.

We primarily generate revenue by transporting freight for our customers.  Generally, we are paid a predetermined rate
per mile for our truckload services.  We enhance our truckload revenue by charging for tractor and trailer detention,
loading and unloading activities, and other specialized services, as well as through the collection of fuel surcharges to
mitigate the impact of increases in the cost of fuel.  The main factors that affect our truckload revenue are the revenue
per mile we receive from our customers, the percentage of miles for which we are compensated, and the number of
shipments and miles we generate.  These factors relate, among other things, to the general level of economic activity
in the United States, inventory levels, specific customer demand, the level of capacity in the trucking industry, and
driver availability.

The main factors that impact our profitability in terms of expenses are the variable costs of transporting freight for our
customers.  These costs include fuel expenses, driver-related expenses, such as wages, benefits, training, and
recruitment, and purchased transportation expenses, which primarily include compensating independent
contractors.  Expenses that have both fixed and variable components include maintenance and tire expense and our
total cost of insurance and claims. These expenses generally vary with the miles we travel, but also have a controllable
component based on safety, self-insured retention versus insurance premiums, fleet age, efficiency, and other
factors.  Our main fixed costs include rentals and depreciation of long-term assets, such as revenue equipment and
terminal facilities, and the compensation of non-driver personnel.

The development of our business has affected our operating metrics over time.  We measure performance of our
Truckload segment and the related subsidiaries' service offerings in four areas: average length-of-haul, average freight
revenue per total mile (excluding fuel surcharges), average miles per tractor, and average freight revenue per tractor
per week (excluding fuel surcharges).  A description of each follows:

Average Length-of-Haul.   Our
a v e r a g e  l e n g t h - o f - h a u l  h a s
decreased over time as we have
increased the use of solo-driver
tractors and increased our presence
in regional markets. The increase in
the length- of-haul in 2010 resulted
from changes in our allocation of
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assets among our subsidiaries and
focus on lane selection between
target markets.

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Average Length-of-Haul in
Miles

1,136 1,159 1,055 950 920 908 815 815 805 887

4
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Average Freight Revenue Per Total
Mile.  Our average freight revenue
per total mile is primarily a function
o f  t h e  m a c r o  U . S .  e c o n o m i c
e n v i r o n m e n t  i n c l u d i n g
supply /demand of  f re ight  and
carr iers .  The increase in  2010
compared to 2009 is a result of the
strengthening U.S. economy and
tighter capacity along with expected
tighter capacity in 2011.

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Average Freight Revenue Per
Tota l  Mi le  (exc ludes  fue l
surcharge revenue)

1.14 1.15 1.17 1.27 1.357 1.364 1.363 1.36 1.271 1.307

A v e r a g e  M i l e s  P e r
Tractor.  Average miles per tractor
reflects economic demand, our
ab i l i t y  t o  ma tch  f l e e t  s i z e  t o
demand, and the percentage of
team-driven tractors in our fleet.
The increase in utilization in 2010 is
a result of an improved freight
e n v i r o n m e n t  c a u s e d  b y  t h e
strengthening U.S. economy, the
replenishment of inventory levels
from record lows in preceding years,
and our allocation of assets among
our subsidiaries.

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Average Miles Per
Tractor

127,714129,906129,656122,899115,765117,621118,159118,992119,836125,178

Average  Fre ight  Revenue  Per
Tractor Per Week.  We use average
freight revenue per tractor per week
as  ou r  ma in  measure  o f  a s se t
productivity. This operating metric
takes into account the effects of
freight rates, non-revenue miles, and
miles  per  t ractor .  In  addi t ion,
because we calculate average freight
revenue per tractor using all of our
trucks, it takes into account the
percentage of  our  f leet  that  is
unproductive due to lack of drivers,
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repairs,  and other factors.  The
increase in 2010 back to more
normalized levels is a result of
improved demand in 2010, tighter
industry-wide tractor capacity,
high-quality customer service, and
improved freight selection.

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Average Freight Revenue Per
Tractor Per Week(excludes fuel
surcharge revenue)

2,803 2,870 2,897 2,995 3,013 3,077 3,088 3,105 2,920 3,137

5
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Brokerage Services

Our Solutions segment comprised approximately 7%, 9%, and 9% of our total operating revenue in 2010, 2009, and
2008, respectively. Solutions derives revenue from arranging transportation services for customers through
relationships with thousands of third-party carriers and integration with our Truckload segment.  Solutions provides
freight brokerage services through freight brokerage agents, who are paid a commission for the freight brokerage
service they provide, and directly through in-house brokerage personnel working in direct contact with
customers.  The main factors that impact profitability in terms of expenses are the variable costs of outsourcing the
transportation freight for our customers and managing selling, general, and administrative expenses.  Our brokerage
loads decreased to 19,589 in 2010, from 24,769 in 2009, primarily due to a reduction in agents.  Average revenue per
load increased approximately 5% to $2,014 in 2010, from $1,912 in 2009, primarily due to increased rates as a result
of the improved economic climate in 2010 and resulting tighter capacity for trucks along with year-over-year increases
in fuel costs.

Refer to Note 16, "Segment Information," of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further
information about each of our reporting segment's operating and financial results for 2010, 2009, and 2008.

Customers and Operations

Our primary customers include manufacturers and retailers, as well as other transportation companies.  In 2010, our
five largest customers were Conway Inc., Estes Express Lines, Georgia Pacific, UPS, and Wal-Mart.  Conway Inc.,
Estes Express Lines, and UPS are other transportation providers who seek our services when our team-driven tractors
or other service capabilities offer them an advantage.  No customer accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated
revenue in 2010, 2009, or 2008.  Our top five customers accounted for approximately 31%, 26%, and 20% of our total
revenue in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

We operate tractors driven by a single driver and also tractors assigned to two-person driver teams.  Our single driver
tractors generally operate in shorter lengths of haul, generate fewer miles per tractor, and experience more
non-revenue miles, but the lower productive miles are expected to be offset by generally higher revenue per loaded
mile and the reduced employee expense of compensating only one driver.  In contrast, our two-person driver tractors
generally operate in longer lengths of haul, generate greater miles per tractor, and experience fewer non-revenue
miles, but we typically receive lower revenue per loaded mile and incur higher employee expenses of compensating
both drivers.  We expect operating statistics and expenses to shift with the mix of single and team operations.

At December 31, 2010, we operated 3,087 tractors and 7,332 trailers.  Of these tractors, 2,919 were owned, 28 were
financed under operating leases, and 140 were provided by independent contractors, who own and drive their own
tractors.  Of these trailers, 2,373 were owned, 4,611 were financed under operating leases, and 348 were financed
under capital leases.

Independent contractors (owner-operators) provide a tractor and a driver and are responsible for all operating expenses
in exchange for a fixed payment per mile.  We do not have the capital outlay of purchasing the tractor.  The payments
to independent contractors are recorded in revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation.  Expenses
associated with owned equipment, such as interest and depreciation, are not incurred, and for independent contractor
tractors, driver compensation, fuel, and other expenses are not incurred.  Because obtaining equipment from
independent contractors and under operating leases effectively shifts financing expenses from interest to "above the
line" operating expenses, we evaluate our efficiency using net margin as well as operating ratio.

We equip our tractors with a satellite-based tracking and communications system that permits direct communication
between drivers and fleet managers.  We believe that this system enhances our operating efficiency and improves
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customer service and fleet management.  This system also updates the tractor's position every thirty minutes, which
allows us and our customers to locate freight and accurately estimate pick-up and delivery times.  We also use the
system to monitor engine idling time, speed, performance, and other factors that affect operating efficiency.

As an additional service to customers, we offer electronic data interchange and internet-based communication for
customer usage in tendering loads and accessing information such as cargo position, delivery times, and billing
information.  These services allow us to communicate electronically with our customers, permitting real-time
information flow, reductions or eliminations in paperwork, and the employment of fewer clerical personnel.  We use a
document imaging system to reduce paperwork and enhance access to important information.

6
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We operate throughout the U.S. and in parts of Canada and Mexico, with substantially all of our revenue generated
from within the U.S.  All of our tractors are domiciled in the U.S., and for the past three years, we estimate that less
than one percent of our revenue has been generated in Canada and Mexico.  We do not separately track domestic and
foreign revenue from customers or domestic and foreign long-lived assets, and providing such information would not
be meaningful.

In 2009, we began a multi-year project to upgrade the hardware and software of our information systems.  The goal
upon completion of the project is to have uniform operational and financial systems across the entire Company as we
believe this will improve customer service, utilization, and enhance our visibility into and across the
organization.  Star and Solutions are currently operating on the new system, and management is planning for
implementations at Covenant Transport and SRT.

Drivers and Other Personnel

Driver recruitment, retention, and satisfaction are essential to our success, and we have made each of these factors a
primary element of our strategy.  We recruit both experienced and student drivers as well as independent contractor
drivers who own and drive their own tractor and provide their services to us under lease.  We conduct recruiting
and/or driver orientation efforts from five of our locations, and we offer ongoing training throughout our terminal
network.  We emphasize driver-friendly operations throughout our organization.  We have implemented automated
programs to signal when a driver is scheduled to be routed toward home, and we assign fleet managers specific tractor
units, regardless of geographic region, to foster positive relationships between the drivers and their principal contact
with us.

The truckload industry has periodically experienced difficulty in attracting and retaining enough qualified truck
drivers.  It is also common for the driver turnover rate of individual carriers to exceed 100% in a year. At times, there
are driver shortages in the trucking industry.  In past years, when there were driver shortages, the number of qualified
drivers had not kept pace with freight growth because of (i) changes in the demographic composition of the
workforce; (ii) alternative employment opportunities other than truck driving that became available in a growing
economy; and (iii) individual drivers' desire to be home more often.

Driver recruiting and retention were challenging in 2010 as evidenced by an increase in our average number of open
trucks.  While open trucks, excluding wrecked units, approximated 3% of our fleet at December 31, 2010 and 2009,
there were less open trucks throughout most of 2009 as a result of the weakness in the economy contributing to more
candidates entering the driver market in the early part of the year and as a result of reductions in our fleet in
2009.  Management's goal is to reduce open trucks, excluding wrecked units, to less than 1% of our fleet, although no
significant progress was made in 2010.  We continue to work toward this goal, and we employed certain initiatives in
the latter half of 2010 that we expect to provide for improvement in 2011.   

Internal education and evaluation of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration ("FMCSA") Comprehensive
Safety Analysis 2010 ("CSA 2010") are priorities as we develop plans to keep our top talent and challenge those
drivers that need improvement.  Overall, we believe this regulation will bring challenges as well as opportunities for
truckload carriers.  CSA 2010, in conjunction with potential reductions in hours-of-service for drivers, may reduce
effective capacity in our industry as well as negatively impact equipment utilization. Nevertheless, for carriers that
successfully manage the new environment with driver friendly equipment, compensation, and operations, we believe
opportunities to increase market share may be available. Driver pay may increase as a result of regulation and
economic expansion, which provides more alternative employment opportunities. If economic growth is sustained;
however, we expect the supply/demand environment to be favorable enough for us to offset expected compensation
increases with better freight pricing.
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We use driver teams in a substantial portion of our tractors.  Driver teams permit us to provide expedited service on
selected long-haul lanes because teams are able to handle longer routes and drive more miles while remaining within
U.S. Department of Transportation ("DOT") hours-of-service rules.  The use of teams contributes to greater equipment
utilization of the tractors they drive than obtained with single drivers.  The use of teams, however, increases the
accumulation of miles on tractors and trailers as well as personnel costs as a percentage of revenue and the number of
drivers we must recruit. At December 31, 2010, teams operated approximately 27% of our tractors versus 29% in the
preceding year.

We are not a party to a collective bargaining agreement.  At December 31, 2010, we employed approximately 3,950
drivers and approximately 790 non-driver personnel.  At December 31, 2010, we also contracted with approximately
140 independent contractor drivers.

7
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Revenue Equipment

We believe that operating high quality, late-model equipment contributes to operating efficiency, helps us recruit and
retain drivers, and is an important part of providing excellent service to customers.  Our policy is to operate a modern
fleet of tractors, with the majority of units under warranty, to minimize repair and maintenance costs and reduce
service interruptions caused by breakdowns.  We also order most of our equipment with uniform specifications to
reduce our parts inventory and facilitate maintenance. At December 31, 2010, our tractor fleet had an average age of
approximately 1.6 years, and our trailer fleet had an average age of approximately 5.4 years. At December 31, 2010,
approximately 88% of our tractors were equipped with 2007 emission-compliant engines in addition to 3% of our
tractors being equipped with 2010 emission-compliant engines.  Furthermore, at December 31, 2010, approximately
79% of our trailers were dry vans and the remaining trailers were refrigerated vans.

Over the past several years, the price of new tractors has risen dramatically, while the resale value of the equipment
has generally not increased proportionately and in some periods has decreased.  This has substantially increased our
costs of operation over the past several years.  Tractor manufacturers have again increased prices in connection with
the manufacturing of 2010 emission-compliant engines.

Industry and Competition

The U.S. market for truck-based transportation services was estimated to have generated $544.4 billion in 2009,
according to the most recently available data published by American Trucking Associations, Inc.  The trucking
industry includes both private fleets and "for-hire" carriers.  We operate in the highly fragmented for-hire truckload
segment of this market, which generated revenues of approximately $246.2 billion in 2009.  Our dedicated business
also competes in the estimated $259.6 billion private fleet portion of the overall trucking market, by seeking to
convince private fleet operators to outsource or supplement their private fleets.

The U.S. trucking industry is highly competitive and includes thousands of "for-hire" motor carriers, none of which
dominate the market.  Service and price are the principal means of competition in the trucking industry.  We compete
to some extent with railroads and rail-truck intermodal service but attempt to differentiate ourselves from them on the
basis of service.  Rail and rail-truck intermodal movements are more often subject to delays and disruptions arising
from rail yard congestion, which reduce the effectiveness of such service to customers with time-definite pick-up and
delivery schedules.  In times of high fuel prices or less consumer demand, however, rail-intermodal competition
becomes more significant.

We believe that the cost and complexity of operating trucking fleets are increasing and that economic and competitive
pressures are likely to force many smaller competitors and private fleets to consolidate or exit the industry.  As a
result, we believe that larger, better-capitalized companies, like us, will have opportunities to increase profit margins
and gain market share.  In the market for dedicated services, we believe that truckload carriers, like us, have a
competitive advantage over truck lessors, who are the other major participants in the market, because we can offer
lower prices by utilizing back-haul freight within our network that traditional lessors may not have.

Regulation

Our operations are regulated and licensed by various U.S. agencies.  Our Canadian business activities are subject to
similar requirements imposed by the laws and regulations of Canada, as well as its provincial laws and
regulations.  We operate within Mexico by utilizing third-party carriers within that country.  Our Company drivers and
independent contractors also must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the DOT, including those relating
to drug and alcohol testing and hours-of-service.  Such matters as weight and equipment dimensions are also subject
to U.S. regulations.  We also may become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to fuel emissions,
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drivers' hours-of-service, ergonomics, or other matters affecting safety or operating methods.  Other agencies, such as
the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and the Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") also regulate our
equipment, operations, and drivers.
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The DOT, through the FMCSA, imposes safety and fitness regulations on us and our drivers.  New rules that limit
driver hours-of-service were adopted effective January 4, 2004, and then modified effective October 1, 2005 (the
"2005 Rules").  In July 2007, a federal appeals court vacated portions of the 2005 Rules.  Two of the key portions that
were vacated include the expansion of the driving day from 10 hours to 11 hours, and the "34-hour restart," which
allowed drivers to restart calculations of the weekly on-duty time limits after the driver had at least 34 consecutive
hours off duty.  The court indicated that, in addition to other reasons, it vacated these two portions of the 2005 Rules
because FMCSA failed to provide adequate data supporting its decision to increase the driving day and provide for the
34-hour restart.  In November 2008, following the submission of additional data by FMCSA and a series of appeals
and related court rulings, FMCSA published its final rule, which retains the 11 hour driving day and the 34-hour
restart (the "Final Rule").  However, advocacy groups have continued to challenge the Final Rule.  On December 20,
2010, the FMCSA issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking that would place additional limits on the time drivers may
operate a commercial motor vehicle.  Among the proposed revisions is a provision that all driving time must be
completed within a 14-hour period and that timeframe must include at least a one-hour break.  The proposal also
provides that the 34-hour restart may only be used once per week and must include two periods between midnight and
six a.m.  The rule also contemplates reducing the maximum driving time in a 24-hour period from 11 hours to 10
hours.  The public comment period on the proposal closes on March 4, 2011, and a Final Rule is expected to be
published by July 26, 2011.

We are unable to predict what form the new rules may take, how a court may rule on such challenges to such rules,
and to what extent the FMCSA might attempt to materially revise the rules under the current presidential
administration.  On the whole, however, we believe any modifications to the current rules will decrease productivity
and cause some loss of efficiency, as drivers and shippers may need to be retrained, computer programming may
require modifications, additional drivers may need to be employed or engaged, additional equipment may need to be
acquired, and some shipping lanes may need to be reconfigured.

The FMCSA's CSA 2010 introduced a new enforcement and compliance model, which implements driver standards in
addition to the company standards currently in place.  Under CSA 2010, the methodology for determining a carrier's
DOT safety rating has been expanded to include the on-road safety performance of the carrier's drivers.  As a result,
certain current and potential drivers may no longer be eligible to drive for us, our fleet could be ranked poorly as
compared to our peer firms, and our safety rating could be adversely impacted. A reduction in eligible drivers or a
poor fleet ranking may result in difficulty attracting and retaining qualified drivers, and could cause our customers to
direct their business away from us and to carriers with higher fleet rankings, which would adversely affect our results
of operations.

Recently, our CSA 2010 ratings scored us above the established intervention threshold for one of the safety-related
standards.  Based on this unfavorable rating, we may be prioritized for an intervention action and roadside inspection,
either of which could adversely affect our results of operations.  In response to this unfavorable rating, we have
updated safety training for drivers, including specific focus on drivers with scores in the lower percentiles of certain of
the standards.  Additionally, we have reduced the maximum speed on a large portion of our fleet and enhanced
programs that reward drivers for positive safety behavior.

The FMCSA also is considering revisions to the existing rating system and the safety labels assigned to motor carriers
evaluated by the DOT. We currently have a satisfactory DOT rating, which is the highest available rating under the
current safety rating scale. Under the revised rating system being considered by the FMCSA, our safety rating would
be evaluated more regularly, and our safety rating would reflect a more in-depth assessment of safety-based violations.

Finally, the FMCSA has proposed new rules that will require nearly all carriers, including us, to install and use
electronic,  on-board recorders  in their  t ractors  to electronical ly monitor  t ruck miles and enforce
hours-of-service.  Approximately, 36% of our owned tractors are equipped with electronic on-board recorders, and we
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plan to have these devices installed on the majority of the fleet by December 31, 2011.

The Transportation Security Administration ("TSA") has adopted regulations that require determination by the TSA
that each driver who applies for or renews his or her license for carrying hazardous materials is not a security
threat.  This could reduce the pool of qualified drivers, which could require us to increase driver compensation, limit
our fleet growth, or result in trucks sitting idle.  These regulations also could complicate the matching of available
equipment with hazardous material shipments, thereby increasing our response time on customer orders and our
non-revenue miles.  As a result, it is possible we could fail to meet the needs of our customers or could incur increased
expenses to do so.

9
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Certain states and municipalities continue to restrict the locations and amount of time where diesel-powered tractors,
such as ours, may idle, in order to reduce exhaust emissions.  These restrictions could force us to alter our drivers'
behavior, purchase on-board power units that do not require the engine to idle, or face a decrease in productivity.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations dealing with the hauling and handling of hazardous
materials, fuel storage tanks, air emissions from our vehicles and facilities, engine idling, and discharge and retention
of storm water.  Our truck terminals often are located in industrial areas where groundwater or other forms of
environmental contamination could occur.  Our operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, environmental
damage, and hazardous waste disposal, among others.  Certain of our facilities have waste oil or fuel storage tanks and
fueling islands.  A small percentage of our freight consists of low-grade hazardous substances, which subjects us to a
wide array of regulations.  Although we have instituted programs to monitor and control environmental risks and
promote compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations, if we are involved in a spill or other accident
involving hazardous substances, if there are releases of hazardous substances we transport, if soil or groundwater
contamination is found at our facilities or results from our operations, or if we are found to be in violation of
applicable laws or regulations, we could be subject to cleanup costs and liabilities, including substantial fines or
penalties or civil and criminal liability, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business and
operating results.

Regulations limiting exhaust emissions became more restrictive in 2010.  On May 21, 2010, President Obama signed
an executive memorandum directing the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA") and the EPA to
develop new, stricter fuel efficiency standards for heavy trucks, beginning in 2014. On October 25, 2010, the NHTSA
and the EPA proposed regulations that regulate fuel efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions beginning in 2014.  In
December 2008, California adopted new performance requirements for diesel trucks, with targets to be met between
2011 and 2023, and California also has adopted aerodynamics requirements for certain trailers.  These regulations, as
well as proposed regulations or legislation related to climate change that potentially impose restrictions, caps, taxes, or
other controls on emissions of greenhouse gas, could adversely affect our operations and financial results.  In addition,
increasing efforts to control emissions of greenhouse gases are likely to have an impact on us.  The EPA has
announced a finding relating to greenhouse gas emissions that may result in promulgation of greenhouse gas emission
limits.  Compliance with such regulations has increased the cost of new tractors, could impair equipment productivity,
lower fuel mileage, and increase our operating expenses.  These adverse effects, combined with the uncertainty as to
the reliability of the new diesel engines and the residual values of these vehicles, could materially increase our costs or
otherwise adversely affect our business or operations.

Fuel Availability and Cost

We actively manage our fuel costs by routing our drivers through fuel centers with which we have negotiated volume
discounts and through jurisdictions with lower fuel taxes, where possible.  The cost of fuel trended higher in 2010,
after a reprieve in 2009 from the historical highs for petroleum products in 2008.  We have also reduced the maximum
speed of many of our trucks, implemented strict idling guidelines for our drivers, purchased technology to enhance our
management and monitoring of out-of-route miles, encouraged the use of shore power units in truck stops, and
imposed standards for accepting broker freight that include minimum rates and fuel surcharges.  This combination of
initiatives has contributed to significant improvements in fleet wide average fuel mileage.  Moreover, we have a fuel
surcharge revenue program in place with the majority of our customers, which has historically enabled us to recover
some of the higher fuel costs; however, even with the fuel surcharges, the price of fuel has affected our profitability. 
Our fuel surcharges are billed on a lagging basis, meaning we typically bill customers in the current week based on a
previous week's applicable index.  Therefore, in times of increasing fuel prices, we do not recover as much as we are
currently paying for fuel.  In periods of declining prices, the opposite is true.  In addition, we incur additional costs
when fuel prices rise that cannot be fully recovered due to our engines being idled during cold or warm weather,
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empty or out-of-route miles, and for fuel used by refrigerated trailer units that generally are not billed to customers.  In
addition, during 2009 and 2008, many customers attempted to modify their surcharge programs, some successfully,
which has resulted in recovery of a smaller portion of fuel price increases.  In 2010, we refocused on ensuring fuel
surcharges from customers were acceptable to mitigate the rising cost of fuel in 2010 and expected continued increase
in 2011. Rapid increases in fuel costs or shortages of fuel could have a materially adverse effect on our operations or
future profitability.

We engage in activities that expose us to market risks, including the effects of changes in fuel prices.  Financial
exposures are evaluated as an integral part of our risk management program, which seeks, from time-to-time, to
reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of fuel markets may have on operating results.  In an effort to
seek to reduce the variability of the ultimate cash flows associated with fluctuations in diesel fuel prices, we
periodically enter into various derivative instruments, including forward futures swap contracts.  As diesel fuel is not a
traded commodity on the futures market, heating oil is used as a substitute for diesel fuel because prices for both
generally move in similar directions.  Under these contracts, we pay a fixed rate per gallon of heating oil and receive
the monthly average price of New York heating oil per the New York Mercantile Exchange ("NYMEX").  The
retrospective and prospective regression analyses provided that changes in the prices of diesel fuel and heating oil
were deemed to be highly effective based on the relevant authoritative guidance.  We do not engage in speculative
transactions, nor do we hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes.

10
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We recognize all derivative instruments at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets.  Our derivative instruments
are designated as cash flow hedges, thus the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income and will be reclassified into earnings in the same period
during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.  The effective portion of the derivative represents the change in
fair value of the hedge that offsets the change in fair value of the hedged item.  To the extent the change in the fair
value of the hedge does not perfectly offset the change in the fair value of the hedged item, the ineffective portion of
the hedge is immediately recognized in other  income on our consolidated statements of operations.

During the fourth quarter of 2010, we sold all of our contracts related to the forecasted purchase of diesel fuel in 2011
to lock-in the related gains.  The gains totaling $0.5 million are included in accumulated other comprehensive income,
net of tax of $0.3 million.  As such, there are no outstanding derivative instruments at December 31, 2010. During
2010, $1.8 million was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings related to gains on
contracts that expired or were sold and for which we completed the forecasted transaction by purchasing the hedged
diesel fuel.  At December 31, 2009, our derivative instruments had a fair value of $0.5 million and were included in
other assets in the consolidated balance sheet, while the offsetting $0.3 million, net of tax of $0.2 million, was
included in accumulated other comprehensive income.  No amounts were reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income into earnings in 2009 given the futures swap contracts were forward starting in 2010 and as
such there had been no transactions involving purchases of the related diesel fuel being hedged at December 31, 2009.

Based on the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2010 and the expected timing
of the purchases of the diesel hedged, we expect to reclassify $0.8 million of gains on derivative instruments from
accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings during the next twelve months due to the actual diesel fuel
purchases.

We perform both a prospective and retrospective assessment of the effectiveness of our hedge contracts at inception
and quarterly, including assessing the possibility of counterparty default.  If we determine that a derivative is no
longer expected to be highly effective, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively and recognize subsequent
changes in the fair value of the hedge in earnings.  We believe hedge contracts have been and will continue to be
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.

Seasonality

In the trucking industry, revenue generally decreases as customers reduce shipments during the winter holiday season
and as inclement weather impedes operations.  At the same time, operating expenses generally increase, with fuel
efficiency declining because of engine idling and weather, creating more equipment repairs.  For the reasons stated,
first quarter results historically have been lower than results in each of the other three quarters of the year excluding
charges.  Our equipment utilization typically improves substantially between May and October of each year because
of the trucking industry's seasonal shortage of equipment on traffic originating in California and because of general
increases in shipping demand during those months.  During September and October, business sometimes increases as
a result of increased retail merchandise shipped in anticipation of the holidays.  Due to the economic downturn and
related low inventory levels, this historical trend has not been present over the past several years, including fiscal 2010
and 2009, as we have seen increases in demand at varying times based primarily on restocking required to replenish
inventories and less pronounced seasonal spikes prior to the holidays.

Additional Information

At December 31, 2010, our corporate structure included Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., a Nevada holding
company organized in May 1994, and its wholly owned subsidiaries: Covenant Transport, Inc., a Tennessee
corporation; Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., an Arkansas corporation; Star Transportation, Inc., a Tennessee
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corporation; Covenant Transport Solutions, Inc., a Nevada corporation; Covenant Logistics, Inc., a Nevada
corporation; Covenant Asset Management, Inc., a Nevada corporation; CTG Leasing Company, a Nevada corporation;
and Volunteer Insurance Limited, a Cayman Islands company.

Our headquarters is located at 400 Birmingham Highway, Chattanooga, Tennessee 37419, and our website address is
www.ctginvestor.com.  Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form
8-K, and all other reports we file with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") are available free of charge through our website.  Information contained in or
available through our website is not incorporated by reference into, and you should not consider such information to
be part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A.                      RISK FACTORS

Factors That May Affect Future Results

Our future results may be affected by a number of factors over which we have little or no control.  The following
discussion of risk factors contains forward-looking statements as discussed in Item 1 above.  The following issues,
uncertainties, and risks, among others, should be considered in evaluating our business and growth outlook.

Our business is subject to general economic and business factors affecting the trucking industry that are largely out of
our control, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our operating results.

Our business is dependent on a number of factors that may have a materially adverse effect on our results of
operations, many of which are beyond our control. Some of the most significant of these factors include excess tractor
and trailer capacity in the trucking industry, declines in the resale value of used equipment, strikes or other work
stoppages, increases in interest rates, fuel taxes, tolls, and license and registration fees, and rising costs of healthcare.

We also are affected by recessionary economic cycles, changes in customers' inventory levels, and downturns in
customers' business cycles, particularly in market segments and industries, such as retail and manufacturing, where we
have a significant concentration of customers, and regions of the country, such as California, Texas, and the
Southeast, where we have a significant amount of business.  Some of the principal risks are as follows:

• We may experience a reduction in overall freight levels, which may impair our asset utilization;
• Certain of our customers may face credit issues and could experience cash flow problems that may lead to

payment delays, increased credit risk, bankruptcies, and other financial hardships that could result in even
lower freight demand and may require us to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts;

• Freight patterns may change as supply chains are redesigned, resulting in an imbalance between our capacity
and our customers' freight demand;

• Customers may bid out freight or select competitors that offer lower rates from among existing choices in an
attempt to lower their costs, and we might be forced to lower our rates or lose freight; and

• We may be forced to accept more freight from freight brokers, where freight rates are typically lower, or
may be forced to incur more non-revenue miles to obtain loads.

In addition, it is not possible to predict the effects of actual or threatened terrorist attacks, efforts to combat terrorism,
military action against any foreign state, heightened security requirements, or other related events.  Such events,
however, could negatively impact the economy and consumer confidence in the U.S.  Such events could also have a
materially adverse effect on our future results of operations.
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We self-insure for a significant portion of our claims exposure, which could significantly increase the volatility of, and
decrease the amount of, our earnings.

Our future insurance and claims expense could reduce our earnings and make our earnings more volatile. We
self-insure for a significant portion of our claims exposure and related expenses. We accrue amounts for liabilities
based on our assessment of claims that arise and our insurance coverage for the periods in which the claims arise, and
we evaluate and revise these accruals from time-to-time based on additional information. Due to our significant
self-insured amounts, we have significant exposure to fluctuations in the number and severity of claims and the risk of
being required to accrue or pay additional amounts if our estimates are revised or the claims ultimately prove to be
more severe than originally assessed.  Historically, we have had to significantly adjust our reserves on several
occasions, and future significant adjustments may occur.

We maintain insurance above the amounts for which we self-insure with licensed insurance carriers.  Although we
believe our aggregate insurance limits are sufficient to cover reasonably expected claims, it is possible that one or
more claims could exceed those limits.  If any claim was to exceed our coverage, we would bear the excess, in
addition to our other self-insured amounts.  Our insurance and claims expense could increase, or we could find it
necessary to again raise our self-insured retention or decrease our aggregate coverage limits when our policies are
renewed or replaced.  Our operating results and financial condition may be adversely affected if these expenses
increase, if we experience a claim in excess of our coverage limits, if we experience a claim for which we do not have
coverage, or if we have to increase our reserves.

Fluctuations in the price or availability of fuel, hedging activities, and the volume and terms of diesel fuel purchase
commitments, and surcharge collection and surcharge policies approved by customers may increase our costs of
operation, which could materially and adversely affect our profitability.

Fuel is one of our largest operating expenses. Diesel fuel prices fluctuate greatly due to economic, political, weather,
and other factors beyond our control each of which may lead to an increase in the cost of fuel.  Fuel also is subject to
regional pricing differences and often costs more on the West Coast, where we have significant operations. From
time-to-time, we use hedging contracts and volume purchase arrangements to attempt to limit the effect of price
fluctuations. We may be forced to make cash payments under the hedging arrangements.  We use a fuel surcharge
program to recapture a portion of the increases in fuel prices over a base rate negotiated with our customers. Our fuel
surcharge program does not protect us against the full effect of increases in fuel prices.  The terms of each customer's
fuel surcharge program vary and certain customers have sought to modify the terms of their fuel surcharge programs
to minimize recoverability for fuel price increases. A failure to improve our fuel price protection through these
measures, increases in fuel prices, or a shortage of diesel fuel, could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations.

We depend on the proper functioning and availability of our information systems and a system failure or inability to
effectively upgrade our information systems could cause a significant disruption to our business and have a materially
adverse effect on our results of operation.

We depend on the proper functioning and availability of our information systems, including financial reporting and
operating systems, in operating our business.  Our operating system is critical to understanding customer demands,
accepting and planning loads, dispatching equipment and drivers, and billing and collecting for our services.  Our
financial reporting system is critical to producing accurate and timely financial statements and analyzing business
information to help us manage effectively. We have begun a multi-year project to upgrade the hardware and software
of our information systems. If any of our critical information systems fail or become otherwise unavailable, whether
as a result of the upgrade project or otherwise, we would have to perform the functions manually, which could
temporarily impact our ability to manage our fleet efficiently, to respond to customers' requests effectively, to
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maintain billing and other records reliably, and to bill for services and prepare financial statements accurately or in a
timely manner.  Our business interruption insurance may be inadequate to protect us in the event of an unforeseeable
and extreme catastrophe.  Any system failure, delay, or complication in the upgrade, security breach, or other system
failure could interrupt or delay our operations, damage our reputation, cause us to lose customers, or impact our ability
to manage our operations and report our financial performance, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on
our business.

We may not be successful in improving our profitability.

We had significant losses from 2007 through 2009, attributable to operations, impairments, and other charges.  As a
result of improvements in the economic environment in 2010, combined with certain Company-specific initiatives
centered around decreasing our cost structure and focusing on target markets, we generated a profit in
2010.  Management believes profitable results are sustainable so long as the economic environment supports customer
rate increases in excess of increases in our operating costs.  If we are unable to maintain and/or improve our
profitability, then our liquidity, financial position, and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Our Third Amended and Restated Credit Facility ("Credit Facility") and other financing arrangements contain certain
covenants, restrictions, and requirements, and we may be unable to comply with the covenants, restrictions, and
requirements.  A default could result in the acceleration of all or part of our outstanding indebtedness, which could
have an adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, and the price of our common stock.

We have an $85.0 million Credit Facility with a group of banks and numerous other financing arrangements.  The
Credit Facility contains certain restrictions and covenants relating to, among other things, dividends, liens,
acquisitions and dispositions outside of the ordinary course of business, affiliate transactions, and a fixed charge
coverage ratio. We have had difficulty meeting budgeted results in the past. If we are unable to meet budgeted results
or otherwise comply with our Credit Facility, we may be unable to obtain amendments or waivers under our Credit
Facility, or we may incur fees in doing so.  See "Material Debt Agreements" below for additional information.
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Certain other financing arrangements contain certain restrictions and non-financial covenants, as well.  If we fail to
comply with any of our financing arrangement covenants, restrictions, and requirements, we will be in default under
the relevant agreement, which could cause cross-defaults under our other financing arrangements.  In the event of any
such default, if we failed to obtain replacement financing, amendments to, or waivers under the applicable financing
arrangements, our lenders could cease making further advances, declare our debt to be immediately due and payable,
fail to renew letters of credit, impose significant restrictions and requirements on our operations, institute foreclosure
procedures against their collateral, or impose significant fees and transaction costs.  If acceleration occurs, economic
conditions such as the recent credit market crisis may make it difficult or expensive to refinance the accelerated debt
or we may have to issue equity securities, which would dilute stock ownership.  Even if new financing is made
available to us, credit may not be available to us on acceptable terms.  A default under our financing arrangements
could cause a materially adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our substantial indebtedness and capital and operating lease obligations could adversely affect our ability to respond
to changes in our industry or business.

As a result of our level of debt, capital leases, operating leases, and encumbered assets:

• Our vulnerability to adverse economic conditions and competitive pressures is
heightened;

• We will continue to be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash
flows from operations to lease payments and repayment of debt, limiting the
availability of cash for other purposes;

• Our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and
industry will be limited;

• Our profitability is sensitive to fluctuations in interest rates because some of our
debt obligations are subject to variable interest rates, and future borrowings and
lease financing arrangements will be affected by any such fluctuations;

• Our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital,
capital expenditures, acquisitions, or other purposes may be limited; and

• We may be required to issue additional equity securities to raise funds, which
would dilute the ownership position of our stockholders.

Our financing obligations could negatively impact our future operations, our ability to satisfy our capital needs, or our
ability to engage in other business activities. We also cannot assure you that additional financing will be available to
us when required or, if available, will be on terms satisfactory to us.

We operate in a highly competitive and fragmented industry, and numerous competitive factors could impair our
ability to improve our profitability.

These factors include:

• We compete with many other truckload carriers of varying sizes and, to a lesser
extent, with less-than-truckload carriers, railroads, intermodal companies, and
other transportation companies, many of which have more equipment and greater
capital resources than we do.

• Many of our competitors periodically reduce their freight rates to gain business,
especially during times of reduced growth rates in the economy, which may limit
our ability to maintain or increase freight rates or maintain significant growth in
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our business.
• Many of our customers, including the majority of our top ten, are other

transportation companies, and they may decide to transport their own freight.
• Many customers reduce the number of carriers they use by selecting "core

carriers" as approved service providers, and in some instances we may not be
selected.

• Many customers periodically accept bids from multiple carriers for their shipping
needs, and this process may depress freight rates or result in the loss of some
business to competitors.

• The trend toward consolidation in the trucking industry may create other large
carriers with greater financial resources and other competitive advantages relating
to their size.

• Advances in technology require increased investments to remain competitive, and
our customers may not be willing to accept higher freight rates to cover the cost
of these investments.

• Competition from non-asset-based logistics and freight brokerage companies may
adversely affect our customer relationships and freight rates.

13
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We derive a significant portion of our revenue from our major customers, the loss of one or more of which could have
a materially adverse effect on our business.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated from our major customers.  Generally, we do not have long-term
contractual relationships with our major customers, and our customers may not continue to use our services or could
reduce their use of our services.  For some of our customers, we have entered into multi-year contracts, and the rates
we charge may not remain advantageous.  A reduction in or termination of our services, by one or more of our major
customers, could have a materially adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Increases in driver compensation or difficulty in attracting and retaining qualified drivers could adversely affect our
profitability.

Like many truckload carriers, we experience substantial difficulty in attracting and retaining sufficient numbers of
qualified drivers, including independent contractors.  In addition, due in part to current economic conditions, including
the cost of fuel, insurance, and tractors, the available pool of independent contractor drivers has been declining.
Regulatory requirements, including CSA 2010 and proposed hours-of-service changes (both discussed below), and an
improved economy could reduce the number of eligible drivers or force us to pay more to attract and retain drivers.  A
shortage of qualified drivers and intense competition for drivers from other trucking companies will create difficulties
in maintaining or increasing the number of our drivers, including independent contractor drivers.  The compensation
we offer our drivers and independent contractors is subject to market conditions, and we may find it necessary to
increase driver and independent contractor compensation in future periods.  In addition, we and our industry suffer
from a high turnover rate of drivers.  The high turnover rate requires us to continually recruit a substantial number of
drivers in order to operate existing revenue equipment.  If we are unable to continue to attract and retain a sufficient
number of drivers, we could be forced to, among other things, adjust our compensation packages, increase the number
of our tractors without drivers, or operate with fewer trucks and face difficulty meeting shipper demands, any of which
could adversely affect our growth and profitability.

We operate in a highly regulated industry, and changes in existing regulations or violations of existing or future
regulations could have a materially adverse effect on our operations and profitability.

We operate in the U.S. pursuant to operating authority granted by the DOT and in various Canadian provinces
pursuant to operating authority granted by the Ministries of Transportation and Communications in such
provinces.  We operate within Mexico by utilizing third-party carriers within that country.  Our Company drivers and
independent contractors also must comply with the safety and fitness regulations of the DOT, including those relating
to drug and alcohol testing and hours-of-service. Such matters as weight and equipment dimensions also are subject to
government regulations. We also may become subject to new or more restrictive regulations relating to fuel emissions,
drivers’ hours-of-service, ergonomics, on-board reporting of operations, collective bargaining, security at ports, and
other matters affecting safety or operating methods.  Other agencies, such as the EPA and the DHS, also regulate our
equipment, operations, and drivers.  Future laws and regulations may be more stringent and require changes in our
operating practices, influence the demand for transportation services, or require us to incur significant additional
costs.  Higher costs incurred by us or by our suppliers who pass the costs onto us through higher prices could
adversely affect our results of operations.

The DOT, through the FMCSA, is currently engaged in a rulemaking proceeding regarding drivers’ hours-of-service,
and the result could negatively impact utilization of our equipment. We are unable to predict what form the new
hours-of-service rules may take, how a court may rule on challenges to such rules, and to what extent the FMCSA
might attempt to materially revise the rules.  On the whole, however, we believe that any modifications to the current
rules may decrease productivity and cause some loss of efficiency, as drivers and shippers may need to be retrained,
computer programming may require modifications, additional drivers may need to be employed or engaged, additional
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equipment may need to be acquired, and some shipping lanes may need to be reconfigured.  We are also unable to
predict the effect of any new rules that might be proposed if the issued rule is stricken by a court, but any such
proposed rules could increase costs in our industry or decrease productivity.

The FMCSA also is considering revisions to the existing rating system and the safety labels assigned to motor carriers
evaluated by the DOT.  We currently have a satisfactory DOT rating, which is the highest available rating under the
current safety rating scale.  If we were to receive a conditional or unsatisfactory DOT safety rating, it could adversely
affect our business because some of our customer contracts require a satisfactory DOT safety rating, and a conditional
or unsatisfactory rating could negatively impact or restrict our operations.  Failure to comply with DOT safety
regulations or downgrades in our safety rating could have a materially adverse impact on our operations or financial
condition.  A downgrade in our safety rating could cause us to lose the ability to self-insure.  The loss of our ability to
self-insure for any significant period of time would materially increase our insurance costs.  In addition, we may
experience difficulty in obtaining adequate levels of coverage in that event.  Under the revised rating system being
considered by the FMCSA, our safety rating would be evaluated more regularly, and our safety rating would reflect a
more in-depth assessment of safety-based violations.
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The FMCSA’s CSA 2010 implemented a new enforcement and compliance model that ranks both fleets and individual
drivers on certain safety-related standards.  As discussed more fully below, CSA 2010 may reduce the number of
eligible drivers and/or negatively impact our fleet ranking.

Additionally, the FMCSA has proposed new rules that will require nearly all carriers, including us, to install and use
electronic, on-board recorders in our tractors to electronically monitor truck miles and enforce hours-of-service. Such
installation could cause an increase in driver turnover, adverse information in litigation, cost increases, and decreased
asset utilization.

In the aftermath of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, federal, state, and municipal authorities implemented and
continue to implement various security measures, including checkpoints and travel restrictions on large trucks.  The
TSA has adopted regulations that require determination by the TSA that each driver who applies for or renews his
license for carrying hazardous materials is not a security threat.  This could reduce the pool of qualified drivers, which
could require us to increase driver compensation, limit fleet growth, or let trucks sit idle.  These regulations also could
complicate the matching of available equipment with hazardous material shipments, thereby increasing our response
time and our deadhead miles on customer shipments.  As a result, it is possible we may fail to meet the needs of our
customers or may incur increased expenses to do so.  These security measures could negatively impact our operating
results.

Some states and municipalities have begun to restrict the locations and amount of time where diesel-powered tractors,
such as ours, may idle and/or travel. These restrictions could force us to alter our drivers’ behavior and routes, purchase
on-board power units that do not require the engine to idle, or face a decrease in productivity.

From time-to-time, various federal, state, or local taxes are increased, including taxes on fuels. We cannot predict
whether, or in what form, any such increase applicable to us will be enacted, but such an increase could adversely
affect our profitability.

CSA 2010 could adversely affect our profitability and operations, our ability to maintain or grow our fleet, and our
customer relationships.

Under CSA 2010, drivers and fleets are evaluated and ranked based on certain safety-related standards.  The
methodology for determining a carrier’s DOT safety rating has been expanded to include the on-road safety
performance of the carrier’s drivers. As a result, certain current and potential drivers may no longer be eligible to drive
for us, our fleet could be ranked poorly as compared to our peers, and our safety rating could be adversely
impacted.  Additionally, we have received certain deficiencies in our safety-related standards in the past.  Failure to
cure such deficiencies, or the occurrence of future deficiencies could cause high-quality drivers to seek other carriers
or could cause our customers to direct their business away from us and to carriers with higher fleet rankings, either of
which would adversely affect our results of operations.  Additionally, competition for drivers with favorable safety
ratings may increase and thus provide for increases in driver related compensation costs.

We have significant ongoing capital requirements that could affect our profitability if we are unable to generate
sufficient cash from operations and obtain financing on favorable terms.

The truckload industry is capital intensive, and our policy of operating newer equipment requires us to expend
significant amounts annually.  We expect to pay for projected capital expenditures with cash flows from operations,
borrowings under our Credit Facility, proceeds under our financing facilities, and leases of revenue equipment.  If we
are unable to generate sufficient cash from operations and obtain financing on favorable terms in the future, we may
have to limit our fleet size, enter into less favorable financing arrangements, or operate our revenue equipment for
longer periods, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our profitability.
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Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could result in
substantial fines or penalties.

We are subject to various environmental laws and regulations dealing with the hauling and handling of hazardous
materials, fuel storage tanks, air emissions from our vehicles and facilities, engine idling, and discharge and retention
of storm water.  Our truck terminals often are located in industrial areas where groundwater or other forms of
environmental contamination could occur.  Our operations involve the risks of fuel spillage or seepage, environmental
damage, and hazardous waste disposal, among others.  Certain of our facilities have waste oil or fuel storage tanks and
fueling islands.  A small percentage of our freight consists of low-grade hazardous substances, which subjects us to a
wide array of regulations.  Although we have instituted programs to monitor and control environmental risks and
promote compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations, if we are involved in a spill or other accident
involving hazardous substances, if there are releases of hazardous substances we transport, if soil or groundwater
contamination is found at our facilities or results from our operations, or if we are found to be in violation of
applicable laws or regulations, we could be subject to cleanup costs and liabilities, including substantial fines or
penalties or civil and criminal liability, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business and
operating results.
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EPA regulations limiting exhaust emissions became more restrictive in 2010.  Additionally, the current presidential
administration has directed the EPA and NHTSA to develop new, stricter fuel efficiency standards for heavy trucks,
beginning in 2014.  California has adopted new performance requirements for diesel trucks, with targets to be met
between 2011 and 2023, and California also has adopted aerodynamics requirements for certain trailers. These
regulations, as well as proposed regulations or legislation related to climate change that potentially impose
restrictions, caps, taxes, or other controls on emissions of greenhouse gas, could adversely affect our operations and
financial results. In addition, increasing efforts to control emissions of greenhouse gases are likely to have an impact
on us. The EPA has announced a finding relating to greenhouse gas emissions that may result in promulgation of
greenhouse gas emission limits. Compliance with such regulations has increased the cost of new tractors, could impair
equipment productivity, lower fuel mileage, and increase our operating expenses.  These adverse effects, combined
with the uncertainty as to the reliability of the new diesel engines and the residual values of these vehicles, could
materially increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business or operations.

Increased prices, reduced productivity, and scarcity of financing for new revenue equipment may adversely affect our
earnings and cash flows.

We are subject to risk with respect to higher prices for new tractors. Prices have increased and may continue to
increase, due, in part, to government regulations applicable to newly manufactured tractors and diesel engines and due
to the pricing power among equipment manufacturers.  More restrictive EPA emissions standards have required
vendors to introduce new engines.  Compliance with such regulations has increased the cost of our new tractors and
could impair equipment productivity, lower fuel mileage, and increase our operating expenses. These adverse effects,
combined with the uncertainty as to the reliability of the vehicles equipped with the newly designed diesel engines and
the residual values realized from the disposition of these vehicles, could increase our costs or otherwise adversely
affect our business or operations as the regulations become effective.

We have a combination of agreements and non-binding statements of indicative trade values covering the terms of
trade-in commitments from our primary equipment vendors for disposal of a portion of our revenue equipment. From
time-to-time, prices we expect to receive under these arrangements may be higher than the prices we would receive in
the open market.  We may suffer a financial loss upon disposition of our equipment if these vendors refuse or are
unable to meet their financial obligations under these agreements, if we fail to enter into definitive agreements
consistent with the indicative trade values, if we fail to enter into similar arrangements in the future, or if we do not
purchase the required number of replacement units from the vendors.

If we are unable to retain our key employees, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be
harmed.

We are highly dependent upon the services of the following key employees: David R. Parker, our Chairman of the
Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President and Joey B. Hogan, our Senior Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer. We currently do not have employment agreements with Messrs. Parker or Hogan.  The loss of any
of their services could negatively impact our operations and future profitability.  We must continue to develop and
retain a core group of managers if we are to continue to improve our profitability and have appropriate succession
planning for key management personnel.

We may not make acquisitions in the future, or if we do, we may not be successful in our acquisition strategy.

We made ten acquisitions between 1996 and 2006.  Accordingly, acquisitions have provided a substantial portion of
our growth.  We may not have the financial capacity or be successful in identifying, negotiating, or consummating any
future acquisitions.  If we fail to make any future acquisitions, our historical growth rate could be materially and
adversely affected.  Any acquisitions we undertake could involve the dilutive issuance of equity securities and/or
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incurring indebtedness.  In addition, acquisitions involve numerous risks, including difficulties in assimilating the
acquired company's operations, the diversion of our management's attention from other business concerns, risks of
entering into markets in which we have had no or only limited direct experience, and the potential loss of customers,
key employees, and drivers of the acquired company, all of which could have a materially adverse effect on our
business and operating results.  If we make acquisitions in the future, we may not be able to successfully integrate the
acquired companies or assets into our business.
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Our Chief Executive Officer and President and his wife control a large portion of our stock and have substantial
control over us, which could limit other stockholders' ability to influence the outcome of key transactions, including
changes of control.

Our Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, and President, David Parker, and his wife, Jacqueline Parker,
beneficially own approximately 27% of our outstanding Class A and 100% of our Class B common stock.  On all
matters with respect to which our stockholders have a right to vote, including the election of directors, each share of
Class A common stock is entitled to one vote, while each share of Class B common stock is entitled to two votes.  All
outstanding shares of Class B common stock are owned by the Parkers and are convertible to Class A common stock
on a share-for-share basis at the election of the Parkers or automatically upon transfer to someone outside of the
Parker family.  This voting structure gives the Parkers approximately 46% of the voting power of all of our
outstanding stock.  The Parkers are able to substantially influence decisions requiring stockholder approval, including
the election of our entire board of directors, the adoption or extension of anti-takeover provisions, mergers, and other
business combinations.  This concentration of ownership could limit the price that some investors might be willing to
pay for the Class A common stock, and could allow the Parkers to prevent or delay a change of control, which other
stockholders may favor.  The interests of the Parkers may conflict with the interests of other holders of Class A
common stock, and they may take actions affecting us with which other stockholders disagree.

Seasonality and the impact of weather affect our operations and profitability.

Our tractor productivity decreases during the winter season because inclement weather impedes operations, and some
customers reduce their shipments after the winter holiday season.  Revenue also can be affected by bad weather and
holidays, since revenue is directly related to available working days of shippers.  At the same time, operating expenses
increase due to declining fuel efficiency because of engine idling and due to harsh weather creating higher accident
frequency, increased claims, and more equipment repairs.  We also could suffer short-term impacts from
weather-related events such as hurricanes, blizzards, ice storms, and floods that could harm our results or make our
results more volatile.  Weather and other seasonal events could adversely affect our operating results.

ITEM 1B.                      UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2.                      PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters and main terminal are located on approximately 180 acres of property in Chattanooga,
Tennessee.  This facility includes an office building of approximately 182,000 square feet, a maintenance facility of
approximately 65,000 square feet, a body shop of approximately 60,000 square feet, and a truck wash.  Our Solutions
segment is also operated and managed out of the Chattanooga facility.  We maintain eleven terminals, which are
utilized by our Truckload segment located on our major traffic lanes in or near the cities listed below.  These terminals
provide a base for drivers in proximity to their homes, a transfer location for trailer relays on transcontinental routes,
parking space for equipment dispatch, and the other uses indicated below.

Terminal
Locations Maintenance

Recruiting/
Orientation Sales Ownership

Chattanooga,
Tennessee

x x x Leased

Indianapolis,
Indiana

Leased

x x x Owned
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Texarkana,
Arkansas
Hutchins, Texas x x Owned
French Camp,
California

Leased

Long Beach,
California

Owned

Pomona,
California

x Owned

Allentown,
Pennsylvania

Owned

Nashville,
Tennessee

x x x Owned

Olive Branch,
Mississippi

x Owned

Orlando, Florida Leased

ITEM 3.                      LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time-to-time we are a party to routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, most of which
involves claims for personal injury and property damage incurred in connection with the transportation of freight.  We
maintain insurance to cover liabilities arising from the transportation of freight for amounts in excess of certain
self-insured retentions.

ITEM 4.                      (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
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PART II

ITEM 5.                      MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Price Range of Common Stock

Our Class A common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, under the symbol "CVTI." The
following table sets forth, for the calendar periods indicated, the range of high and low sales price for our Class A
common stock as reported by NASDAQ from January 1, 2009, to December 31, 2010.

Period High Low

Calendar
Year
2009:

1st
Quarter

$2.49 $1.60

2nd
Quarter

$5.89 $1.91

3rd
Quarter

$5.77 $3.25

4th
Quarter

$5.18 $3.12

Calendar
Year
2010:

1st
Quarter

$6.45 $3.02

2nd
Quarter

$8.19 $5.90

3rd
Quarter

$9.90 $6.62

4th
Quarter

$9.88 $6.63

On February 25, 2011, the last reported sale price of our Class A common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market was $8.79.

As of February 25, 2011, we had approximately 132 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock; however,
we estimate our actual number of stockholders is much higher because a substantial number of our shares are held of
record by brokers or dealers for their customers in street names.  As of February 25, 2011, Mr. Parker, together with
certain of his family members, owned all of the outstanding Class B common stock.

Dividend Policy
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We have never declared and paid a cash dividend on our Class A or Class B common stock.  It is the current intention
of our Board of Directors to continue to retain earnings to finance our business and reduce our indebtedness rather
than to pay dividends.  The payment of cash dividends is currently limited by our financing arrangements.  Future
payments of cash dividends will depend upon our financial condition, results of operations, capital commitments,
restrictions under then-existing agreements, and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

See "Equity Compensation Plan Information" under Item 12 in Part III of this Annual Report for certain information
concerning shares of our Class A common stock authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans.
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ITEM 6.                      SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share and operating data amounts)
Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Statement of Operations Data:
Freight revenue $546,320 $520,495 $615,810 $602,629 $572,239
Fuel surcharge revenue 103,429 68,192 158,104 109,897 111,589
Total revenue $649,749 $588,687 $773,914 $712,526 $683,828

Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and related expenses 213,115 216,158 263,793 270,435 262,303
Fuel expense 177,239 143,835 260,704 211,022 194,355
Operations and maintenance 36,716 35,409 42,459 40,437 36,112
Revenue equipment rentals and purchased
transportation 71,474 76,484 90,974 66,515 63,532
Operating taxes and licenses 11,090 12,113 13,078 14,112 14,516
Insurance and claims 37,982 31,955 37,578 36,391 34,104
Communications and utilities 4,974 5,740 6,702 7,377 6,727
General supplies and expenses 19,344 23,593 26,399 23,377 21,387
Depreciation and amortization,
including gains and losses on
        disposition of  equipment and
impairment of assets (1) 51,807 48,122 63,235 53,541 41,150
Goodwill impairment charge (2) - - 24,671 - -
Total operating expenses 623,741 593,409 829,593 723,207 674,186
Operating income (loss) 26,008 (4,722 ) (55,679 ) (10,681 ) 9,642
Other (income) expense:
   Interest expense 16,566 14,184 10,373 12,285 7,166
   Interest income (2 ) (144 ) (435 ) (477 ) (568 )
   Loss on sale of Transplace investment and
note receivable (3) - 11,485 - - -
Loss on early extinguishment of debt - - 726 - -
Other (20 ) (199 ) (160 ) (183 ) (157 )
Other expenses, net 16,544 25,326 10,504 11,625 6,441
Income (loss) before income taxes 9,464 (30,048 ) (66,183 ) (22,306 ) 3,201
Income tax expense (benefit) 6,175 (5,018 ) (12,792 ) (5,580 ) 4,582
Net income (loss) $3,289 $(25,030 ) $(53,391 ) $(16,726 ) $(1,381 )

(1) Includes a $15,791 pre-tax impairment charge related to revenue equipment in 2008.  See
the discussion below under "Additional Information Concerning Non-Cash Charges" for a
more extensive description of these impairments.

(2) Represents a non-cash impairment charge to write off the goodwill associated with the
acquisition of Star.  See the discussion below under "Additional Information Concerning
Non-Cash Charges" for a more extensive description of this impairment.

(3) Represents a non-cash loss on sale of investment in Transplace, Inc. ("Transplace") and a
related receivable. See the discussion below under "Additional Information Concerning
Non-Cash Charges" for a more extensive description.
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Basic income (loss) per share $0.23 $(1.77) $(3.80) $(1.19) $(0.10)

Diluted income (loss) per share $0.23 $(1.77) $(3.80) $(1.19) $(0.10)

Basic weighted average common
shares outstanding 14,374 14,124 14,038 14,018 13,996

Diluted weighted average common
shares outstanding 14,505 14,124 14,038 14,018 13,996
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Years Ended December 31,
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Selected Balance Sheet Data:
Net property and equipment $323,954 $278,335 $236,018 $247,530 $274,974
Total assets $432,366 $398,312 $393,676 $439,794 $475,094
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations,
less current maturities $155,381 $146,556 $107,956 $86,467 $104,900
Total stockholders' equity $100,698 $94,675 $118,820 $172,266 $188,844

Selected Operating Data:
Average freight revenue per loaded mile (1) $1.45 $1.42 $1.53 $1.52 $1.51
Average freight revenue per total mile (1) $1.31 $1.27 $1.36 $1.36 $1.36
Average freight revenue per tractor per week
(1) $3,137 $2,920 $3,105 $3,088 $3,077
Average miles per tractor per year 125,178 119,836 118,992 118,159 117,621
Weighted average tractors for year (2) 3,099 3,111 3,456 3,623 3,546
Total tractors at end of period (2) 3,087 3,113 3,292 3,555 3,719
Total trailers at end of period (3) 7,332 8,005 8,277 8,667 9,820

(1) Excludes fuel surcharge revenue.
(2) Includes monthly rental tractors and tractors provided by independent contractors.
(3) Excludes monthly rental trailers.
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ITEM 7.                      MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Item 7 contains certain statements that may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
and such statements are subject to the safe harbor created by those sections.  All statements, other than statements of
historical fact, are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including without limitation: any
projections of earnings, revenues, or other financial items; any statement of plans, strategies, and objectives of
management for future operations; any statements concerning proposed new services or developments; any statements
regarding future economic conditions or performance; and any statements of belief and any statement of assumptions
underlying any of the foregoing. Such statements may be identified by their use of terms or phrases such as "believe,"
"may," "could," "expects," "estimates," "projects," "anticipates," "plans," "intends," and similar terms and
phrases.  Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be
predicted or quantified, which could cause future events and actual results to differ materially from those set forth in,
contemplated by, or underlying the forward-looking statements.  Factors that could cause or contribute to such
differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled "Item 1A. Risk Factors," set forth
above.  Readers should review and consider the factors discussed in "Item 1A. Risk Factors," along with various
disclosures in our press releases, stockholder reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report.  You are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.  We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release
publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our
expectations with regard thereto or any change in the events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such
statement is based.

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Our financial and operating performance in 2010 was encouraging and marked our best earnings results since 2005.
The main factors that contributed to our improvements in 2010 include: (1) a significant increase in freight volumes
compared with volume during the recession in 2009, combined with decreasing industry-wide truck capacity; (2) our
intense focus on cost control that lowered our operating cost and reduced volatility; and (3) the implementation and
execution of disciplined sales and operating procedures that improved our freight mix and operating efficiency.

Highlights of the year include the following:

● Our consolidated operating ratio improved by 570 basis points to 95.2% in 2010 versus
100.9% in 2009;

● Since year-end 2009, indebtedness, net of cash and including the present value of
off-balance sheet obligations has decreased by $12.6 million to $263.3 million, despite
reducing our tractor fleet age to 1.6 years at December 31, 2010; 

● We lowered our primary layer of self-insured retention limit on casualty claims from
$4.0 million per incident to $1.0 million;

● We extended our Credit Facility until September 2014 at more favorable terms;
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● We were in compliance with our financial covenant at December 31, 2010; and

● We achieved net income of $3.3 million, or $0.23 per basic and diluted share, in 2010,
compared with a net loss of $25.0 million, or ($1.77) per basic and diluted share, in
2009. Excluding the $11.5 million impairment charge in 2009, the net loss was $13.5
million or ($0.96) per basic and diluted share.

Our consolidated revenue increased to $649.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, a 10.4% increase from
$588.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2009.  Higher fuel prices resulted in fuel surcharge revenues of
$103.4 million during 2010, compared with $68.2 million for 2009.  Freight revenue, which for these purposes
excludes fuel surcharges, increased 5.0% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from the year ended December 31,
2009.  We measure freight revenue because management believes that fuel surcharges tend to be a volatile source of
revenue and removing such surcharges affords a more consistent basis for comparing results of operations from
period-to-period.
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We experienced a 7.4% increase in average freight revenue per tractor per week, improving to $3,137 in 2010 from
$2,920 in 2009.  Our average miles per tractor increased 4.5% compared with 2009, while our average tractor fleet
decreased 0.4%.  Our average freight revenue per total mile increased $0.036 per mile, or 2.8% in 2010, compared
with 2009, despite a 10.2% increase in our average length-of-haul from 805 miles to 887 miles.  We reduced our
empty miles by approximately 92 basis points as compared to 2009 as we further tightened acceptable lanes within
our freight network, added additional technology aimed at reducing uncompensated miles, and added programs within
our operations to further manage and mitigate deadhead.  We achieved 2010's improved results despite an average of
approximately 3.0% of our tractor fleet being unseated in 2010, excluding wrecked units.

Our focus on cost control and efficiency continued to provide positive results in certain controllable cost items.
Compared to 2009, our Truckload segment's operating expenses (including unallocated corporate overhead), net of
surcharge revenue, were down $0.04 per mile.  The cost reductions were led by a $0.03 per mile decrease in salaries,
wages, and related expenses, a $0.01 per mile reduction in net fuel costs, and a $0.01 decrease in general supplies and
expenses, partially offset by a $0.01 per mile increase in insurance expense.  Our capital costs (combined depreciation
and amortization, revenue equipment rentals, and interest expense) decreased by more than $2.5 million when
comparing 2010 to 2009.  This was assisted by an improving market for used tractors in 2010 as we experienced
higher average gains per tractor sold, more favorable revenue equipment financing terms, and a partial year benefit
from reductions in the interest rate grids on our Credit Facility, which were effective August 1, 2010.  Similarly, our
Solutions segment's operating expenses as a percentage of revenue (including purchased transportation) decreased to
96.3% of revenue in 2010 from 99.7% of revenue in 2009 primarily as a result of improving the cost structure in this
segment in light of reductions in revenue.

In 2011, we expect an expanding economy to drive higher freight volumes while industry-wide capacity remains
relatively stable or expands at a slower rate than freight demand.  In this supply and demand scenario, we expect
truckload carriers to have the opportunity to improve their freight mix, increase freight rates, and allocate assets to
more favorable operations.  Our primary areas of concern include higher fuel prices, the availability and compensation
of qualified drivers, the costs and inefficiencies of governmental regulation, and higher equipment costs.  We believe
we are well-positioned to improve our profitability compared with 2010.  However, in view of expected cost increases
for fuel, drivers, and equipment, improving our profitability likely will require improving average revenue per mile.

We are encouraged by the progress made in 2010, but we recognize that there is hard work still to be done.  We
remain committed to further improving the productivity of our existing fleet, operating efficiently, and positioning our
Company for long-term success.

For information about our current trends and future outlook, readers are encouraged to review our statements
contained in the "Results of Consolidated Operations" and "Results of Segment Operations" sections below.

RESULTS OF CONSOLIDATED OPERATIONS

For comparison purposes in the table below, we use freight revenue, or total revenue less fuel surcharges, in addition
to total revenue when discussing changes as a percentage of revenue.  We believe excluding this sometimes volatile
source  of  revenue af fords  a  more  consis tent  bas is  for  compar ing our  resul ts  of  opera t ions  f rom
period-to-period.  Freight revenue excludes $103.4 million, $68.2 million, and $158.1 million of fuel surcharges in
2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the percentage relationship of certain items to total revenue and freight revenue:

2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

                  Total
revenue                    

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%                 Freight
revenue (1)             

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Operating expenses: Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and
related
      expenses

32.8 36.7 34.1 Salaries, wages, and
related
      expenses

39.0 41.5 42.8

Fuel expense 27.3 24.4 33.7 Fuel expense (1) 13.5 14.6 16.7
Operations and
maintenance

5.7 6.0 5.5 Operations and
maintenance

6.7 6.8 6.9

Revenue equipment
rentals and

 purchased transportation

11.0 13.0 11.8 Revenue equipment
rentals and

 purchased transportation

13.1 14.7 14.8

Operating taxes and
licenses

1.7 2.1 1.7 Operating taxes and
licenses

2.0 2.3 2.1

Insurance and claims 5.8 5.4 4.9 Insurance and claims 7.0 6.1 6.1
Communications and
utilities

0.8 1.0 0.9 Communications and
utilities

0.9 1.1 1.1

General supplies and
expenses 2.9

4.0 3.2 General supplies and
expenses

3.5 4.5 4.3

Depreciation and
amortization  (2)

8.0 8.2 8.2 Depreciation and
amortization  (2)

9.5 9.3 10.3

Goodwill impairment (3) 0.0 0.0 3.2 Goodwill impairment (3) 0.0 0.0 4.0
Total operating expenses 96.0 100.8 107.2 Total operating expenses 95.2 100.9 109.1
Operating income (loss) 4.0 (0.8) (7.2) Operating income (loss) 4.8 (0.9) (9.1)
Other expense, net (4) 2.5 4.3 1.4 Other expense, net (4) 3.0 4.9 1.7
Income (loss) before
income taxes

1.5 (5.1) (8.6) Income (loss) before
income taxes

1.8 (5.8) (10.8)

Income tax expense
(benefit)

1.0 (0.9) (1.7) Income tax expense
(benefit)

1.2 (1.0) (2.1)

Net income (loss) 0.5% (4.2)% (6.9)% Net income (loss) 0.6% (4.8)% (8.7)%

(1) Freight revenue is total revenue less fuel surcharges.  In this table, fuel surcharges are eliminated from
revenue and subtracted from fuel expense.  The amounts were $103.4 million, $68.2 million, and $158.1
million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

(2) Includes a $9.4 million pre-tax impairment charge for held and used equipment and $6.4 million of
pre-tax impairment charges for equipment held for sale in the year ended December 31, 2008, which
together represent 2.0% of total revenue and 2.6% of freight revenue. See the discussion below under
"Additional Information Concerning Non-Cash Charges" for a more extensive description of these
impairments. Also includes gain (loss) on the sale of property and equipment totaling $4.3 million,
($0.1) million, and ($1.9) million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

(3) Represents a $24.7 million non-cash impairment charge to write off the goodwill associated with the
acquisition of Star.  See the discussion below under "Additional Information Concerning Non-Cash
Charges" for a more extensive description of this impairment.
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(4) Includes an $11.5 million non-cash loss on the sale of the investment in and note receivable from
Transplace in 2009.  See the discussion below under "Additional Information Concerning Non-Cash
Charges" for a more extensive description of the loss.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2010 to Year Ended December 31, 2009

Revenue
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, total revenue increased $61.1 million, or 10.4%, to $649.7 million
from $588.7 million in 2009.  Freight revenue increased $25.8 million, or 5.0%, to $546.3 million in the twelve
months ended December 31, 2010, from $520.5 million in the same period in 2009.  For comparison purposes in the
discussion below, we use freight revenue (total revenue less fuel surcharge revenue) when discussing changes as a
percentage of revenue.  We believe removing this sometimes volatile source of revenue affords a more consistent
basis for comparing the results of operations from period-to-period.  The increased level of freight revenue in 2010
was primarily attributable to the improvement in the freight environment and certain Company-specific initiatives that
improved rates and utilization compared to 2009.  We believe rates have improved as a result of customers sensing the
tightening of capacity and understanding that capacity may tighten further in connection with CSA 2010 and looming
potential changes in hours-of-service. Our average freight revenue per total mile increased $0.036 per mile, or 2.8%,
compared with 2009.  Utilization and productivity have improved as a result of improved truckload fundamentals
along with certain initiatives we have employed to increase asset productivity and utilization, reduce deadhead, and
increase freight rates.  Reduced inventories, improved economic growth, and the continued reduction in the number of
tractors on the road, particularly in the long-haul marketplace, provided for tighter capacity and thus higher
spot-market prices in 2010 when compared to 2009.  Assuming capacity remains tight and freight volumes expand we
expect to obtain overall rate increases in 2011 and beyond; however, deterioration in either of these factors would
likely mitigate any rate increases and could jeopardize existing rates.
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Salaries, wages, and related expenses
The decrease in salaries, wages, and related expenses as a percentage of freight revenue was primarily attributable to
reductions in driver pay per mile, which was partially offset by 7.4 million more miles in 2010 than 2009, providing
for a net $2.3 million reduction in the related expense.  Payroll expense for non-driver employees increased $0.3
million in 2010 from 2009 due to incentive pay, which was partially offset by fewer employees as a result of various
initiatives to increase our ratio of tractors per non-driver employee.  Additionally, workers' compensation expense was
$0.5 million less in 2010 than 2009 as a result of reduced claims activity in 2010 caused by a reduction in employees
in 2010 and 2009 and credits related to certain prior period claims. Group health was $0.5 million higher in 2010 than
2009 primarily as the result of several large claims in 2010.  Included in salaries, wages, and related expenses is
stock-based compensation expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 of approximately $1.0
million and $0.6 million, respectively.  We are experiencing a modest tightening in the driver market and expect the
implementation of CSA 2010 to reduce the pool of available drivers, which will likely require us to increase driver
pay in 2011.  Accordingly, going forward, we believe these expenses could increase in absolute terms (and as a
percentage of revenue absent an increase in revenue to offset increased costs).

Fuel expense
We receive a fuel surcharge on our loaded miles from most shippers; however, this does not cover the entire increase
in fuel prices for several reasons, including the following: surcharges cover only loaded miles we operated during the
year; surcharges do not cover miles driven out-of-route by our drivers; and surcharges typically do not cover
refrigeration unit fuel usage or fuel burned by tractors while idling.  Moreover, most of our business relating to
shipments obtained from freight brokers does not carry a fuel surcharge.  Finally, fuel surcharges vary in the
percentage of reimbursement offered, and not all surcharges fully compensate for fuel price increases even on loaded
miles.

The rate of fuel price increases also can have an impact on results.  Most fuel surcharges are based on the average fuel
price as published by the U.S. Department of Energy ("DOE") for the week prior to the shipment, meaning we
typically bill customers in the current week based on a previous week's applicable index.  Therefore, in times of
increasing fuel prices, we do not recover as much as we are currently paying for fuel.  In periods of declining prices,
the opposite is true.  Given fuel volatility, we experienced favorable fuel surcharge trends in the first half of 2010 and
unfavorable trends in the second half of 2010; however, the full-year 2010 impact was not significant.  Even though
the DOE's national average cost of diesel fuel increased $0.53 per gallon in 2010 compared with 2009, we
experienced a $0.01 per mile reduction in our net cost of fuel and a reduction in fuel expense as a percentage of freight
revenue.  These decreases are primarily the result of increased fuel surcharge recovery, reduced idle time, and the
positive results of our fuel hedging program.  Our hedging program provided for a $2.6 million reduction in fuel
expense during 2010.  Based on the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2010
and the expected timing of the purchases of the diesel hedged, we expect to reclassify $0.8 million of gains on
derivative instruments from accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings during the next twelve months due
to the actual diesel fuel purchases.  The amounts actually realized will be dependent on the fair values as of the date of
settlement.  `

Operations and maintenance
Operations and maintenance, consisting primarily of vehicle maintenance, repairs, and driver recruitment expenses,
decreased in 2010 from 2009 as a percentage of freight revenue as a result of managing non-essential expenses and a
slightly younger fleet.  With the recovering economic environment in 2009 and early 2010, we had more difficulty
recruiting and retaining drivers, which resulted in a year-over-year increase in driver recruitment expenses.  With CSA
2010 likely limiting the pool of available drivers and the average age of our fleet likely increasing, our operations and
maintenance could increase or be volatile going forward.

Revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation
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The decrease in revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation as a percentage of freight revenue in 2010
from 2009 was a result of the increased revenue per total mile discussed above, an $8.9 million decrease in tractor and
trailer equipment rental expense, and a $6.0 million decrease in payments to third-party transportation
providers  partially offset by a $10.1 million increase in payments to independent contractors.  The decrease in
revenue equipment rentals expense is a result of financing all 2010 revenue equipment additions with balance sheet
debt and capital leases as opposed to replacing existing operating leases.  We had 28 tractors and 4,611 trailers
financed under operating leases at December 31, 2010, compared with 236 tractors and 5,987 trailers at December 31,
2009. Payments to third-party transportation providers associated with our Solutions subsidiary decreased in 2010
from 2009, primarily due to decreased load count partially offset by higher rates and fuel costs passed on to those
providers.  We had a significant increase in payments to independent contractors in 2010 from 2009, mainly due to an
increase in the size of our independent contractor fleet and the increase in fuel surcharges passed through that are a
component of the related expense.  This expense category will fluctuate with the number of loads hauled by
independent contractors and handled by our Solutions segment and the percentage of our fleet financed with operating
leases, as well as the amount of fuel surcharge revenue passed through to the independent contractors and third-party
carriers.  For 2011, we anticipate adding new tractors primarily through on-balance sheet financing.  Accordingly, the
percentage of our tractor fleet financed with operating leases is expected to decrease in the near term. If the economy
continues to improve, we believe we may need to increase the amounts we pay to independent contractors and
third-party transportation providers, which could increase this expense category as a percentage of freight revenue
absent an offsetting increase in revenue.  Additionally, although we continue to recruit independent contractors, the
addition of independent contractors to our fleet has slowed recently.
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As discussed herein, on October 28, 2010, certain of our subsidiaries entered into a Letter Agreement with Transport
International Pool, Inc. ("TIP"), relating to and modifying the Master Lease Agreement dated April 15, 2003 with
TIP.  Contemporaneously with the execution of the Letter Agreement, we returned 543 trailers in order to better match
our trailer fleet with our current number of tractors.  Under the terms of the Letter Agreement, the trailers subject to
the agreement will be required to be returned or purchased at the rate of approximately 100 trailers per month
beginning February 2012.  The improved rental rate, coupled with the reduction in rental expense associated with the
return of 543 trailers, is expected to provide us with savings on the TIP trailers in 2011.

Insurance and claims
Insurance and claims, consisting primarily of premiums and deductible amounts for liability, physical damage, and
cargo damage insurance and claims, increased in 2010 from 2009 as a percentage of freight revenue as a result of
higher claims and premium expense during 2010.  Although our driver and safety teams achieved historically low
reportable accidents per million miles for the twelve months ended December 31, 2010, we experienced a small
number of severe accidents in the first and third quarters of 2010 and a slight increase in the period-over-period loss
development expense resulting from claims that occurred in prior periods.  The increase in premium expense related
to the insurance renewal that was effective April 1, 2010, which reduced our self-insured retention limit for the
primary layer of casualty claims to no more than $1.0 million from the $4.0 million self-insured retention limit we
have had for a number of years.  With our significant self-insured retention, insurance and claims expense may
fluctuate significantly from period-to-period, and any increase in frequency or severity of claims could adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

General supplies and expenses
The decrease in general supplies and expenses as a percentage of freight revenue in 2010 from 2009 is primarily the
result of the increase in revenue discussed above as well as a reduction in the various expenses as a result of our cost
saving initiatives.  The larger decreases included a $1.3 million reduction in bad debt expense given several large
bankruptcies and reserve adjustments in 2009, a $0.9 million reduction in agent fees a result of reduced revenue at our
Solutions segment in 2010, and a $0.5 million reduction in building rent a result of consolidating certain
locations.  We expect continued reductions in general supplies and expenses as a percentage of freight revenue in
2011 as certain consulting expenses related to our initiatives to improve our revenue equipment productivity,
utilization, and reduced costs will not be recurring in 2011.

Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization, consisting primarily of depreciation of revenue equipment, increased as a percentage
of freight revenue in 2010 from 2009 as a result of the increased cost of new tractors and financing all 2010 revenue
equipment additions with balance sheet debt and capital leases, whereby a portion of the replaced equipment had
previously been operated under operating leases. We owned 2,919 and 2,784 tractors and had 348 and 300 trailers
under capital leases at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. These increases were partially offset by gains on
the sale of equipment totaling $4.3 million in 2010 compared to a loss of $0.1 million in 2009. We anticipate
purchasing additional equipment through on-balance sheet financing over the next twelve months, which will likely
cause an increase in depreciation and amortization in the near term.

Other expense, net
The other expense category includes interest expense, interest income, and other miscellaneous non-operating
items.  The decrease in the other expense, net category as a percentage of freight revenue relates to the Transplace
impairment, which provided for $11.5 million of expense in 2009.  This decrease was partially offset by an increase in
interest expense of $2.5 million, resulting from a period-over-period increase in debt related to an increase in
financing revenue equipment with balance sheet debt.  As detailed below, we entered into a fourth amendment to our
Credit Facility in August 2010, which, among other things, decreased the interest rate grids under the Credit Facility.
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Income tax expense (benefit)
Fluctuations in income tax benefit are primarily the result of the related period's pre-tax results and the effects of
certain non-cash charges.  The income tax expense in 2010, as opposed to a benefit in 2009, and the related percentage
of freight revenue was primarily a result of producing net income in 2010 and therefore being subject to statutory
taxing requirements. The increase was partially offset by the $0.6 million, net, favorable impact of the release of a
portion of the valuation allowance on a prior period capital loss in 2010 as the result of generating capital gains to
utilize a portion of the loss that related to our prior sale of our investment in Transplace. The effective tax rate is
different from the expected combined tax rate due to permanent differences related to a per diem pay structure for
drivers.  Due to the partial nondeductible effect of the per diem payments, our tax rate will fluctuate in future periods
as income fluctuates.
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Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2009 to Year Ended December 31, 2008

Revenue
Total revenue decreased $185.2 million, or 23.9%, to $588.7 million in 2009, from $773.9 million in 2008.  Freight
revenue excludes $68.2 million of fuel surcharge revenue in 2009 and $158.1 million in 2008.  Freight revenue (total
revenue less fuel surcharges) decreased $95.3 million, or 15.5%, to $520.5 million in 2009, from $615.8 million in
2008.  The rate environment was difficult in 2009, and freight volumes were significantly lower than 2008 as a result
of the overall weak economic environment.  The decreased level of freight revenue was primarily attributable to weak
freight demand, excess tractor and trailer capacity in the truckload industry, and significant rate pressure from
customers and freight brokers.  Through mid-year 2009, we continued to reduce the size of our tractor fleet to achieve
greater utilization of the remaining tractors in our fleet and attempt to improve profitability.  With the assistance of
this fleet reduction, we experienced an increase in average miles per tractor versus 2008.  Average freight revenue per
tractor per week, our primary measure of asset productivity, decreased in 2009 from 2008, while total miles were
down from 2008.

Salaries, wages, and related expenses
The decrease for salaries, wages, and related expenses was attributable to a decrease in driver pay of $33.7 million as
a result of a 38.4 million reduction in truck miles, a decrease in driver pay per mile, and an increase in participation in
our driver per diem pay program. Our payroll expense for employees, other than over-the-road drivers, decreased $6.1
million due to a reduction in our non-driver work force. Additionally, workers' compensation and group health costs
were lower in 2009 than 2008 primarily as a result of reduced miles and head count along with favorable development
in workers' compensation claims.

Fuel expense
During 2009, fuel prices averaged $1.35 less per gallon and were less volatile than in 2008, contributing to the
decrease in net fuel expense along with multiple operating improvements, and the continued addition of auxiliary
power units and more fuel efficient engines which improved fuel efficiency. After reaching unprecedented record fuel
high fuel prices during most of 2008, diesel fuel prices started to fall in the fourth quarter of 2008 and continued
through the first quarter of 2009.

Insurance and claims
Insurance and claims decreased, on a per mile basis, approximately half a cent when comparing 2009 to 2008 because
of a lower accident rate and slightly higher miles per tractor.  Our overall safety performance improved in 2009 as our
DOT reportable accidents dropped to the lowest level per million miles since 2001, giving us the best overall safety
performance for at least nine years (based on DOT reportable accidents per million miles).

Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization decreased in 2009 from 2008, as a result of a $15.8 million revenue equipment
impairment charge that was recorded in 2008 with no similar charge in 2009.  See "Additional Information
Concerning Non-Cash Charges" below for a further description of impairment charges affecting our operating
results.  Additionally, included in depreciation and amortization was $1.9 million of losses on the sale of property and
equipment in 2008, with only $0.1 million of losses in 2009.  Excluding the impairment charge and the losses on sale
of equipment, depreciation and amortization would have increased in 2009 compared to 2008 as a result of having
more owned tractors on our balance sheet as opposed to leased, as we owned 2,784 and 2,555 tractors at December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively.

Goodwill
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Goodwill impairment in 2008 related to the $24.7 million write-off of all goodwill associated with our 2006
acquisition of Star, while there was no similar charge in 2009.  This amount was non-cash and non-deductible for tax
purposes.  See "Additional Information Concerning Non-Cash Charges" below for a further description of impairment
charges affecting our operating results.

Other expense, net
The increase in the other expense, net category in 2009 compared to 2008 was primarily attributable to the loss on the
sale of the investment in and note receivable from Transplace, which provided for $11.5 million of the increase.  The
remainder of the increase is a result of higher interest costs in 2009, compared to 2008, resulting from a
period-over-period increase in debt and the increase in our average interest rate on our Credit Facility, as amended,
compared to the average interest rate in 2008.
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Income tax benefit
The effective tax rate is different from the expected combined tax rate as a result of permanent differences primarily
related to a per diem pay structure implemented in 2001.  Due to the partial nondeductible effect of the per diem
payments, our tax rate will fluctuate in future periods as income fluctuates.  Additionally, the loss on the sale of the
investment in Transplace and goodwill impairment in 2009 and 2008, respectively, were not deductible.

RESULTS OF SEGMENT OPERATIONS

We operate two reportable business segments.  Our Asset-Based Truckload Services ("Truckload") segment consists
of Covenant Transport, SRT, and Star.  Our Brokerage Services segment consists of Covenant Transport Solutions,
Inc. ("Solutions").  The operation of each of these businesses is described in our notes to the "Business"
section.  Unallocated corporate overhead includes costs that are incidental to our activities and are not specifically
allocated to one of the segments.  The following table summarizes financial and operating data by segment:

Twelve months ended
December 31,

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Revenues:

Asset-Based Truckload Services $ 610,291 $ 541,325 $ 719,220
Brokerage Services 39,458 47,362 54,694

Total $ 649,749 $ 588,687 $ 773,914
Operating Income (loss):

Asset-Based Truckload Services $ 35,390 $ 10,552 $ (37,091 )
Brokerage Services 1,462 155 466
Unallocated Corporate Overhead (10,844 ) (15,429 ) (19,054 )

Total $ 26,008 $ (4,722 ) $ (55,679 )

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2010 to Year Ended December 31, 2009

Our Truckload segment revenue increased in 2010 when compared to 2009 as the result of increases in utilization,
rates, and fuel surcharge revenue.  Rates and utilization improved as a result of improved truckload fundamentals
including inventory re-stocking, economic growth, and tightened capacity.  Additionally, fuel price increases and
increases in fuel surcharge revenue provided for a $35.2 million increase in fuel surcharge revenue for 2010 compared
to 2009.  The Truckload segment's operating expenses (including unallocated corporate overhead), net of fuel
surcharge revenue, decreased $0.04 per mile in 2010 versus 2009.  The cost reductions were led by a $0.03 per mile
decrease in salaries, wages, and related expenses, a $0.01 per mile reduction in net fuel costs, and a $0.01 decrease in
general supplies and expenses, partially offset by a $0.01 per mile increase in insurance expense.

Our Solutions segment revenue decreased for 2010, when compared to 2009 as the result of an elimination of
unprofitable freight and agents as evidenced by a 21% decrease in loads, partially offset by an increase in revenue per
load and per loaded mile resulting from freight with a higher rate per mile and more miles per load.  Net revenue (total
revenue less purchased transportation) was 16.6% in 2010 and 2009.  Solutions' other operating expenses as a
percentage of revenue decreased to 11.9% of revenue in 2010 from 15.2% of revenue in 2009. This was primarily the
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result of reduced overhead arising from headcount reductions, changes in our agent commission structure, and
reductions in bad debt expense.  We have continued to improve our cost structure in this segment in light of reductions
in revenue, with the goal of growing the segment's revenue base, generating appropriate gross margins, and
maintaining a lean cost structure such that the business is a truly variable cost business and should produce a positive
operating profit in most freight environments.
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Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2009 to Year Ended December 31, 2008

Our Truckload segment revenue decreased in 2009 compared to 2008.  Lower fuel prices resulted in significantly
lower fuel surcharge revenue in 2009 versus 2008.  The decrease in freight revenue is related to a decrease in rates and
miles as a result of the weakened economy in 2009. In 2009, management decreased the fleet size approximately 10%
in response to weak demand.  Excluding unallocated corporate overhead, the segment generated an operating income
for 2009, compared to an operating loss for 2008, primarily due to certain non-cash charges in 2008 totaling $40.5
million related to the impairment of certain property and equipment and Star's goodwill, both of which are discussed
in more detail below.  Excluding these charges in 2008, the Truckload segment generated an increase in operating
income in 2009 from 2008, excluding impairment charges, as a result of lower net fuel expenses and cost savings
initiatives.

Our Solutions segment revenue decreased for 2009, compared to 2008.  The decrease was primarily attributable to a
reduction in the portion of revenue attributable to fuel surcharges given fuel was at historic highs throughout much of
2008 and less volume due to the closure of a large company store in October 2008.  Excluding unallocated corporate
overhead, operating income for our Solutions segment also declined for 2009, compared to 2008.  The decreases are a
result of an increase in bad debt expense of $0.3 million from 2008 due to several large bankruptcies, an increase in
purchased transportation expense per revenue dollar, and an increase in depreciation expense of approximately $0.3
million related to accelerating the depreciation of certain software that was abandoned in 2010.    These increases were
partially offset by various reductions in selling, general, and administrative expenses as a result of cost savings
initiatives.

Additional Information Concerning Non-Cash Charges

Transplace

From July 2001 to December 2009, we owned approximately 12.4% of Transplace, a global logistics
provider.  During the first quarter of 2005, we loaned Transplace approximately $2.6 million through a 6%
interest-bearing note receivable.  After receiving an offer to purchase our 12.4% equity ownership and related note
receivable that was accepted by a majority of Transplace's stockholders, we determined that the value of our equity
investment had become completely impaired in the third quarter of 2009, and the value of the note receivable had
become impaired by approximately $0.9 million.  As a result, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $11.6
million during the third quarter of 2009.

The transaction closed in December 2009, whereby the proceeds of $1.9 million provided for a recovery of $0.1
million of the previously impaired amount in the fourth quarter of 2009 and thus an $11.5 million non-cash loss on the
sale of our investment and related note receivable.  There was no tax benefit recorded in connection with the loss on
the sale of the investment, given a full valuation allowance was established for the related capital loss.

Goodwill

In light of changes in market conditions and the related declining market outlook for our Star operating subsidiary,
which is included in our Truckload segment, noted in the fourth quarter of 2008, we engaged an independent third
party to assist us in the completion of valuations used in the impairment testing process.  The completion of this work
concluded that the goodwill previously recorded for the Star acquisition was fully impaired and resulted in a $24.7
million, or $1.75 per basic and diluted share, non-cash goodwill impairment charge, recorded in the fourth quarter of
2008.  There was no tax benefit associated with this nondeductible charge. We conducted our 2010 annual impairment
test for goodwill in the second quarter and did not identify any impairment.
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Revenue Equipment, including Assets Held For Sale

As a result of sharply lower economic indicators, a worsening credit market, and significantly lower prices received
for disposals of our owned used revenue equipment, all of which deteriorated substantially during the fourth quarter of
2008, we recorded a $9.4 million asset impairment charge to write-down the carrying values of tractors and trailers
in-use in our Truckload segment which were expected to be traded or sold in 2009 or 2010.  The carrying values for
revenue equipment scheduled for trade in 2011 and beyond were not adjusted because those tractors and trailers were
not required to be impaired based on recoverability testing using the expected future cash flows and disposition values
of such equipment.

Similarly, we recorded a $6.4 million asset impairment charge ($1.2 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2008
and $5.2 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008) to write down the carrying values of tractors and trailers
held for sale in our Truckload segment.  Our evaluation of the future cash flows compared to the carrying value of the
tractors and trailers in-use in 2010 has not resulted in any additional impairment charges.  Additionally, there were no
indicators triggering an evaluation for impairment of assets held for sale during 2010, as evidenced by the
aforementioned gains on the disposal of revenue equipment, including assets held for sale.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our business requires significant capital investments over the short-term and the long-term.  Recently, we have
financed our capital requirements with borrowings under our Credit Facility, cash flows from operations, long-term
operating leases, capital leases, secured installment notes with finance companies  and a refund of previously paid
federal income taxes as a result of net operating loss carry backs pursuant to the Worker, Homeownership, and
Business Assistance Act of 2009.  Our primary sources of liquidity at December 31, 2010, were funds provided by
operations, proceeds from the sale of used revenue equipment, borrowings under our Credit Facility, borrowings from
secured installment notes, capital leases, operating leases of revenue equipment, and cash and cash equivalents.  We
had a working capital (total current assets less total current liabilities) deficit of $30.7 million and $17.8 million at
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Working capital deficits are common to many trucking companies that
operate by financing revenue equipment purchases through borrowing or capitalized leases.  When we finance revenue
equipment through borrowing or capitalized leases, the principal amortization scheduled for the next twelve months is
categorized as a current liability, although the revenue equipment is classified as a long-term asset.  Consequently,
each purchase of revenue equipment financed with borrowing or capitalized leases decreases working capital.  We
believe our working capital deficit had little impact on our liquidity.  Based on our expected financial condition, net
capital expenditures, and results of operations and related net cash flows, we believe our working capital and sources
of liquidity will be adequate to meet our current and projected needs for at least the next twelve months.

We do not expect to experience material liquidity constraints in the foreseeable future or on a long-term basis, based
on our anticipated financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, continued availability of our Credit Facility,
secured installment notes, and other sources of financing that we expect will be available to us.  As discussed below,
on August 31, 2010, we obtained a fourth amendment to our Credit Facility that, among other things, extended the
maturity date of the Credit Facility from September 2011 to September 2014.  Additionally, borrowings from the
financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers are expected to be available to fund the majority of
new tractors expected to be delivered in 2011, while any other property and equipment purchases, including trailers,
are expected to be funded with a combination of notes, operating leases, capital leases, and/or the Credit Facility.  We
had less than $0.1 million in borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2010, undrawn
letters of credit outstanding of approximately $44.7 million, and available borrowing capacity of $37.8 million.  Our
intra-period borrowings under the Credit Facility have ranged between zero and $16.9 million during the fourth
quarter of 2010 and between zero and $21.8 million during 2010.  Fluctuations in the outstanding balance and related
availability under our Credit Facility are driven primarily by cash flows from operations and the timing and nature of
property and equipment additions that are not funded through notes payable, as well as the nature and timing of
receipt of proceeds from disposals of property and equipment.

Cash Flows

Net cash flows provided by operating activities were higher in 2010 than 2009, primarily due to a $16.8 million
increase in profitability, excluding the $11.5 million non-cash charge related to Transplace in 2009.  Cash from
operating activities was higher as the result of the receipt in 2010 of an $8.7 million refund of federal income taxes
and $0.8 million of cash received related to fuel hedge contracts terminated whereby the related gain has been
deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income, with no similar items in 2009.  The $26.1 million
year-over-year change in the adjustment to net income (loss) for deferred taxes relates to receipt of the aforementioned
refund of federal income taxes and financing of revenue equipment with balance sheet debt. Additionally, as a result
of an increase in our acquisition of revenue equipment using balance sheet debt as opposed to operating leases, the
adjustment to net income (loss) for depreciation and amortization was $56.1 million in 2010 versus $48.0 million in
2009, partially offset by gains and losses on the sale of property and equipment in 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Cash
used for insurance and claims accruals decreased by $11.2 million as the reduction in payments for certain large
claims. These improvements also were offset by a decrease in our collections of receivables of $8.9 million, primarily
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resulting from the impact of fuel prices on revenue and accounts receivable.

The increase in net cash flows used in investing activities was primarily the result of an increase in our acquisition of
revenue equipment using balance sheet financing as opposed to operating leases.  Also, when comparing the two
periods, we reduced the fleet size in 2009 by disposing of equipment and not replacing it while we maintained a
relatively consistent fleet size in 2010.  With an average fleet age of 1.6 years, we have flexibility to manage our fleet
and we plan to regularly evaluate our tractor replacement cycle, new tractor purchase requirements, and financing
options.

The changes in net cash flows provided by financing activities was primarily a function of a $21.5 million
year-over-year change in the cash flows associated with the 2010 net repayments and 2009 net borrowings on our
revolving credit facility and a $4.8 million year-over-year decrease in the change in checks outstanding in excess of
bank balances.  These fluctuations were primarily the result of improved results from operations and operating cash
flow in 2010 compared to 2009.  Additionally, in July 2010, we received $1.3 million from the exercise of stock
options and a $0.4 million tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options and restricted share vesting, whereby
there were no similar transactions in 2009.
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Material Debt Agreements

In September 2008, we and substantially all of our subsidiaries (collectively, the "Borrowers") entered into a Third
Amended and Restated Credit Facility with Bank of America, N.A., as agent (the "Agent") and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A. ("JPM," and together with the Agent, the "Lenders").

The Credit Facility is structured as an $85.0 million revolving credit facility, with an accordion feature that, so long as
no event of default exists, allows us to request an increase in the revolving credit facility of up to $50.0 million.  The
Credit Facility includes, within its $85.0 million revolving credit facility, a letter of credit sub facility in an aggregate
amount of $85.0 million and a swing line sub facility in an aggregate amount equal to the greater of $10.0 million or
10% of the Lenders' aggregate commitments under the Credit Facility from time-to-time.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are classified as either "base rate loans" or "LIBOR loans."  Base rate loans
accrue interest at a base rate equal to the greater of the Agent's prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, or LIBOR
plus 1.0%, plus an applicable margin that is adjusted quarterly between 2.5% and 3.25% based on average pricing
availability.  LIBOR loans accrue interest at the greater of 1.5% or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin that is adjusted
quarterly between 3.5% and 4.25% based on average pricing availability.  The unused line fee is adjusted quarterly
between 0.5% and 0.75% of the average daily amount by which the Lenders' aggregate revolving commitments under
the Credit Facility exceed the outstanding principal amount of revolver loans and the aggregate undrawn amount of all
outstanding letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility.  The obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed
by us and secured by a pledge of substantially all of our assets, with the notable exclusion of any real estate or revenue
equipment pledged under other financing agreements, including revenue equipment installment notes and capital
leases.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to a borrowing base limited to the lesser of (A) $85.0 million, minus
the sum of the stated amount of all outstanding letters of credit; or (B) the sum of (i) 85% of eligible accounts
receivable, plus (ii) the lesser of (a) 85% of the appraised net orderly liquidation value of eligible revenue equipment,
(b) 95% of the net book value of eligible revenue equipment, or (c) 35% of the Lenders' aggregate revolving
commitments under the Credit Facility, plus (iii) the lesser of (a) $25.0 million or (b) 65% of the appraised fair market
value of eligible real estate.  The borrowing base is limited by a $15.0 million availability block, plus any other
reserves the Agent may establish in its judgment.  We had less than $0.1 million in borrowings outstanding under the
Credit Facility as of December 31, 2010, undrawn letters of credit outstanding of approximately $44.7 million, and
available borrowing capacity of $37.8 million.  The interest rate on outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2010
and 2009 was 4.8% and 6.3%, respectively.

The Credit Facility includes usual and customary events of default for a facility of this nature and provides that, upon
the occurrence and continuation of an event of default, payment of all amounts payable under the Credit Facility may
be accelerated, and the Lenders' commitments may be terminated.  The Credit Facility contains certain restrictions and
covenants relating to, among other things, dividends, liens, acquisitions and dispositions outside of the ordinary course
of business, and affiliate transactions.  The Credit Facility contains a single financial covenant, which required us to
maintain a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.0 to 1.0.  The fixed charge coverage covenant became
effective October 31, 2008.

On March 27, 2009, we obtained an amendment to our Credit Facility, which, among other things, (i) retroactively to
January 1, 2009 amended the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant for January and February 2009 to the actual levels
achieved, which cured our default of that covenant for January 2009, (ii) restarted the look back requirements of the
fixed charge coverage ratio covenant beginning on March 1, 2009, (iii) increased the EBITDAR portion of the fixed
charge coverage ratio definition by $3.0 million for all periods between March 1 to December 31, 2009, (iv) increased
the base rate applicable to base rate loans to the greater of the prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, or LIBOR
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plus 1.0%, (v) set a LIBOR floor of 1.5%, (vi) increased the applicable margin for base rate loans to a range between
2.5% and 3.25% and for LIBOR loans to a range between 3.5% and 4.25%, with 3.0% (for base rate loans) and 4.0%
(for LIBOR loans) to be used as the applicable margin through September 2009, (vii) increased our letter of credit
facility fee by an amount corresponding to the increase in the applicable margin, (viii) increased the unused line fee to
a range between 0.5% and 0.75%, and (ix) increased the maximum number of field examinations per year from three
to four.  In exchange for these amendments, we agreed to the increases in interest rates and fees described above and
paid fees of approximately $0.6 million.

On February 25, 2010, we obtained an additional amendment to our Credit Facility, which, among other things, (i)
amended certain defined terms in the Credit Facility, (ii) retroactively to January 1, 2010, amended the fixed charge
coverage ratio covenant through June 30, 2010, which prevented a default of that covenant for January 2010, (iii)
restarted the look back requirements of the fixed coverage ratio covenant beginning on January 1, 2010, and (iv)
required us to order updated appraisals for certain real estate described in the Credit Facility.  In exchange for these
amendments, we agreed to pay the Agent, for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders, a fee equal to 0.125% of the Lenders'
total commitments under the Credit Facility, or approximately $0.1 million.  Following the effectiveness of the
amendment, our fixed charge coverage ratio covenant requirement is 1.00 to 1.00 for each month hereafter, and we
were in compliance with this covenant as of December 31, 2010.
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On July 30, 2010, we obtained a third amendment to our Credit Facility, which allowed for a certain letter of credit
totaling approximately $1.2 million to be issued with a term of longer than twelve months as required by the recipient.
The Credit Facility, as amended, provides that each letter of credit renews annually, excluding the aforementioned
exception.

On August 31, 2010, we obtained a fourth amendment to our Credit Facility, which was effective retroactively to
August 1, 2010 and, among other things, (i) extended the maturity date of the Credit Facility from September 2011 to
September 2014, (ii) decreased the applicable margin for base rate loans to a range between 1.25% and 2.00% and for
LIBOR loans to a range between 2.25% and 3.00%, (iii) eliminated the LIBOR floor on the interest rate grid, (iv)
improved the unused line fee pricing to 0.5% per annum when availability is less than $50.0 million and 0.75% per
annum when availability is at or over such amount (previously the fee was 0.5% per annum when availability was less
than $42.5 million and 0.75% when availability was at or over such amount), (v) reduced the field exam frequency
from three field examinations of any Borrower's books and records and three appraisals of pledged equipment to two
examinations and two appraisals, respectively, and (vi) decreased the frequency of borrowing base certificates to
monthly from weekly; provided no default exists and availability is more than $15.0 million.  In exchange for these
amendments, we agreed to the decreases in interest rates and fees described above and paid fees and expenses of
approximately $0.5 million.

 Capital lease obligations are utilized to finance a portion of our revenue equipment.  The leases in effect at December
31, 2010 terminate in September 2014 through October 2015 and contain guarantees of the entire residual value of the
related equipment by us.  As such, the residual guarantees are included in the related debt balance as a balloon
payment at the end of the related term as well as included in the future minimum capital lease payments.  These lease
agreements require us to pay personal property taxes, maintenance, and operating expenses.

Pricing for our revenue equipment installment notes include fixed annual rates for new equipment under retail
installment contracts. The notes included in the funding are due in monthly installments with final maturities at
various dates ranging from January 2011 to June 2015. The notes contain certain requirements regarding payment,
insuring of collateral, and other matters, but do not have any financial or other material covenants or events of default.
Additional borrowings from the financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers are available to fund
most new tractors expected to be delivered 2011, while any other property and equipment purchases, including
trailers, will be funded with a combination of notes, operating leases, capital leases, and/or from the Credit Facility.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments (1)

The following table sets forth our contractual cash obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2010:

Payments due by
period:
(in thousands) Total 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Thereafter
Credit Facility,
including
   interest (2) $21 $- $- $- $21 $- $-

Revenue
equipment and
   property
installment notes,
   including
interest (3) $229,742 $79,837 $89,106 $39,941 $9,881 $10,977 $-

Operating leases
(4) $67,996 $13,696 $11,769 $6,413 $2,866 $2,730 $30,522

Capital leases (5) $18,782 $2,518 $2,518 $2,518 $8,407 $2,821 $-

Lease residual
value
   guarantees $8,206 $8,206 $- $- $- $- $-

P u r c h a s e
obligations (6) $113,300 $112,900 $400 $- $- $- $-
Total contractual
cash
   obligations $438,047 $217,157 $103,793 $48,872 $21,175 $16,528 $30,522

(1) Excludes any amounts accrued for unrecognized tax benefits as we are unable to reasonably predict the ultimate
amount or timing of settlement of such unrecognized tax benefits.

(2) Represents principal and interest payments owed at December 31, 2010. The borrowings consist of draws under
our Credit Facility, with fluctuating borrowing amounts and variable interest rates. In determining future
contractual interest and principal obligations, for variable interest rate debt, the interest rate and principal
amount in place at December 31, 2010, was utilized. The table assumes long-term debt is held to maturity. Refer
to Note 8, "Debt" of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information.

(3) Represents principal and interest payments owed at December 31, 2010. The borrowings consist of installment
notes with finance companies, with fixed borrowing amounts and fixed interest rates. The table assumes these
installment notes are held to maturity. Refer to Note 8, "Debt" of the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for further information.

(4) Represents future monthly rental payment obligations under operating leases for tractors, trailers, office and
terminal properties, and computer and office equipment. Substantially all lease agreements for revenue
equipment have fixed payment terms based on the passage of time.  The tractor lease agreements generally
stipulate maximum miles and provide for mileage penalties for excess miles. These leases generally run for a
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period of three to five years for tractors and five to seven years for trailers. Refer to Note 9, "Leases" of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information.

(5) Represents principal and interest payments owed at December 31, 2010.  The borrowings consist of capital
leases with a finance company, with fixed borrowing amounts and fixed interest rates. Borrowings in 2014 and
thereafter include the residual value guarantees on the related equipment as balloon payments. Refer to Note 8,
"Debt" of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further information.

(6) Represents purchase obligations for revenue equipment totaling approximately $112.5 million in 2011. These
commitments are cancelable, subject to certain adjustments in the underlying obligations and benefits. We also
had commitments outstanding at December 31, 2010, to acquire computer software totaling $0.4 million in 2011
and 2012. These purchase commitments are expected to be financed by operating leases, capital leases,
long-term debt, proceeds from sales of existing equipment, and/or cash flows from operations. Refer to Notes 8
and 9, "Debt" and "Leases", respectively, of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further
information.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Operating leases have been an important source of financing for our revenue equipment, computer equipment, and
certain real estate.  At December 31, 2010, we had financed 28 tractors and 4,611 trailers under operating leases.
Vehicles held under operating leases are not carried on our consolidated balance sheets, and lease payments, in respect
of such vehicles, are reflected in our consolidated statements of operations in the line item "Revenue equipment
rentals and purchased transportation."  Our revenue equipment rental expense was $17.0 million in 2010, compared
with $25.9 million in 2009 as we moved to financing new revenue equipment purchases with on-balance sheet
financing. The total amount of remaining payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2010 was
approximately $68.0 million. In connection with various operating leases, we issued residual value guarantees, which
provide that if we do not purchase the leased equipment from the lessor at the end of the lease term, we are liable to
the lessor for an amount equal to the shortage (if any) between the proceeds from the sale of the equipment and an
agreed value. We estimate that the residual guarantees are approximately $8.2 million and $23.6 million at December
31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The residual guarantees at December 31, 2010 expire in 2011. We expect our
residual guarantees to approximate the market value at the end of the lease term. We believe that proceeds from the
sale of equipment under operating leases would exceed the payment obligation on substantially all operating leases.

On October 28, 2010, we executed a Letter Agreement with TIP that modifies the Master Lease Agreement dated
April 15, 2003, between TIP and the Company, pursuant to which we have entered into (among others) equipment
lease schedules covering 2,446 trailers (the "Designated Schedules") scheduled to expire between November 2010 and
May 2011.  In addition, contemporaneously with the execution of the Letter Agreement, we returned 543 trailers in
accordance with the terms of the Master Lease Agreement in order to better match our trailer fleet with our current
number of tractors. Pursuant to the terms of the Letter Agreement, upon the scheduled expiration of each of the
Designated Schedules, we will lease from TIP the trailers that are subject to such Designated Schedule on the terms
and conditions set forth in the Letter Agreement and a new lease schedule attached to and made a part of the Letter
Agreement. Under the terms of the Letter Agreement, the trailers subject to the agreement will be required to be
returned or purchased at the rate of approximately 100 trailers per month beginning February 2012. The improved
rental rate, coupled with the reduction in rental expense associated with the return of 543 trailers, is expected to
provide us with savings on the TIP trailers in fiscal year 2011. In order to induce TIP to enter into the agreement, we
and certain of our subsidiaries delivered to TIP a corporate guaranty, in which the guarantors agreed to guaranty all
existing and future obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries from time-to-time owing to TIP, including,
without limitation, all obligations under the Master Lease Agreement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
requires us to make decisions based upon estimates, assumptions, and factors we consider as relevant to the
circumstances.  Such decisions include the selection of applicable accounting principles and the use of judgment in
their application, the results of which impact reported amounts and disclosures.  Changes in future economic
conditions or other business circumstances may affect the outcomes of our estimates and assumptions.  Accordingly,
actual results could differ from those anticipated.  A summary of the significant accounting policies followed in
preparation of the financial statements is contained in Note 1, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies," of the
consolidated financial statements attached hereto.  The following discussion addresses our most critical accounting
policies, which are those that are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations
and that require significant judgment or use of complex estimates.

Revenue Recognition
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Revenue, drivers' wages, and other direct operating expenses generated by our Truckload reportable segment are
recognized on the date shipments are delivered to the customer.  Revenue includes transportation revenue, fuel
surcharges, loading and unloading activities, equipment detention, and other accessorial services.

Revenue generated by our Solutions reportable segment is recognized upon completion of the services
provided.  Revenue is recorded on a gross basis, without deducting third party purchased transportation costs, as we
act as a principal with substantial risks as primary obligor, except for transactions whereby equipment from our
Truckload segment perform the related services, which we record on a net basis in accordance with the related
authoritative guidance.
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Depreciation of Revenue Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation for book purposes is determined
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, while depreciation for tax purposes is
generally recorded using an accelerated method.  Depreciation of revenue equipment is our largest item of
depreciation.  We generally depreciate new tractors (excluding day cabs) over five years to salvage values of
approximately 22% and new trailers over seven to ten years to salvage values of approximately 22%.  We annually
review the reasonableness of our estimates regarding useful lives and salvage values of our revenue equipment and
other long-lived assets based upon, among other things, our experience with similar assets, conditions in the used
revenue equipment market, and prevailing industry practice.  Changes in the useful life or salvage value estimates, or
fluctuations in market values that are not reflected in our estimates, could have a material effect on our results of
operations.  Gains and losses on the disposal of revenue equipment are included in depreciation expense in the
consolidated statements of operations.

We lease certain revenue equipment under capital leases with terms of 60 months.  Amortization of leased assets is
included in depreciation and amortization expense.

Pursuant to applicable accounting standards, revenue equipment and other long-lived assets are tested for impairment
whenever an event occurs that indicates an impairment may exist. Expected future cash flows are used to analyze
whether an impairment has occurred. If the sum of expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of
the long-lived asset, then an impairment loss is recognized.  We measure the impairment loss by comparing the fair
value of the asset to its carrying value. Fair value is determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis or the
appraised value of the assets, as appropriate.

Although a portion of our tractors are protected by non-binding indicative trade-in values or binding trade-back
agreements with the manufacturers, we continue to have some tractors and substantially all of our owned trailers
subject to fluctuations in market prices for used revenue equipment.  Moreover, our trade-back agreements are
contingent upon reaching acceptable terms for the purchase of new equipment.  Further declines in the price of used
revenue equipment or failure to reach agreement for the purchase of new tractors with the manufacturers issuing
trade-back agreements could result in impairment of, or losses on the sale of, revenue equipment.

Assets Held For Sale

Assets held for sale include property and revenue equipment no longer utilized in continuing operations which are
available and held for sale.  Assets held for sale are no longer subject to depreciation, and are recorded at the lower of
depreciated book value plus the related costs to sell or fair market value less selling costs.  We periodically review the
carrying value of these assets for possible impairment.  We expect to sell the majority of these assets within twelve
months.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We classify intangible assets into two categories: (i) intangible assets with definite lives subject to amortization and
(ii) goodwill.  We test intangible assets with definite lives for impairment if conditions exist that indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable.  Such conditions may include an economic downturn in a geographic market or a
change in the assessment of future operations.  We record an impairment charge when the carrying value of the
definite lived intangible asset is not recoverable by the cash flows generated from the use of the asset.

We test goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that such
intangible assets or goodwill might be impaired.  We perform our impairment tests of goodwill at the reporting unit
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level.  Our reporting units are defined as our subsidiaries because each is a legal entity that is managed
separately.  Such impairment tests for goodwill include comparing the fair value of the respective reporting unit with
its carrying value, including goodwill.  We use a variety of methodologies in conducting these impairment tests,
including discounted cash flow analyses and market analyses.

We determine the useful lives of our identifiable intangible assets after considering the specific facts and
circumstances related to each intangible asset.  Factors we consider when determining useful lives include the
contractual term of any agreement, the history of the asset, our long-term strategy for the use of the asset, any laws or
other local regulations which could impact the useful life of the asset, and other economic factors, including
competition and specific market conditions.  Intangible assets that are deemed to have definite lives are amortized,
generally on a straight-line basis, over their useful lives, ranging from 4 to 20 years.
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Insurance and Other Claims

The primary claims arising against us consist of cargo, liability, personal injury, property damage, workers'
compensation, and employee medical expenses.  Our insurance program involves self-insurance with high risk
retention levels.  Due to our significant self-insured retention amounts, we have exposure to fluctuations in the number
and severity of claims and to variations between our estimated and actual ultimate payouts.  We accrue the estimated
cost of the uninsured portion of pending claims.  Estimates require judgments concerning the nature and severity of
the claim, historical trends, advice from third-party administrators and insurers, the size of any potential damage
award based on factors such as the specific facts of individual cases, the jurisdictions involved, the prospect of
punitive damages, future medical costs, and inflation estimates of future claims development, and the legal and other
costs to settle or defend the claims.  We have significant exposure to fluctuations in the number and severity of
claims.  If there is an increase in the frequency and severity of claims, or we are required to accrue or pay additional
amounts if the claims prove to be more severe than originally assessed, or any of the claims would exceed the limits of
our insurance coverage, our profitability would be adversely affected.

In addition to estimates within our self-insured retention layers, we also must make judgments concerning our
aggregate coverage limits.  If any claim occurrence were to exceed our aggregate coverage limits, it would have to
accrue for the excess amount.  Our critical estimates include evaluating whether a claim may exceed such limits and,
if so, by how much.  If one or more claims were to exceed our then effective coverage limits, our financial condition
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Effective April 1, 2010, we finalized our casualty insurance renewal which resulted in a reduction in our self-insured
retention limit for the primary excess layer of casualty claims to no more than $1.0 million from the $4.0 million
self-insured retention limit we have had for a number of years.  The policy is a three-year policy and includes a limit
for a single loss of $9.0 million, an aggregate of $15.0 million for each policy year, and a $27.0 million aggregate for
all three years.  The policy includes a policy release premium refund of up to $4.0 million per year, if certain losses
are not met and we were to commute the policy for that policy year.  No receivable was recorded at December 31,
2010 as it is not probable that any premium refund will be received.  Additionally, effective April 1, 2010, we entered
into new excess policies for one to three years that cover up to $30.0 million per claim, subject to certain aggregate
limits.  Prior to April 1, 2010, we had insurance coverage up to $50.0 million per claim and were self-insured on an
occurrence/per claim basis for personal injury and property damage claims for amounts up to the first $4.0 million,
except for Star where we have insurance coverage for all periods presented up to $2.0 million per claim after the first
$0.3 million for which we are self-insured.  We are self-insured on an occurrence/per claim basis for workers'
compensation up to the first $1.25 million.  Effective April 1, 2010, we purchased coverage on an occurrence/per
claim basis for any cargo losses in the $0.3 million to $2.0 million layer, with our contracts generally excluding the
value of any cargo in excess of $2.0 million.  Prior to April 1, 2010, we generally were completely self-insured for
damages to the cargo we hauled.  We also maintain a self-insured group medical plan for our employees with annual
per individual claimant stop-loss deductible of $0.4 million with a maximum lifetime benefit of $0.6 million.  We are
completely self-insured for physical damage to our own tractors and trailers.

Insurance and claims expense varies based on the frequency and severity of claims, the premium expense, the level of
self-insured retention, the development of claims over time, and other factors.  With our significant self-insured
retention, insurance and claims expense may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period, and any increase in
frequency or severity of claims could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Lease Accounting and Off-Balance Sheet Transactions
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We issue residual value guarantees in connection with the operating leases we enter into for certain of our revenue
equipment.  These leases provide that if we do not purchase the leased equipment from the lessor at the end of the
lease term, then we are liable to the lessor for an amount equal to the shortage (if any) between the proceeds from the
sale of the equipment and an agreed value.  To the extent the expected value at the lease termination date is lower than
the residual value guarantee; we would accrue for the difference over the remaining lease term.  We believe that
proceeds from the sale of equipment under operating leases would exceed the payment obligation on substantially all
operating leases.  The estimated values at lease termination involve management judgments.  As leases are entered
into, determination as to the classification as an operating or capital lease involves management judgments on residual
values and useful lives.
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Accounting for Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.  Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of
a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  We have reflected the
necessary deferred tax assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  We believe the future
tax deductions will be realized principally through future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and
future taxable income, except for when a valuation allowance has been provided as discussed in Note 10.

In the ordinary course of business there is inherent uncertainty in quantifying our income tax positions.  We assess our
income tax positions and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon management's evaluation
of the facts, circumstances, and information available at the reporting dates.  For those tax positions where it is
more-likely-than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained, we have recorded the largest amount of tax benefit with a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge
of all relevant information.  For those income tax positions where it is not more-likely-than-not that a tax benefit will
be sustained, no tax benefit has been recognized in the financial statements.  Potential accrued interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits are recognized as a component of income tax expense.

Our policy is to recognize income tax benefit arising from the exercise of stock options and restricted share vesting
based on the ordering provisions of the tax law as proscribed by the Internal Revenue Code, including indirect tax
effects, if any.

Stock-Based Employee Compensation

We issue several types of share-based compensation, including awards that vest based on service, market, and
performance conditions or a combination of the conditions.  Performance-based awards vest contingent upon meeting
certain performance criteria established by the Compensation Committee.  Market-based awards vest contingent upon
meeting certain stock price targets selected by the Compensation Committee.  All awards require future service and
thus forfeitures are estimated based on historical forfeitures and the remaining term until the related award
vests.  Determining the appropriate amount to expense in each period is based on likelihood and timing of achieving
the stated targets for performance and market based awards, respectively, and requires judgment, including forecasting
future financial results and market performance.  The estimates are revised periodically based on the probability and
timing of achieving the required performance and market targets, respectively, and adjustments are made as
appropriate.  Awards that are only subject to time vesting provisions are amortized using the straight-line method.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, commodity contracts,
accounts payable, and debt. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable,
and current debt approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. Interest rates
that are currently available to us for issuance of long-term debt with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to
estimate the fair value of our long-term debt, which primarily consists of revenue equipment installment notes.
Borrowings under our revolving credit facility approximate fair value due to the variable interest rate on the
facility.  Additionally, commodity contracts, which are accounted for as hedge derivatives, as discussed in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements, are valued based on the forward rate of the specific indices upon which the
contract is being settled and adjusted for counterparty credit risk using available market information and valuation
methodologies.
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Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We periodically utilize derivative instruments to manage exposure to changes in fuel prices.  At inception of a
derivative contract, we document relationships between derivative instruments and hedged items, as well as our
risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various derivative transactions, and assess hedge
effectiveness.  We record derivative financial instruments in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability at fair
value. If it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, or if a derivative ceases to be a highly
effective hedge, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively.  The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives are recorded in other comprehensive income, and reclassified into earnings in the same period during
which the hedged transaction affects earnings.  The ineffective portion is recorded in other income or expense.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

There are no recently promulgated accounting pronouncements (either recently adopted or yet to be adopted) that are
likely to have a material impact on our financial reporting in the foreseeable future.  See "Recent Accounting
Pronouncements" in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

INFLATION, NEW EMISSIONS CONTROL REGULATIONS, AND FUEL COSTS

Most of our operating expenses are inflation-sensitive, with inflation generally producing increased costs of
operations.  During the past three years, the most significant effects of inflation have been on revenue equipment
prices and fuel prices.  New emissions control regulations and increases in commodity prices, wages of manufacturing
workers, and other items have resulted in higher tractor prices.  The cost of fuel has been extremely volatile over the
last three years, with costs trending upward in 2010 after a reprieve in 2009 from the record high prices in
2008.  Although we believe at least some of this increase primarily reflects the weak U.S. dollar, increased Asian
demand for petroleum products, and unrest in certain oil-producing countries, rather than underlying inflationary
pressure, we have attempted to limit the effects of inflation through certain cost control efforts and limiting the effects
of fuel prices through fuel surcharges. Fluctuations in the price or availability of fuel, as well as hedging activities,
surcharge collection, the percentage of freight we obtain through brokers, and the volume and terms of diesel fuel
purchase commitments may increase our costs of operation, which could materially and adversely affect our
profitability.  We impose fuel surcharges on substantially all accounts.  These arrangements generally do not fully
protect us from fuel price increases and also may prevent us from receiving the full benefit of any fuel price
decreases.  We may be forced to make cash payments under the hedging arrangements and the absence of meaningful
fuel price protection through these measures could adversely affect our profitability.

The cost of engines used in our tractors are subject to emissions control regulations, which have substantially
increased our capital costs since additional and more stringent regulation began in 2002.  As of December 31, 2010,
88% of our tractor fleet has engines compliant with stricter regulations regarding emissions that became effective in
2007 and 3% of our tractor fleet has engines compliant with stricter regulations regarding emissions that became
effective in 2010. Compliance with such regulations has increased and will continue to increase the cost of new
tractors, may not provide fuel mileage increases proportionate to the increase in the cost of equipment, and could
increase our operations and maintenance expense.  These adverse effects  and the residual values that will be realized
from the disposition of these vehicles could increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business or operations
as the regulations impact our business through new tractor purchases.

SEASONALITY

In the trucking industry, revenue generally decreases as customers reduce shipments during the winter holiday season
and as inclement weather impedes operations.  At the same time, operating expenses generally increase, with fuel
efficiency declining because of engine idling and weather, creating more equipment repairs.  For the reasons stated,
first quarter results historically have been lower than results in each of the other three quarters of the year excluding
charges.  Our equipment utilization typically improves substantially between May and October of each year because
of the trucking industry's seasonal shortage of equipment on traffic originating in California and because of general
increases in shipping demand during those months.  During September and October, business sometimes increases as
a result of increased retail merchandise shipped in anticipation of the holidays.  Due to the economic downturn and
related low inventory levels, this historical trend has not been present over the past several years, including fiscal 2010
and 2009, as we have seen increases in demand at varying times based primarily on restocking required to replenish
inventories and less pronounced seasonal spikes prior to the holidays.

ITEM 7A.                      QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
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We experience various market risks, including changes in interest rates and fuel prices.  We do not enter into
derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes, or when there are no underlying related
exposures.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK

We are subject to risks associated with the availability and price of fuel, which are subject to political, economic, and
market factors that are outside of our control.  We also may be adversely affected by the timing and degree of
fluctuations in fuel prices.  Our fuel-surcharge program mitigates the effect of rising fuel prices but does not always
result in fully recovering the increase in its cost of fuel.  In part, this is due to fuel costs that cannot be billed to
customers, including costs such as those incurred in connection with empty and out-of-route miles or when engines
are being idled during cold or warm weather and due to fluctuations in the price of fuel between the fuel surcharge's
benchmark index reset.
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In an effort to reduce the variability of the ultimate cash flows associated with fluctuations in diesel fuel prices, we
periodically enter into various derivative instruments, including forward futures swap contracts.  As diesel fuel is not a
traded commodity on the futures market, heating oil is used as a substitute for diesel fuel because prices for both
generally move in similar directions.  Under these contracts, we pay a fixed rate per gallon of heating oil and receive
the monthly average price of New York heating oil per the NYMEX.  Based on retrospective and prospective
regression analyses, changes in the prices of diesel fuel and heating oil were deemed to be highly effective based on
the relevant authoritative guidance.  We do not engage in speculative transactions, nor do we hold or issue financial
instruments for trading purposes.

During the fourth quarter of 2010, we sold all of our contracts related to the forecasted purchase of diesel fuel in 2011
to lock-in the related gains.  The gains totaling $0.5 million are included in accumulated other comprehensive income,
net of tax of $0.3 million.  As such, there are no outstanding derivative instruments at December 31, 2010.  During
2010, $1.8 million was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings related to gains on
contracts that expired or were sold and for which we completed the forecasted transaction by purchasing the hedged
diesel fuel.

The aggregate result of our various hedging activities provided for a reduction of $2.6 million in fuel costs in 2010.
Based on our expected fuel consumption for 2011, a one dollar change in the related price of heating oil or diesel per
gallon would change our net fuel expense by approximately $19.8 million, assuming no further changes to our fuel
hedging program or our fuel surcharge recovery.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Our market risk is also affected by changes in interest rates.  Historically, we have used a combination of fixed-rate
and variable-rate obligations to manage our interest rate exposure.  Fixed-rate obligations expose us to the risk that
interest rates might fall.  Variable-rate obligations expose us to the risk that interest rates might raise.  Of our total
$225.2 million of debt, we had $2.9 million of variable rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2010, including both
our Credit Facility and a real-estate note whereas at December 31, 2009, of our total $215.0 million of debt, we had
$15.9 million of variable rate debt outstanding including both our Credit Facility and a real-estate note.  The interest
rates applicable to these agreements are based on either the prime rate or LIBOR.  Our earnings would be affected by
changes in these short-term interest rates.  Risk can be quantified by measuring the financial impact of a near-term
adverse increase in short-term interest rates.  At our current level of borrowing, a 1% increase in our applicable rate
would reduce annual pre-tax earnings by less than $0.1 million and $0.2 million as of December 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, respectively.  Our remaining debt is fixed rate debt, and therefore changes in market interest rates
do not directly impact our interest expense.

ITEM 8.                      FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. and subsidiaries including the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related statements of operations, statements of
stockholders' equity and comprehensive income (loss) and statements of cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2010, together with the related notes, and the report of KPMG LLP, our
independent registered public accounting firm as of and for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 are
set forth at pages 45 through 69 elsewhere in this report.

ITEM 9.                      CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There has been no change in accountants during our three most recent fiscal years.

Edgar Filing: COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP INC - Form 10-K

72



ITEM 9A.                      CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to us and our
consolidated subsidiaries is made known to the officers who certify our financial reports and to other members of
senior management and the Board of Directors.

Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2010, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act)
are effective to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and
forms.
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Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting.  Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Exchange Act as
a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the principal executive and principal financial officers and effected
by the board of directors, management, and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records, that in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material
effect on our financial statements.

We have confidence in our internal controls and procedures.  Nevertheless, our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure procedures and controls or our
internal controls will prevent all errors or intentional fraud. An internal control system, no matter how well-conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of such internal controls are
met.  Further, the design of an internal control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.  As a result of the inherent limitations in all internal
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all our control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, have been detected.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010. In
making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), an Internal Control-Integrated Framework.  Based on its assessment, management
believes that, as of December 31, 2010, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those
criteria.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

This annual report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting.  Management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered public
accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only
management's report in this annual report given our status as a non-accelerated filer.

Design and Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized,
and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms.  In
accordance with these controls and procedures, information is accumulated and communicated to management,
including our Chief Executive Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosures.  There were no
changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2010,
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that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B.                      OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10.                      DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

We incorporate by reference the information respecting executive officers and directors set forth under the captions
"Proposal 1 - Election of Directors", "Corporate Governance – Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance", "Corporate Governance – Our Executive Officers", "Corporate Governance – Code of Conduct and
Ethics", and "Corporate Governance – Committees of the Board of Directors – The Audit Committee" in our Proxy
Statement for the 2011 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission in accordance with Rule 14a-6 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Proxy Statement"); provided, that the section entitled "Corporate Governance – Committees of the Board of Directors –
The Audit Committee – Report of the Audit Committee" contained in the Proxy Statement are not incorporated by
reference.

ITEM 11.                      EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We incorporate by reference the information set forth under the sections entitled "Executive Compensation",
"Corporate Governance – Committees of the Board of Directors – The Compensation Committee – Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation", and "Corporate Governance – Committees of the Board of Directors –
The Compensation Committee –Compensation Committee Report" in our Proxy Statement for the 2011 annual meeting
of stockholders; provided, that the section entitled "Corporate Governance – Committees of the Board of Directors – The
Compensation Committee – Compensation Committee Report" contained in the Proxy Statement is not incorporated by
reference.

ITEM 12.                      SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table provides certain information, as of December 31, 2010, with respect to our compensation plans
and other arrangements under which shares of our Class A common stock are authorized for issuance.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Plan category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted average exercise
price of outstanding options

warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining eligible for future

issuance under equity
compensation plans (excluding
securities reflected in column

(a))
(a) (b) (c)

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders

620,000 (1)
771,000 (2)

$
$

14.66
-

 -
 191,000

Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security holders - -  -

Total 1,391,000 $ 14.66  191,000

(1)  Stock Options granted under our 1994, 2003, and 2006 Incentive Plans.
(2)  Restricted Stock granted under the 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan.
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We incorporate by reference the information set forth under the section entitled "Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management" in the Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 13.                      CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

We incorporate by reference the information set forth under the sections entitled "Corporate Governance – Board of
Directors and Its Committees" and "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14.                      PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

We incorporate by reference the information set forth under the section entitled "Relationships with Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm – Principal Accountant Fees and Services" in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15.                      EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1. Financial Statements.

Our audited consolidated financial statements are set forth at the following
pages of this report:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – KPMG LLP 45
Consolidated Balance Sheets 46
Consolidated Statements of Operations 47
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Comprehensive Income
(Loss)

48

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 49
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 50

2. Financial Statement Schedules.

Financial statement schedules are not required because all required information
is included in the financial statements.

3. Exhibits.

The exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed
under paragraph (b) below and on the Exhibit Index appearing at the end of
this report.  Management contracts and compensatory plans or arrangements
are indicated by an asterisk.

(b) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed with this Form 10-K or incorporated by
reference to the document set forth next to the exhibit listed below.

Exhibit
Number ReferenceDescription

3.1
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to
the Company's Report on Form 8-K, filed May 29, 2007)

3.2
Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated December 6, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.2 to the Company's Form 10-K, filed March 17, 2008)

4.1
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to
the Company's Report on Form 8-K, filed May 29, 2007)

4.2
Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated December 6, 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.2 to the Company's Form 10-K, filed March 17, 2008)

10.1
401(k) Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company's Form S-1,
Registration No. 33-82978, effective October 28, 1994)

10.2 Master Lease Agreement, dated April 15, 2003, between Transport International Pool, Inc. and
Covenant Transport, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Form
10-Q/A, filed October 31, 2003)

10.3 *
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Form of Indemnification Agreement between Covenant Transport, Inc. and each officer and
director, effective May 1, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's
Form 10-Q, filed August 5, 2004)

10.4 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated April 3, 2006, between Covenant Transport, Inc., a
Tennessee corporation, and CT Chattanooga TN, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Company's Form 10-K, filed March 31, 2010)

10.5 Lease Agreement, dated April 3, 2006, between Covenant Transport, Inc., a Tennessee
corporation, and CT Chattanooga TN, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company's Form 10-K, filed March 31, 2010)

10.6 Lease Guaranty, dated April 3, 2006, by Covenant Transport, Inc., a Nevada corporation, for
the benefit of CT Chattanooga TN, LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the
Company's Report on Form 8-K, filed April 7, 2006)

10.7 * Form of Restricted Stock Award Notice under the Covenant Transport, Inc. 2006 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company's Form 10-Q, filed
August 9, 2006)

10.8 * Form of Restricted Stock Special Award Notice under the Covenant Transport, Inc. 2006
Omnibus Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company's Form
10-Q, filed August 9, 2006)

10.9 * Form of Incentive Stock Option Award Notice under the Covenant Transport, Inc. 2006
Omnibus Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company's Form
10-Q, filed August 9, 2006)
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10.10 Form of Lease Agreement used in connection with Daimler Facility (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form 10-Q, filed August 11, 2008)

10.11
Amendment to Lease Agreement (Open End) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company's Form 10-Q, filed August 11, 2008)

10.12 Form of Direct Purchase Money Loan and Security Agreement used in connection with
Daimler Facility (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company's Form 10-Q, filed
August 11, 2008)

10.13 Amendment to Direct Purchase Money Loan and Security Agreement (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Form 10-Q, filed August 11, 2008)

10.14 Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated September 23, 2008, among Covenant
Transportation Group, Inc., Covenant Transport, Inc., CTG Leasing Company, Covenant Asset
Management, Inc., Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., Covenant Transport Solutions, Inc.,
Star Transportation, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Textron
Financial Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company's Form
10-K, filed March 31, 2010)

10.15 * Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company's Schedule 14A, filed April 10,
2009)

10.16 Amendment No. 1 to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated March 27, 2009
among Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., Covenant Transport, Inc., CTG Leasing
Company, Covenant Asset Management, Inc., Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., Covenant
Transport Solutions, Inc., Star Transportation, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., and Textron Financial Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company's Form 10-Q, filed May 15, 2009)

10.17 * Description of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. 2009 Voluntary Incentive Opportunity,
dated March 31, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 10-Q,
filed May 15, 2009)

10.18 * Description of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. 2009 Named Executive Officer Bonus
Program, dated March 31, 2009 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's
Form 10-Q, filed May 15, 2009)

10.19 Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated February 25,
2010, among Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., Covenant Transport, Inc., CTG Leasing
Company, Covenant Asset Management, Inc., Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., Covenant
Transport Solutions, Inc., Star Transportation, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., and Textron Financial Corporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company's Form 10-Q, filed May 17, 2010)

10.20 Third Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated July 30, 2010
among Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., Covenant Transport, Inc., CTG Leasing
Company, Covenant Asset Management, Inc., Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., Covenant
Transport Solutions, Inc., Star Transportation, Inc., and Bank of America, N.A., as agent
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Form 10-Q, filed November 9,
2010)

10.21 Fourth Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated August 31, 2010
among Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., Covenant Transport, Inc., CTG Leasing
Company, Covenant Asset Management, Inc., Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., Covenant
Transport Solutions, Inc., Star Transportation, Inc., and Bank of America, N.A., as agent
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 10-Q, filed November 9,
2010)
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10.22 #
Letter Agreement, dated October 28, 2010, between Transport International Pool, Inc.,
Covenant Transport, Inc. and CTG Leasing Company

21 # List of Subsidiaries
23 # Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm – KPMG LLP

31.1 # Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by David R. Parker, the Company's Chief Executive Officer

31.2 # Certification pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Richard B. Cribbs, the Company's Chief Financial
Officer

32.1 # Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by David R. Parker, the Company's Chief Executive Officer

32.2 # Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Richard B. Cribbs, the Company's Chief Financial Officer

References:

# Filed herewith
* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC.

Date:  March 1, 2011 By: /s/ Richard B. Cribbs
Richard B. Cribbs
Senior  Vice President  and Chief
Financial Officer in his capacity as
such and on behalf of the issuer.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature and Title Date

/s/ David R. Parker March 1, 2011
David R. Parker
Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief Executive
Officer
(principal executive officer)

/s/ Richard B. Cribbs March 1, 2011
Richard B. Cribbs
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

/s/ Bradley A. Moline March 1, 2011
Bradley A. Moline
Director

/s/ William T. Alt March 1, 2011
William T. Alt
Director

/s/ Robert E. Bosworth March 1, 2011
Robert E. Bosworth
Director

/s/ Niel B. Nielson March 1, 2011
Niel B. Nielson
Director

44

Edgar Filing: COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP INC - Form 10-K

83



Edgar Filing: COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP INC - Form 10-K

84



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Covenant Transportation Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders'
equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2010.  These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2010, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG LLP

/s/ KPMG LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 1, 2011
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COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009
(In thousands, except share data)

2010 2009
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $9,361 $12,221
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,537 in 2010 and $1,845 in 2009 60,816 64,857
Drivers' advances and other receivables, net of allowance of $2,499 in 2010 and $2,608
in 2009 4,591 3,311
Inventory and supplies 4,481 4,004
Prepaid expenses 8,833 7,172
Assets held for sale 802 9,547
Deferred income taxes 677 458
Income taxes receivable 1,577 257
Total current assets 91,138 101,827

Property and equipment, at cost 450,467 399,712
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (126,513 ) (121,377 )
Net property and equipment 323,954 278,335

Goodwill 11,539 11,539
Other assets, net 5,735 6,611

Total assets $432,366 $398,312
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Checks outstanding in excess of bank balances $4,795 $4,838
Accounts payable 6,902 7,528
Accrued expenses 26,481 26,789
Current maturities of long-term debt 68,379 67,365
Current portion of capital lease obligations 1,399 1,098
Current portion of insurance and claims accrual 13,927 12,055
Total current liabilities 121,883 119,673

Long-term debt 141,963 134,084
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations 13,418 12,472
Insurance and claims accrual 10,900 11,082
Deferred income taxes 41,821 24,525
Other long-term liabilities 1,683 1,801
Total liabilities 331,668 303,637
Commitments and contingent liabilities - -
Stockholders' equity:
Class A common stock, $.01 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized; 13,469,090 shares
issued; 12,190,682 and 11,840,568
      outstanding as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively 140 136

24 24
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Class B common stock, $.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; 2,350,000 shares
issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in-capital 90,842 90,679
Treasury stock at cost; 1,278,408 and 1,628,522 shares as of December 31, 2010 and
2009, respectively (16,799 ) (19,195 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income 476 305
Retained earnings 26,015 22,726
Total stockholders' equity 100,698 94,675
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $432,366 $398,312

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, AND 2008
(In thousands, except per share data)

2010 2009 2008
Revenues
Freight revenue $546,320 $520,495 $615,810
Fuel surcharge revenue 103,429 68,192 158,104
Total revenue $649,749 $588,687 $773,914

Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and related expenses 213,115 216,158 263,793
Fuel expense 177,239 143,835 260,704
Operations and maintenance 36,716 35,409 42,459
Revenue equipment rentals and purchased transportation 71,474 76,484 90,974
Operating taxes and licenses 11,090 12,113 13,078
Insurance and claims 37,982 31,955 37,578
Communications and utilities 4,974 5,740 6,702
General supplies and expenses 19,344 23,593 26,399
Depreciation and amortization, including gains and losses on disposition of
equipment and impairment
       of assets (1) 51,807 48,122 63,235
Goodwill impairment charge - - 24,671
Total operating expenses 623,741 593,409 829,593
Operating income (loss) 26,008 (4,722 ) (55,679 )
Other (income) expenses:
Interest expense 16,566 14,184 10,373
Interest income (2 ) (144 ) (435 )
Loss on early extinguishment of debt - - 726
Loss on sale of Transplace investment and note receivable - 11,485 -
Other (20 ) (199 ) (160 )
Other expenses, net 16,544 25,326 10,504
Income (loss) before income taxes 9,464 (30,048 ) (66,183 )
Income tax expense (benefit) 6,175 (5,018 ) (12,792 )
Net income (loss) $3,289 $(25,030 ) $(53,391 )

(1) Includes a $15,791 pre-tax impairment charge related to revenue equipment in 2008.

Income (loss) per share:
Basic income (loss) per share: $0.23 $(1.77 ) $(3.80 )

Diluted income (loss) per share: $0.23 $(1.77 ) $(3.80 )

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 14,374 14,124 14,038

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 14,505 14,124 14,038

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, AND 2008

(In thousands)

Common Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Retained
Earnings

Total
Stockholders'

Equity
Class A Class B

Balances at December 31,
   2007 $ 135 $ 24 $ 92,238 $ (21,278 ) $ - $ 101,147 $ 172,266
Reversal of previously
   recognized stock-based 
   compensation cost - - (414 ) - - - (414 )
Stock-based employee
   compensation cost - - 260 - - - 260
Issuance of restricted
stock
   to non-employee
directors
   from treasury stock - - (172 ) 271 - - 99
Net loss and
comprehensive
   loss - - - - - (53,391 ) (53,391 )
Balances at December 31,
   2008 $ 135 $ 24 $ 91,912 $ (21,007 ) $ - $ 47,756 $ 118,820
Net loss - - - - - (25,030 ) (25,030 )
Other comprehensive loss:
    Unrealized gain on
effective portion of fuel
hedge, net of tax of $191 - - - - 305 - 305
Comprehensive loss - - - - 305 (25,030 ) (24,725 )
Issuance of restricted
stock to non-employee
directors from treasury
stock - - (375 ) 475 - - 100
 Stock-based employee
   compensation cost - - 595 - - - 595
Issuance of restricted
stock to employees from
treasury stock, net of
shares repurchased to
satisfy minimum
withholding requirements 1 - (1,453 ) 1,337 - - (115 )
Balances at December 31,
    2009 $ 136 $ 24 $ 90,679 $ (19,195 ) $ 305 $ 22,726 $ 94,675
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Net income - - - - - 3,289 3,289
Other comprehensive
income:
    Unrealized gain on
effective portion of fuel
hedge, net of tax of $746 - - - - 1,938 - 1,938
Comprehensive income - - - - 1,938 3,289 5,227
 Reclassification of fuel
hedge gain into statement
of operations, net of
income tax of $680 - - - - (1,767 ) - (1,767 )
Issuance of restricted
stock to non-employee
directors from treasury
stock - - (62 ) 162 - - 100
Issuance of restricted
stock to employees from
treasury stock, net of
shares repurchased to
satisfy minimum
withholding requirements 2 - (2,520 ) 2,234 - - (284 )
Exercise of stock options 2 - 1,306 - - - 1,308
Income tax benefit arising
from exercise of stock
options and restricted
stock vesting - - 421 - - - 421
Stock-based employee
    compensation cost - - 1,018 - - - 1,018

Balances at December 31,
    2010 $ 140 $ 24 $ 90,842 $ (16,799 ) $ 476 $ 26,015 $ 100,698

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009, AND 2008
(In thousands)

2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $3,289 $(25,030 ) $(53,391 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 422 1,727 987
Loss on early extinguishment of debt - - 726
Depreciation and amortization, including impairment of  property and
equipment 56,100 47,987 61,289
Impairment of goodwill - - 24,671
Amortization of deferred financing fees 715 851 405
Loss on sale of Transplace investment and note receivable - 11,485 -
Gain on ineffective portion of fuel hedge - (31 ) -
   Deferred gain on fuel hedge 773 - -
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 17,422 (8,664 ) (2,456 )
(Gain) loss on disposition of property and equipment (4,293 ) 135 1,946
    Income tax benefit arising from the exercise of stock options (421 ) - -
Stock-based compensation expense (reversal), net 1,118 695 (55 )
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables and advances 1,018 9,948 7,023
Prepaid expenses and other assets (2,097 ) 1,545 (1,709 )
Inventory and supplies (477 ) (110 ) 286
Insurance and claims accrual 1,690 (9,543 ) 2,044
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (4,420 ) (97 ) (1,458 )
Net cash flows provided by operating activities 70,839 30,898 40,308

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment (137,347 ) (113,063 ) (89,024 )
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment 55,075 50,305 26,711
Payment of acquisition obligation - (250 ) (333 )
Net cash flows used in investing activities (82,272 ) (63,008 ) (62,646 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
   Repurchase of Company stock, net of shares repurchased  to satisfy
minimum statutory withholding requirements (284 ) (115 ) -
   Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 1,308 - -
Proceeds (repayments) from/of  borrowings under revolving  credit
facility, net (12,665 ) 8,879 (71,193 )
Repayments of capital lease obligation (1,158 ) (298 ) -
Change in checks outstanding in excess of bank balances (43 ) 4,753 (4,487 )
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable 97,766 95,592 188,455
Repayments of notes payable (76,208 ) (70,219 ) (38,796 )
Repayments of securitization facility, net - - (47,964 )
Debt refinancing costs (564 ) (561 ) (1,877 )

421 - -
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    Income tax benefit arising from the exercise of stock options  and
restricted stock vesting
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 8,573 38,031 24,138

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (2,860 ) 5,921 1,800

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,221 6,300 4,500
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $9,361 $12,221 $6,300

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid (received) during the year for:
Interest, net of capitalized interest $16,710 $13,016 $9,296
Income taxes $(7,928 ) $239 $(12,480 )
Equipment purchased under capital leases $2,405 $14,000 $-
Non-cash change in variable rate real-estate note $- $157 $-
Accrued property additions $- $811 $-

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

49

Edgar Filing: COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP INC - Form 10-K

93



COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2009 AND 2008

1.           SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business and Segments

Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., a Nevada holding company, together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries offers
truckload transportation and brokerage services to customers throughout the continental United States.

We have two reportable segments: Asset-Based Truckload Services ("Truckload") and our Brokerage Services, also
known as Covenant Transport Solutions, Inc. ("Solutions").

The Truckload segment consists of three asset-based operating fleets that are aggregated because they have similar
economic characteristics and meet the aggregation criteria.  The three operating fleets that comprise our Truckload
segment are as follows: (i) Covenant Transport, Inc. ("Covenant Transport"), our historical flagship operation, which
provides expedited long haul, dedicated, and regional solo-driver service; (ii) Southern Refrigerated Transportation,
Inc. ("SRT"), which provides primarily long-haul and regional temperature-controlled service; and (iii) Star
Transportation, Inc. ("Star"), which provides regional solo-driver service, primarily in the southeastern United States.

The Solutions segment provides freight brokerage service directly and through freight brokerage agents who are paid a
commission for the freight they provide.  The brokerage operation has helped us continue to serve customers when we
lacked capacity in a given area or when the load has not met the operating profile of our Truckload segment.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Covenant Transportation Group, Inc., a holding
company incorporated in the state of  Nevada in 1994, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: Covenant Transport, Inc., a
Tennessee corporation; Southern Refrigerated Transport, Inc., an Arkansas corporation; Star Transportation, Inc., a
Tennessee corporation; Covenant Transport Solutions, Inc., a Nevada corporation; Covenant Logistics, Inc., a Nevada
corporation; Covenant Asset Management, Inc., a Nevada corporation; CTG Leasing Company, a Nevada corporation,
and Volunteer Insurance Limited, a Cayman Islands company.

References in this report to "it," "we," "us," "our," the "Company," and similar expressions refer to Covenant
Transportation Group, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries.  All significant intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue, drivers' wages, and other direct operating expenses generated by our Truckload reportable segment are
recognized on the date shipments are delivered to the customer.  Revenue includes transportation revenue, fuel
surcharges, loading and unloading activities, equipment detention, and other accessorial services.

Revenue generated by our Solutions reportable segment is recognized upon completion of the services
provided.  Revenue is recorded on a gross basis, without deducting third party purchased transportation costs, as we
act as a principal with substantial risks as primary obligor, except for transactions whereby equipment from our
Truckload segment perform the related services, which we record on a net basis in accordance with the related
authoritative guidance.
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Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires us to make decisions based upon estimates, assumptions, and factors we consider as
relevant to the circumstances.  Such decisions include the selection of applicable accounting principles and the use of
judgment in their application, the results of which impact reported amounts and disclosures.  Changes in future
economic conditions or other business circumstances may affect the outcomes of our estimates and
assumptions.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those anticipated.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at acquisition to be cash
equivalents.  Additionally, the Company is also subject to concentrations of credit risk related to deposits in banks in
excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limits.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company extends credit to its customers in the normal course of business.  The Company performs ongoing
credit evaluations and generally does not require collateral.  Trade accounts receivable are recorded at their invoiced
amounts, net of allowance for doubtful accounts.  The Company evaluates the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful
accounts quarterly.  Accounts outstanding longer than contractual payment terms are considered past due and are
reviewed individually for collectability.  The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses based upon its
loss history and specific receivables aging analysis.  Receivable balances are written off when collection is deemed
unlikely.

Accounts receivable are comprised of a diversified customer base that results in a lack of concentration of credit
risk.  During 2010, 2009, and 2008, the Company's top ten customers generated 40%, 26%, and 20% of total revenue,
respectively.  During the three year period ended December 31, 2010, no single customer represented more than 10%
of total revenue.  The carrying amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet for accounts receivable
approximates fair value based on the fact that the receivables collection averaged approximately 35 days and 40 days
in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The following table provides a summary of the activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts for 2010, 2009, and
2008:

Years
ended

December
31:

Beginning
balance

January 1,

Additional
provisions

to
allowance

Write-offs
and other

deductions

Ending
balance

December
31,

2010 $1,845 $422 ($730) $1,537

2009 $1,484 $1,727 ($1,366) $1,845

2008 $1,537 $987 ($1,040) $1,484

Inventories and supplies

Inventories and supplies consist of parts, tires, fuel, and supplies.  Tires on new revenue equipment are capitalized as a
component of the related equipment cost when the tractor or trailer is placed in service and recovered through
depreciation over the life of the vehicle.  Replacement tires and parts on hand at year end are recorded at the lower of
cost or market with cost determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.  Replacement tires are expensed when
placed in service.

Assets Held for Sale
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Assets held for sale include property and revenue equipment no longer utilized in continuing operations which are
available and held for sale.  Assets held for sale are no longer subject to depreciation, and are recorded at the lower of
depreciated book value plus the related costs to sell or fair market value less selling costs.  We periodically review the
carrying value of these assets for possible impairment.  We expect to sell the majority of these assets within twelve
months.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation for book purposes is determined
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, while depreciation for tax purposes is
generally recorded using an accelerated method.  Depreciation of revenue equipment is our largest item of
depreciation.  We generally depreciate new tractors (excluding day cabs) over five years to salvage values of
approximately 22% and new trailers over seven to ten years to salvage values of approximately 22%.  We annually
review the reasonableness of our estimates regarding useful lives and salvage values of our revenue equipment and
other long-lived assets based upon, among other things, our experience with similar assets, conditions in the used
revenue equipment market, and prevailing industry practice.  Changes in the useful life or salvage value estimates, or
fluctuations in market values that are not reflected in our estimates, could have a material effect on our results of
operations.  Gains and losses on the disposal of revenue equipment are included in depreciation expense in the
consolidated statements of operations.
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We lease certain revenue equipment under capital leases with terms of 60 months.  Amortization of leased assets is
included in depreciation and amortization expense.

Although a portion of our tractors are protected by non-binding indicative trade-in values or binding trade-back
agreements with the manufacturers, we continue to have some tractors and substantially all of our owned trailers
subject to fluctuations in market prices for used revenue equipment.  Moreover, our trade-back agreements are
contingent upon reaching acceptable terms for the purchase of new equipment.  Further declines in the price of used
revenue equipment or failure to reach agreement for the purchase of new tractors with the manufacturers issuing
trade-back agreements could result in impairment of, or losses on the sale of, revenue equipment.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Pursuant to applicable accounting standards, revenue equipment and other long-lived assets are tested for impairment
whenever an event occurs that indicates an impairment may exist. Expected future cash flows are used to analyze
whether an impairment has occurred. If the sum of expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of
the long-lived asset, then an impairment loss is recognized.  We measure the impairment loss by comparing the fair
value of the asset to its carrying value. Fair value is determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis or the
appraised value of the assets, as appropriate.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We classify intangible assets into two categories: (i) intangible assets with definite lives subject to amortization and
(ii) goodwill.  We test intangible assets with definite lives for impairment if conditions exist that indicate the carrying
value may not be recoverable.  Such conditions may include an economic downturn in a geographic market or a
change in the assessment of future operations.  We record an impairment charge when the carrying value of the
definite lived intangible asset is not recoverable by the cash flows generated from the use of the asset.

We test goodwill for impairment at least annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that such
intangible assets or goodwill might be impaired.  We perform our impairment tests of goodwill at the reporting unit
level.  Our reporting units are defined as our subsidiaries because each is a legal entity that is managed
separately.  Such impairment tests for goodwill include comparing the fair value of the respective reporting unit with
its carrying value, including goodwill.  We use a variety of methodologies in conducting these impairment tests,
including discounted cash flow analyses and market analyses.

We determine the useful lives of our identifiable intangible assets after considering the specific facts and
circumstances related to each intangible asset.  Factors we consider when determining useful lives include the
contractual term of any agreement, the history of the asset, our long-term strategy for the use of the asset, any laws or
other local regulations which could impact the useful life of the asset, and other economic factors, including
competition and specific market conditions.  Intangible assets that are deemed to have definite lives are amortized,
generally on a straight-line basis, over their useful lives, ranging from 4 to 20 years.

Insurance and Other Claims

The primary claims arising against us consist of cargo, liability, personal injury, property damage, workers'
compensation, and employee medical expenses.  Our insurance program involves self-insurance with high risk
retention levels.  Due to our significant self-insured retention amounts, we have exposure to fluctuations in the number
and severity of claims and to variations between our estimated and actual ultimate payouts.  We accrue the estimated
cost of the uninsured portion of pending claims.  Estimates require judgments concerning the nature and severity of
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the claim, historical trends, advice from third-party administrators and insurers, the size of any potential damage
award based on factors such as the specific facts of individual cases, the jurisdictions involved, the prospect of
punitive damages, future medical costs, and inflation estimates of future claims development, and the legal and other
costs to settle or defend the claims.  We have significant exposure to fluctuations in the number and severity of
claims.  If there is an increase in the frequency and severity of claims, or we are required to accrue or pay additional
amounts if the claims prove to be more severe than originally assessed, or any of the claims would exceed the limits of
our insurance coverage, our profitability would be adversely affected.

In addition to estimates within our self-insured retention layers, we also must make judgments concerning our
aggregate coverage limits.  If any claim occurrence were to exceed our aggregate coverage limits, it would have to
accrue for the excess amount.  Our critical estimates include evaluating whether a claim may exceed such limits and,
if so, by how much.  If one or more claims were to exceed our then effective coverage limits, our financial condition
and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Effective April 1, 2010, we finalized our casualty insurance renewal which resulted in a reduction in our self-insured
retention limit for the primary excess layer of casualty claims to no more than $1.0 million from the $4.0 million
self-insured retention limit we have had for a number of years.  The policy is a three-year policy and includes a limit
for a single loss of $9.0 million, an aggregate of $15.0 million for each policy year, and a $27.0 million aggregate for
all three years.  The policy includes a policy release premium refund of up to $4.0 million per year, if certain losses
are not met and we were to commute the policy for that policy year.  No receivable was recorded at December 31,
2010 as it is not probable that any premium refund will be received.  Additionally, effective April 1, 2010, we entered
into new excess policies for one to three years that cover up to $30.0 million per claim, subject to certain aggregate
limits.  Prior to April 1, 2010, we had insurance coverage up to $50.0 million per claim and were self-insured on an
occurrence/per claim basis for personal injury and property damage claims for amounts up to the first $4.0 million,
except for Star where we have insurance coverage for all periods presented up to $2.0 million per claim after the first
$0.3 million for which we are self-insured.  We are self-insured on an occurrence/per claim basis for workers'
compensation up to the first $1.25 million.  Effective April 1, 2010, we purchased coverage on an occurrence/per
claim basis for any cargo losses in the $0.3 million to $2.0 million layer, with our contracts generally excluding the
value of any cargo in excess of $2.0 million.  Prior to April 1, 2010, we generally were completely self-insured for
damages to the cargo we hauled.  We also maintain a self-insured group medical plan for our employees with annual
per individual claimant stop-loss deductible of $0.4 million with a maximum lifetime benefit of $0.6 million.  We are
completely self-insured for physical damage to our own tractors and trailers.

Insurance and claims expense varies based on the frequency and severity of claims, the premium expense, the level of
self-insured retention, the development of claims over time, and other factors.  With our significant self-insured
retention, insurance and claims expense may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period, and any increase in
frequency or severity of claims could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Interest

The Company capitalizes interest on major projects during construction.  Interest is capitalized based on the average
interest rate on related debt.  Capitalized interest was less than $0.1 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, commodity contracts,
accounts payable, and debt. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable,
and current debt approximates their fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. Interest rates
that are currently available to us for issuance of long-term debt with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to
estimate the fair value of our long-term debt, which primarily consists of revenue equipment installment notes.
Borrowings under our revolving credit facility approximate fair value due to the variable interest rate on the
facility.  Additionally, commodity contracts, which are accounted for as hedge derivatives, as discussed in Note 14,
are valued based on the forward rate of the specific indices upon which the contract is being settled and adjusted for
counterparty credit risk using available market information and valuation methodologies.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.  Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of
a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  We have reflected the
necessary deferred tax assets and liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  We believe the future
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tax deductions will be realized principally through future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and
future taxable income, except for when a valuation allowance has been provided as discussed in Note 10.

In the ordinary course of business there is inherent uncertainty in quantifying our income tax positions.  We assess our
income tax positions and record tax benefits for all years subject to examination based upon management's evaluation
of the facts, circumstances, and information available at the reporting dates.  For those tax positions where it is
more-likely-than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained, we have recorded the largest amount of tax benefit with a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge
of all relevant information.  For those income tax positions where it is not more-likely-than-not that a tax benefit will
be sustained, no tax benefit has been recognized in the financial statements.  Potential accrued interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits are recognized as a component of income tax expense.

Our policy is to recognize income tax benefit arising from the exercise of stock options and restricted share vesting
based on the ordering provisions of the tax law as proscribed by the Internal Revenue Code, including indirect tax
effects, if any.

53

Edgar Filing: COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP INC - Form 10-K

101



Lease Accounting and Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

We issue residual value guarantees in connection with the operating leases we enter into for certain of our revenue
equipment.  These leases provide that if we do not purchase the leased equipment from the lessor at the end of the
lease term, then we are liable to the lessor for an amount equal to the shortage (if any) between the proceeds from the
sale of the equipment and an agreed value.  To the extent the expected value at the lease termination date is lower than
the residual value guarantee; we would accrue for the difference over the remaining lease term.  We believe that
proceeds from the sale of equipment under operating leases would exceed the payment obligation on substantially all
operating leases.  The estimated values at lease termination involve management judgments.  As leases are entered
into, determination as to the classification as an operating or capital lease involves management judgments on residual
values and useful lives.

Capital Structure

The shares of Class A and B common stock are substantially identical except that the Class B shares are entitled to
two votes per share while beneficially owned by David Parker or certain members of his immediate family, and Class
A shares are entitled to one vote per share. The terms of any future issuances of preferred shares will be set by the
Company's Board of Directors.

Comprehensive Income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) generally includes all changes in equity during a period except those resulting from
investments by owners and distributions to owners. Comprehensive income for 2010 was comprised of the net income
and the unrealized gain on the effective portion of diesel fuel hedges. Comprehensive loss for 2009 was comprised of
the net loss, partially offset by the unrealized gain on the effective portion of diesel fuel hedges, while in 2008
comprehensive loss equaled net loss.

Income (loss) Per Share

Basic income (loss) per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing earnings available to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period.  Diluted income (loss)
per share reflects the dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or
converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the
Company.  The calculation of diluted loss per share for 2009 and 2008 excludes all unexercised options and unvested
shares, since the effect of any assumed exercise of the related awards would be anti-dilutive as a result of the net loss
in these periods.

The following table sets forth the calculation of net income (loss) per share included in the consolidated statements of
operations for each of the three years ended December 31:

(in thousands except per share data)
2010 2009 2008

Numerator:

Net income (loss) $3,289 $(25,030 ) $(53,391 )

Denominator:

Denominator for basic income (loss) per share – weighted-average shares 14,374 14,124 14,038
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Effect of dilutive securities:
Equivalent shares issuable upon conversion of unvested restricted stock 128 - -
Equivalent shares issuable upon conversion  of unvested employee stock
options 3 - -
Denominator for diluted income (loss) per share adjusted
weighted-average shares and assumed conversions 14,505 14,124 14,038

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic income (loss) per share $0.23 $(1.77 ) $(3.80 )
Diluted  income (loss) per share $0.23 $(1.77 ) $(3.80 )
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Stock-Based Employee Compensation

We issue several types of share-based compensation, including awards that vest based on service, market, and
performance conditions or a combination of the conditions.  Performance-based awards vest contingent upon meeting
certain performance criteria established by the Compensation Committee.  Market-based awards vest contingent upon
meeting certain stock price targets selected by the Compensation Committee.  All awards require future service and
thus forfeitures are estimated based on historical forfeitures and the remaining term until the related award
vests.  Determining the appropriate amount to expense in each period is based on likelihood and timing of achieving
the stated targets for performance and market based awards, respectively, and requires judgment, including forecasting
future financial results and market performance.  The estimates are revised periodically based on the probability and
timing of achieving the required performance and market targets, respectively, and adjustments are made as
appropriate.  Awards that are only subject to time vesting provisions are amortized using the straight-line method.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We periodically utilize derivative instruments to manage exposure to changes in fuel prices.  At inception of a
derivative contract, we document relationships between derivative instruments and hedged items, as well as our
risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various derivative transactions, and assess hedge
effectiveness.  We record derivative financial instruments in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability at fair
value. If it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, or if a derivative ceases to be a highly
effective hedge, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively.  The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives are recorded in other comprehensive income, and reclassified into earnings in the same period during
which the hedged transaction affects earnings.  The ineffective portion is recorded in other income or expense.

Subsequent Events

The Company considers events or transactions that occur after the balance sheet date but before the financial
statements are issued to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that require
additional disclosure.  The Company evaluated subsequent events through the date the consolidated financial
statements were issued.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years' consolidated financial statements to conform to the 2010
presentation.  The reclassifications did not affect stockholders' equity or net income (loss) reported.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Improving Disclosures About Fair Value Measurements – In January 2010, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to
clarify certain existing disclosure requirements and require additional disclosures for recurring and nonrecurring fair
value measurements.  These additional disclosures include amounts and reasons for significant transfers between
Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy; significant transfers in and out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy;
and information about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements on a gross basis in the reconciliation of recurring
Level 3 measurements.  Further, the guidance amends employer's disclosures about post-retirement benefit plans to
require that disclosures be provided by classes of assets instead of by major categories of assets.  The requirements of
this guidance are effective for periods beginning after December 15, 2009, with the exception of the requirement of
information about purchases, sales, issuances, and settlements of Level 3 measurements, which is effective for periods
ending after December 15, 2010. The adoption of this guidance did not affect the Company's consolidated financial
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statements.

2.           LIQUIDITY

Our business requires significant capital investments over the short-term and the long-term.  Recently, we have
financed our capital requirements with borrowings under our Third Amended and Restated Credit Facility ("Credit
Facility"), cash flows from operations, long-term operating leases, capital leases, secured installment notes with
finance companies and a refund of previously paid federal income taxes as a result of net operating loss carry backs
pursuant to the Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009.  Our primary sources of liquidity at
December 31, 2010, were funds provided by operations, proceeds from the sale of used revenue equipment,
borrowings under our Credit Facility, borrowings from secured installment notes, capital leases, operating leases of
revenue equipment, and cash and cash equivalents.  We had a working capital (total current assets less total current
liabilities) deficit of $30.7 million and $17.8 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Working capital
deficits are common to many trucking companies that operate by financing revenue equipment purchases through
borrowing or capitalized leases.  When we finance revenue equipment through borrowing or capitalized leases, the
principal amortization scheduled for the next twelve months is categorized as a current liability, although the revenue
equipment is classified as a long-term asset.  Consequently, each purchase of revenue equipment financed with
borrowing or capitalized leases decreases working capital.  We believe our working capital deficit had little impact on
our liquidity.  Based on our expected financial condition, net capital expenditures, and results of operations and
related net cash flows, we believe our working capital and sources of liquidity will be adequate to meet our current
and projected needs for at least the next twelve months.
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We do not expect to experience material liquidity constraints in the foreseeable future or on a long-term basis, based
on our anticipated financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, continued availability of our Credit Facility,
secured installment notes, and other sources of financing that we expect will be available to us.  As discussed below,
on August 31, 2010, we obtained a fourth amendment to our Credit Facility that, among other things, extended the
maturity date of the Credit Facility from September 2011 to September 2014.  Additionally, borrowings from the
financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers are expected to be available to fund the majority of
new tractors expected to be delivered in 2011, while any other property and equipment purchases, including trailers,
are expected to be funded with a combination of notes, operating leases, capital leases, and/or the Credit Facility.  We
had less than $0.1 million in borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2010, undrawn
letters of credit outstanding of approximately $44.7 million, and available borrowing capacity of $37.8 million.  Our
intra-period borrowings under the Credit Facility have ranged between zero and $16.9 million during the fourth
quarter of 2010 and between zero and $21.8 million during 2010.  Fluctuations in the outstanding balance and related
availability under our Credit Facility are driven primarily by cash flows from operations and the timing and nature of
property and equipment additions that are not funded through notes payable, as well as the nature and timing of
receipt of proceeds from disposals of property and equipment.

3.           FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants.  Accordingly, fair value is a market-based
measurement that is determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or
liability.  The fair value of the hedge derivative asset was determined based on quotes from the counterparty which
were verified by comparing them to the exchange on which the related futures are traded, adjusted for counterparty
credit risk.  A three-tier fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize the inputs in measuring fair value as follows:

• Level 1.  Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets;
• Level 2.  Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are

observable either directly or indirectly; and
• Level 3.  Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which

require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

(in thousands) December 31
Hedge derivative asset 2010 2009

Fair Value of Derivative $ - $ 496
Quoted Prices in Active Markets (Level 1) - -
Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2) $ - $ 496
Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) - -

4.           SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

On May 5, 2009, at the annual meeting, the Company's stockholders approved an amendment to the Covenant
Transportation Group, Inc. 2006 Omnibus Incentive Plan ("2006 Plan"), which among other things, (i) provides that
the maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock available for the grant of awards under the 2006
Plan from and after such annual meeting date shall not exceed 700,000, and (ii) limits the shares of Class A common
stock that shall be available for issuance or reissuance under the 2006 Plan from and after such annual meeting date to
the additional 700,000 shares reserved, plus any expirations, forfeitures, cancellations, or certain other terminations of
such shares.
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The 2006 Plan permits annual awards of shares of the Company's Class A common stock to executives, other key
employees, non-employee directors and eligible participants under various types of options, restricted stock awards, or
other equity instruments.  The number of shares available for issuance under the 2006 Plan is 700,000 shares unless
adjustment is determined necessary by the Committee as the result of a dividend or other distribution, recapitalization,
stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase or
exchange of Class A common stock, or other corporate transaction in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of
benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available.  At December 31, 2010, 191,000 of these 700,000 shares
were available for award under the 2006 Plan.  No participant in the 2006 Plan may receive awards of any type of
equity instruments in any calendar-year that relates to more than 250,000 shares of the Company's Class A common
stock.  No awards may be made under the 2006 Plan after May 23, 2016.  To the extent available, the Company has
issued shares from treasury stock to satisfy all share-based incentive plans.
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Included in salaries, wages, and related expenses within the consolidated statements of operations is stock-based
compensation expense (benefit) of $1.0 million, $0.6 million, and ($0.1) million in 2010, 2009, and 2008,
respectively.  Included in general supplies and expenses within the consolidated statements of operations is stock
–based compensation expenses for non-employee directors of $0.1 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008. The benefit
recorded in 2008 is the result of reversing $0.4 million of expense when it was determined that certain awards that
contained performance conditions were not probable to vest. All stock compensation expense recorded in 2010, 2009
and 2008 relates to restricted stock given no options were granted during these periods. There was no expense related
to previously granted awards given all options granted in 2007 and 2006 contained performance conditions that are
not probable of being satisfied and all shares granted prior to December 31, 2005 were fully vested in 2005. Income
tax benefits associated with stock compensation expense totaled $0.4 million in 2010 related to the exercise of stock
options and restricted share vesting, resulting in a related reduction in taxable income and an offsetting increase to
additional paid in capital. There were no tax benefits in 2009 or 2008.

The 2006 Plan allows participants to pay the Company for the federal and state minimum statutory tax withholding
requirements related to awards that vest or allows the participant to deliver to the Company, shares of common stock
having a fair market value equal to the minimum amount of such required withholding taxes.  To satisfy withholding
requirements for shares that vested in 2010, certain participants elected to deliver to the Company approximately
41,000 Class A common stock shares, which were withheld at a weighted average per share price of $6.87 based on
the closing price of our Class A common stock on the dates the shares vested, in lieu of the federal and state minimum
statutory tax withholding requirements.  We remitted approximately $0.3 million to the proper taxing authorities in
satisfaction of the employees' minimum statutory withholding requirements.  To satisfy withholding requirements for
shares that vested in 2009, certain participants elected to deliver to the Company approximately 21,000 shares which
were withheld at a per share price of $5.50, totaling approximately $0.1 million, based on the closing price of our
common stock on the date the shares vested, in lieu of the federal and state minimum statutory tax withholding
requirements. We remitted approximately $0.1 million to the proper taxing authorities in satisfaction of the employees'
minimum statutory withholding requirements. The tax withholding amounts paid by the Company have been
accounted for as a repurchase of shares in the accompanying consolidated statement of stockholders' equity.
Furthermore, these deemed share repurchases are not included as part of the Company's stock repurchase program,
noting such program expired on June 30, 2009.

The following table summarizes the Company's stock option activity for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2010,
2009, and 2008:

Number of
options (in
thousands)

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

term

Aggregate
intrinsic

value
(in

thousands)

O u t s t a n d i n g  a t
December 31, 2007 1,205 $13.33 64 months

$-

Options granted - -
Options exercised - -
Options canceled (109) $12.30
O u t s t a n d i n g  a t
December 31, 2008 1,096 $13.43 52 months

$-

Options granted - -
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Options exercised - -
Options canceled (116) $14.05
O u t s t a n d i n g  a t
December 31, 2009 980 $13.36 43 months

$-

Options granted - -
Options exercised (163) $8.00
Options canceled (197) $13.42
O u t s t a n d i n g  a t
December 31, 2010 620 $14.66 38 months

$230

E x e r c i s a b l e  a t
December 31, 2010 541 $15.81 32 months

$-

Performance based options account for 79,000 of the outstanding options at December 31, 2010, noting these options
are not exercisable given the related performance had not be met at December 31, 2010.

During the third quarter of 2010, certain members of management exercised 163,000 stock options, which provided
for $1.3 million of proceeds.
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The following table summarizes the Company's restricted stock award activity for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2010, 2009, and 2008:

Number of
stock

awards
(in

thousands)

Weighted
average

grant
date fair

value

Unvested at December 31, 2007 500 $ 12.21

Granted 269 $ 3.44
Vested - -
Forfeited (3 ) $ 5.83
Unvested at December 31, 2008 766 $ 9.14

Granted 335 $ 3.07
Vested (162 ) $ 3.15
Forfeited (165 ) $ 9.30
Unvested at December 31, 2009 774 $ 7.76

Granted 370 $ 6.59
Vested (228 ) $ 3.07
Forfeited (145 ) $ 10.60
Unvested at December 31, 2010 771 $ 8.05

The unvested shares at December 31, 2010 will vest based on when and if the related vesting criteria are met for each
award. All awards require continued service to vest, noting that 96,000 of these awards vest solely based on continued
service, which vest in varying increments between 2011 and 2015. Additionally, 109,000 awards vest based on market
conditions such that one third of the each employee's awards vests if the Company's Class A Stock trades above $7,
$9, and $11, respectively, for twenty trading days beginning January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2015.
Furthermore, 54,000 awards will vest based if the Company's Class A Stock trades above $8 for thirty trading days
beginning January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2011. Performance based awards account for 512,000 of the
unvested shares at December 31, 2010, noting that 269,000 of these shares are not expected to vest based on the
expectation that the related performance criteria will not be met. As such, all previously recognized compensation
expense was reversed in 2008, and no related expense was recognized in 2009 or 2010 given there was no change in
the expectation regarding the performance targets being met that would trigger the shares to vest. The remaining
243,000 of unvested shares is comprised of 96,000 shares with a performance target that will vest when the Board of
Directors certifies that the Company's fiscal 2010 earnings per share is equal to or greater than $0.05 per share, and
147,000 shares that will vest in two equal parts if the Company's performance meets or exceeds a 0.5%  and 1.0%
improvement in the net income margin over 2010 results beginning January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2013.

The fair value of restricted stock awards that vested in 2010 and 2009 was approximately $1.6 million and $0.5
million, respectively, noting no awards vested in 2008. As of December 31, 2010, the Company had approximately
$1.9 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock awards, which is probable to be
recognized over a weighted average period of approximately thirty-one months. All restricted shares awarded to
executives and other key employees pursuant to the 2006 Plan have voting and other stockholder-type rights, but will
not be issued until the relevant restrictions are satisfied.
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5.           INVESTMENT IN TRANSPLACE

From July 2001 through December 2009, we owned approximately 12.4% of Transplace, Inc. ("Transplace"), a global
transportation logistics service. In the formation transaction for Transplace, we contributed our logistics customer list,
logistics business software and software licenses, certain intellectual property, intangible assets, and $5.0 million in
cash, in exchange for our ownership.  We accounted for this investment, which totaled approximately $10.7 million,
using the cost method of accounting, and it was historically included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
Also, during the first quarter of 2005, we loaned Transplace approximately $2.6 million, which along with the related
accrued interest was historically included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet.

Based on an offer to purchase our 12.4% equity ownership and related note receivable in Transplace that was accepted
by a majority of the stockholders, we determined that the value of our equity investment had become completely
impaired in the third quarter of 2009, and the value of the note receivable had become impaired by approximately $0.9
million. As a result, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $11.6 million during the third quarter of 2009.
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The transaction closed in December 2009, whereby the proceeds of $1.9 million provided for a recovery of $0.1
million of the previously impaired amount in the fourth quarter of 2009 and thus an $11.5 million non-cash loss on the
sale of our investment and related note receivable.  There was no tax benefit recorded in connection with the loss on
the sale of the investment, given a full valuation allowance was established for the related capital loss.  Under our
Credit Facility, the non-cash loss is added back in the computation of the Company's fixed charge coverage ratio; and
therefore does not unfavorably impact our single financial covenant.

6.           PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

A summary of property and equipment, at cost, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

(in thousands)

Estimated
Useful
Lives 2010 2009

Revenue equipment
3-10

years $ 357,326 $ 309,668

Communications equipment
5-10

years 18,591 15,606

Land and improvements
0-24

years 17,356 17,541

Buildings and leasehold improvements
7-40

years 37,822 38,543
Construction in-progress - 1,565 2,715

Other
1-10

years 17,807 15,639
$ 450,467 $ 399,712

Depreciation expense was $55.5 million, $47.2 million, and $60.2 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.  The
2008 amount includes a $15.8 million impairment charge. The aforementioned depreciation expense excludes gains
(losses) on the sale of property and equipment totaling $4.3 million, ($0.1) million and ($1.9) million in 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively, which are presented net in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated
statements of operations.

The Company leases certain revenue equipment under capital leases with terms of 60 months. At December 31, 2010
and 2009, property and equipment included capitalized leases, which had capitalized costs of $16.4 million and $14.0
million, respectively, and accumulated amortization of $1.6 million and $0.2 million, respectively.  Amortization of
these leased assets is included in depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated statement of operations
and totaled $1.4 million and $0.2 million during 2010 and 2009, respectively. There was no equipment held under
capital leases during 2008.

As a result of sharply lower economic indicators, a worsening credit market, and significantly lower prices received
for disposals of our owned used revenue equipment, all of which deteriorated substantially during the fourth quarter of
2008, we recorded a $9.4 million asset impairment charge to write-down the carrying values of tractors and trailers
in-use in our Truckload segment which were expected to be traded or sold in 2009 or 2010.  The carrying values for
revenue equipment scheduled for trade in 2011 and beyond were not adjusted because those tractors and trailers were
not required to be impaired based on recoverability testing using the expected future cash flows and disposition values
of such equipment.

Edgar Filing: COVENANT TRANSPORTATION GROUP INC - Form 10-K

112



Similarly, we recorded a $6.4 million asset impairment charge ($1.2 million was recorded in the third quarter of 2008
and $5.2 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2008) to write down the carrying values of tractors and trailers
held for sale in our Truckload segment.  Our evaluation of the future cash flows compared to the carrying value of the
tractors and trailers in-use in 2010 has not resulted in any additional impairment charges.  Additionally, there were no
indicators triggering an evaluation for impairment of assets held for sale during 2010, as evidenced by the
aforementioned gains on the disposal of revenue equipment, including assets held for sale.

In 2009, we began a multi-year project to upgrade the hardware and software of our information systems.  The goal
upon completion of the project is to have uniform operational and financial systems across the entire Company as we
believe this will improve customer service, utilization, and enhance our visibility into and across the organization.  We
incurred approximately $0.8 million and $2.6 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively, related to this system upgrade,
and $1.5 million of these related amounts are included in construction in progress as the related systems were not
implemented as of December 31, 2010. We have capitalized $1.9 million of these costs, which are reflected in
property and equipment in the consolidated balance sheet.
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7.           GOODWILL AND OTHER ASSETS

Goodwill of $11.5 million at December 31, 2010 and 2009 relates to two reporting units (Covenant and SRT) within
our Truckload segment.  Pursuant to the applicable accounting standards, we conducted our annual impairment test for
goodwill in the second quarter of 2010 and 2009 and did not identify any impairment and noted no subsequent
indicators of impairment within these reporting units.

In light of changes in market conditions and the related declining market outlook for our Star operating subsidiary,
which is included in our Truckload segment, noted in the fourth quarter of 2008, we engaged an independent third
party to assist us in the completion of valuations used in the impairment testing process.  The completion of this work
concluded that the goodwill previously recorded for the Star acquisition was fully impaired and resulted in a $24.7
million, or $1.75 per basic and diluted share, non-cash goodwill impairment charge, recorded in the fourth quarter of
2008.  There was no tax benefit associated with this nondeductible charge. We conducted our 2010 annual impairment
test for goodwill in the second quarter and did not identify any impairment.

A summary of other assets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 is as follows:

(in thousands) 2010 2009
Covenants not to compete $ 2,690 $ 2,690
Trade name 1,250 1,250
Customer relationships 3,490 3,490
Less: accumulated amortization of intangibles (6,177 ) (5,541 )
Net intangible assets 1,253 1,889
Other, net 4,482 4,722

$ 5,735 $ 6,611

Amortization expenses of intangible assets were $0.6 million, $0.8 million, and $1.0 million for 2010, 2009, and 2008,
respectively.  Approximate intangible amortization expense for the next five years is as follows:

(In
thousands)

2011 $382
2012 317
2013 227
2014 91
2015 66
Thereafter $170

8.           DEBT

Current and long-term debt consisted of the following at December 31, 2010 and 2009:

(in thousands) December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
Current Long-Term Current Long-Term

Borrowings under Credit Facility $- $21 $- $12,686
Revenue equipment installment notes; weighted average
interest rate of 6.5% at December 31, 2010, and December
31, 2009, respectively, due in monthly installments with
final maturities at various dates ranging from January 2011
to June 2015, secured by related revenue equipment 68,014 139,395 67,000 118,574
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Real estate note; interest rate of 2.8% and 2.8% at December
31 ,  2010 and  2009,  respec t ive ly ,  due  in  month ly
instal lments  with f ixed maturi ty at  October 2013,
secured  by related real-estate 365 2,547 365 2,824
Total debt 68,379 141,963 67,365 134,084
C a p i t a l  l e a s e  o b l i g a t i o n s ,  s e c u r e d  b y  r e l a t e d
revenue  equipment 1,399 13,418 1,098 12,472

Total debt and capital lease obligations $69,778 $155,381 $68,463 $146,556
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In September 2008, we and substantially all of our subsidiaries (collectively, the "Borrowers") entered into a Third
Amended and Restated Credit Facility with Bank of America, N.A., as agent (the "Agent") and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A. ("JPM," and together with the Agent, the "Lenders").

The Credit Facility is structured as an $85.0 million revolving credit facility, with an accordion feature that, so long as
no event of default exists, allows us to request an increase in the revolving credit facility of up to $50.0 million.  The
Credit Facility includes, within its $85.0 million revolving credit facility, a letter of credit sub facility in an aggregate
amount of $85.0 million and a swing line sub facility in an aggregate amount equal to the greater of $10.0 million or
10% of the Lenders' aggregate commitments under the Credit Facility from time-to-time.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are classified as either "base rate loans" or "LIBOR loans."  Base rate loans
accrue interest at a base rate equal to the greater of the Agent's prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, or LIBOR
plus 1.0%, plus an applicable margin that is adjusted quarterly between 2.5% and 3.25% based on average pricing
availability.  LIBOR loans accrue interest at the greater of 1.5% or LIBOR, plus an applicable margin that is adjusted
quarterly between 3.5% and 4.25% based on average pricing availability.  The unused line fee is adjusted quarterly
between 0.5% and 0.75% of the average daily amount by which the Lenders' aggregate revolving commitments under
the Credit Facility exceed the outstanding principal amount of revolver loans and the aggregate undrawn amount of all
outstanding letters of credit issued under the Credit Facility.  The obligations under the Credit Facility are guaranteed
by us and secured by a pledge of substantially all of our assets, with the notable exclusion of any real estate or revenue
equipment pledged under other financing agreements, including revenue equipment installment notes and capital
leases.

Borrowings under the Credit Facility are subject to a borrowing base limited to the lesser of (A) $85.0 million, minus
the sum of the stated amount of all outstanding letters of credit; or (B) the sum of (i) 85% of eligible accounts
receivable, plus (ii) the lesser of (a) 85% of the appraised net orderly liquidation value of eligible revenue equipment,
(b) 95% of the net book value of eligible revenue equipment, or (c) 35% of the Lenders' aggregate revolving
commitments under the Credit Facility, plus (iii) the lesser of (a) $25.0 million or (b) 65% of the appraised fair market
value of eligible real estate.  The borrowing base is limited by a $15.0 million availability block, plus any other
reserves the Agent may establish in its judgment.  We had less than $0.1 million in borrowings outstanding under the
Credit Facility as of December 31, 2010, undrawn letters of credit outstanding of approximately $44.7 million, and
available borrowing capacity of $37.8 million.  The interest rate on outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2010
and 2009 was 4.8% and 6.3%, respectively.

The Credit Facility includes usual and customary events of default for a facility of this nature and provides that, upon
the occurrence and continuation of an event of default, payment of all amounts payable under the Credit Facility may
be accelerated, and the Lenders' commitments may be terminated.  The Credit Facility contains certain restrictions and
covenants relating to, among other things, dividends, liens, acquisitions and dispositions outside of the ordinary course
of business, and affiliate transactions.  The Credit Facility contains a single financial covenant, which required us to
maintain a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.0 to 1.0.  The fixed charge coverage covenant became
effective October 31, 2008.

On March 27, 2009, we obtained an amendment to our Credit Facility, which, among other things, (i) retroactively to
January 1, 2009 amended the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant for January and February 2009 to the actual levels
achieved, which cured our default of that covenant for January 2009, (ii) restarted the look back requirements of the
fixed charge coverage ratio covenant beginning on March 1, 2009, (iii) increased the EBITDAR portion of the fixed
charge coverage ratio definition by $3.0 million for all periods between March 1 to December 31, 2009, (iv) increased
the base rate applicable to base rate loans to the greater of the prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.5%, or LIBOR
plus 1.0%, (v) set a LIBOR floor of 1.5%, (vi) increased the applicable margin for base rate loans to a range between
2.5% and 3.25% and for LIBOR loans to a range between 3.5% and 4.25%, with 3.0% (for base rate loans) and 4.0%
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(for LIBOR loans) to be used as the applicable margin through September 2009, (vii) increased our letter of credit
facility fee by an amount corresponding to the increase in the applicable margin, (viii) increased the unused line fee to
a range between 0.5% and 0.75%, and (ix) increased the maximum number of field examinations per year from three
to four.  In exchange for these amendments, we agreed to the increases in interest rates and fees described above and
paid fees of approximately $0.6 million.

On February 25, 2010, we obtained an additional amendment to our Credit Facility, which, among other things, (i)
amended certain defined terms in the Credit Facility, (ii) retroactively to January 1, 2010, amended the fixed charge
coverage ratio covenant through June 30, 2010, which prevented a default of that covenant for January 2010, (iii)
restarted the look back requirements of the fixed coverage ratio covenant beginning on January 1, 2010, and (iv)
required us to order updated appraisals for certain real estate described in the Credit Facility.  In exchange for these
amendments, we agreed to pay the Agent, for the pro rata benefit of the Lenders, a fee equal to 0.125% of the Lenders'
total commitments under the Credit Facility, or approximately $0.1 million.  Following the effectiveness of the
amendment, our fixed charge coverage ratio covenant requirement is 1.00 to 1.00 for each month hereafter, and we
were in compliance with this covenant as of December 31, 2010.
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On July 30, 2010, we obtained a third amendment to our Credit Facility, which allowed for a certain letter of credit
totaling approximately $1.2 million to be issued with a term of longer than twelve months as required by the recipient.
The Credit Facility, as amended, provides that each letter of credit renews annually, excluding the aforementioned
exception.

On August 31, 2010, we obtained a fourth amendment to our Credit Facility, which was effective retroactively to
August 1, 2010 and, among other things, (i) extended the maturity date of the Credit Facility from September 2011 to
September 2014, (ii) decreased the applicable margin for base rate loans to a range between 1.25% and 2.00% and for
LIBOR loans to a range between 2.25% and 3.00%, (iii) eliminated the LIBOR floor on the interest rate grid, (iv)
improved the unused line fee pricing to 0.5% per annum when availability is less than $50.0 million and 0.75% per
annum when availability is at or over such amount (previously the fee was 0.5% per annum when availability was less
than $42.5 million and 0.75% when availability was at or over such amount), (v) reduced the field exam frequency
from three field examinations of any Borrower's books and records and three appraisals of pledged equipment to two
examinations and two appraisals, respectively, and (vi) decreased the frequency of borrowing base certificates to
monthly from weekly; provided no default exists and availability is more than $15.0 million.  In exchange for these
amendments, we agreed to the decreases in interest rates and fees described above and paid fees and expenses of
approximately $0.5 million.

Capital lease obligations are utilized to finance a portion of our revenue equipment.  The leases in effect at December
31, 2010 terminate in September 2014 through October 2015 and contain guarantees of the entire residual value of the
related equipment by us.  As such, the residual guarantees are included in the related debt balance as a balloon
payment at the end of the related term as well as included in the future minimum capital lease payments.  These lease
agreements require us to pay personal property taxes, maintenance, and operating expenses.

Pricing for our revenue equipment installment notes include fixed annual rates for new equipment under retail
installment contracts. The notes included in the funding are due in monthly installments with final maturities at
various dates ranging from January 2011 to June 2015. The notes contain certain requirements regarding payment,
insuring of collateral, and other matters, but do not have any financial or other material covenants or events of default.
Additional borrowings from the financial affiliates of our primary revenue equipment suppliers are available to fund
most new tractors expected to be delivered 2011, while any other property and equipment purchases, including
trailers, will be funded with a combination of notes, operating leases, capital leases, and/or from the Credit Facility.

As of December 31, 2010, the scheduled principal payments of debt, excluding capital leases for which future
payments are discussed in Note 9 are as follows:

(in
thousands)

2011 $ 68,379
2012 $ 82,662
2013 $ 39,651
2014 $ 8,812
2015 $ 10,838
                                                           Thereafter $ -

9.           LEASES

The Company has operating lease commitments for office and terminal properties, revenue equipment, and computer
and office equipment and capital lease commitments for revenue equipment, exclusive of owner/operator rentals and
month-to-month equipment rentals, summarized for the following fiscal years (in thousands):
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Operating Capital
2011 13,696 2,518
2012 11,769 2,518
2013 6,413 2,518
2014 2,866 8,407
2015 2,730 2,821
Thereafter 30,522 -

A portion of the Company's operating leases of tractors and trailers contain residual value guarantees under which the
Company guarantees a certain minimum cash value payment to the leasing company at the expiration of the lease. The
Company estimates that the residual guarantees are approximately $8.2 million and $23.6 million at December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively. The residual guarantees at December 31, 2010 expire in 2011. The Company expects its
residual guarantees to approximate the market value at the end of the lease term. Additionally, certain leases contain
cross-default provisions with other financing agreements and additional charges if the unit's mileage exceeds certain
thresholds defined in the lease agreement.
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Rental expense is summarized as follows for each of the three years ended December 31:

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Revenue equipment rentals $ 17,017 $ 25,863 $ 31,219
Building and lot rentals 3,586 3,976 3,884
Other equipment rentals 1,063 1,829 2,097

$ 21,666 $ 31,668 $ 37,200

On October 28, 2010, we executed a Letter Agreement ("Letter Agreement") with Transport International Pool, Inc.
("TIP").  The Letter Agreement modifies the Master Lease Agreement dated April 15, 2003, between TIP and the
Company, pursuant to which we have entered into (among others) equipment lease schedules covering 2,446 trailers
(the "Designated Schedules") scheduled to expire between November 2010 and May 2011.  In addition,
contemporaneously with the execution of the Letter Agreement, we returned 543 trailers in accordance with the terms
of the Master Lease Agreement in order to better match our trailer fleet with our current number of tractors. Pursuant
to the terms of the Letter Agreement, upon the scheduled expiration of each of the Designated Schedules, we will
lease from TIP the trailers that are subject to such Designated Schedule on the terms and conditions set forth in the
Letter Agreement and a new lease schedule attached to and made a part of the Letter Agreement. Under the terms of
the Letter Agreement, the trailers subject to the agreement will be required to be returned or purchased at the rate of
approximately 100 trailers per month beginning February 2012. The improved rental rate, coupled with the reduction
in rental expense associated with the return of 543 trailers, is expected to provide us with savings on the TIP trailers in
fiscal year 2011. In order to induce TIP to enter into the agreement, we and certain of our subsidiaries delivered to TIP
a corporate guaranty, in which the guarantors agreed to guaranty all existing and future obligations of the Company
and its subsidiaries from time-to-time owing to TIP, including, without limitation, all obligations under the Master
Lease Agreement.

In April 2006, the Company entered into a sale leaseback transaction involving our corporate headquarters, a
maintenance facility, a body shop, and approximately forty-six acres of surrounding property in Chattanooga,
Tennessee. In the transaction, the Company entered into a twenty-year lease agreement, whereby it will lease back the
property at an annual rental rate of approximately $2.5 million subject to annual rent increases of 1.0%, resulting in
annual straight-line rental expense of approximately $2.7 million, which comprises a significant portion of building
rentals above. The transaction resulted in a gain of approximately $2.1 million, which is being amortized ratably over
the life of the lease, noting the $1.7 million deferred gain is included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet.

10.           INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 is comprised of:

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Federal, current $ (11,377) $ 3,680 $ (10,408)
Federal, deferred 16,739 (8,038) (701 )
State, current 130 (34 ) 72
State, deferred 683 (626 ) (1,755 )

$ 6,175 $ (5,018) $ (12,792)
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Income tax expense varies from the amount computed by applying the federal corporate income tax rate of 35% to
income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008 as follows:

(in thousands) 2010 2009 2008

Computed "expected" income
tax expense $ 3,312 $ (10,517) $ (23,164)
State income taxes, net of
federal income tax effect 322 (1,050 ) (2,316 )
Per diem allowances 3,350 3,320 2,769
Tax contingency accruals 145 (216 ) (131 )
Nondeductible foreign
operating (income) loss (133 ) (504 ) 298
Nondeductible goodwill
impairment - - 9,498
Realization of outside basis
difference related to
Transplace - 2,599 -
Valuation allowance
(release), net (638 ) 1,896 -
 Disallowed interest (release) (48 ) (189 ) -
Tax credits (182 ) (44 ) (145 )
Other, net 47 (313 ) 399
Actual income tax expense $ 6,175 $ (5,018 ) $ (12,792)

The temporary differences and the approximate tax effects that give rise to the Company's net deferred tax liability at
December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

(in thousands) 2010 2009

Net deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 539 $ 702
Insurance and claims 9,533 7,594
Net operating loss carryovers 34,343 38,398
   Capital loss carryover related to
Transplace 1,670 1,671
Other accrued liabilities 445 476
Other, net 6,189 4,933
   Valuation allowance (1,258 ) (1,896 )
Total net deferred tax assets 51,461 51,878

Net deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (87,009) (71,127)
   Intangible and other assets (1,990 ) (1,899 )
    Prepaid expenses (3,606 ) (2,919 )
Total net deferred tax liabilities (92,605) (75,945)

Net deferred tax liability $ (41,144) $ (24,067)
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Deferred taxes are classified in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet based on the nature of the related asset
or liability as current or long-term, such that current deferred tax assets and liabilities provide a net asset of $0.7
million, while long-term deferred tax assets and liabilities provide a net liability of $41.8 million.  The net deferred tax
liability if $41.1 million primarily relates to differences in cumulative book versus tax depreciation of property and
equipment, partially off-set by net operating loss carryovers.  The carrying value of the Company's deferred tax assets
assumes that it will be able to generate, based on certain estimates and assumptions, sufficient future taxable income
in certain tax jurisdictions to utilize these deferred tax benefits.  If these estimates and related assumptions change in
the future, it may be required to establish a valuation allowance against the carrying value of the deferred tax assets,
which would result in additional income tax expense.  There was no valuation allowance in 2008. Based on forecasted
taxable income and tax planning strategies available to the Company, no valuation allowance was established at
December 31, 2009, except for $0.3 million related to certain state net operating loss carryforwards and $1.6 million
related to the deferred tax asset associated with the Company's capital loss generated by the loss on the sale of its
investment in Transplace.  In 2010, the valuation allowance was reduced by $0.6 million to reflect the net effect
capital gains realized during the year of $0.7 million related to fuel hedge gains and an increase in reserves for state
net operating loss carryforwards of $0.1 million.  As a result, the Company had $1.3 million recorded as a valuation
allowance at December 31, 2010.
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The activity in the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets (in thousands) is as follows:

Years ended
December 31:

Beginning
balance
January

1,

Additional
provisions

to
allowance

Write-offs
and

other
deductions

Ending
balance

December
31,

2010 $ 1,896 $ 42 $ (680 ) $ 1,258

2009 $ - $ 1,896 $ - $ 1,896

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had a $3.4 million liability recorded for unrecognized tax benefits, which
includes interest and penalties of $1.3 million. The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued related to
unrecognized tax benefits in tax expense. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had a $3.1 million liability
recorded for unrecognized tax benefits, which included interest and penalty of $1.0 million.  Interest and penalties
recognized for uncertain tax positions were approximately $0.2 million, $0.2 million, and $0.1 million in 2010, 2009,
and 2008, respectively.

The following tables summarize the annual activity related to the Company's gross unrecognized tax benefits (in
thousands) for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008:

2010 2009 2008
Balance as of January 1, $ 2,137 $ 1,971 $ 1,923
Increases related to prior year tax
positions 75 67 206
Decreases related to prior year
positions (30 ) (3 ) (3 )
Increases related to current year
tax positions 110 279 17
Decreases related to settlements
with taxing authorities - (122 ) (28 )
Decreases related to lapsing of
statute of limitations (159 ) (55 ) (144 )
Balance as of December 31, $ 2,133 $ 2,137 $ 1,971

If recognized, $2.2 million and $2.1 million of unrecognized tax benefits would impact the Company's effective tax
rate as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 respectively. Any prospective adjustments to the Company's reserves for
income taxes will be recorded as an increase or decrease to its provision for income taxes and would impact our
effective tax rate.

The Company's 2007 through 2010 tax years remain subject to examination by the IRS for U.S. federal tax purposes,
the Company's major taxing jurisdiction.  In the normal course of business, the Company is also subject to audits by
state and local tax authorities. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any
particular tax matter, the Company believes that its reserves reflect the more likely than not outcome of known tax
contingencies. The Company adjusts these reserves, as well as the related interest, in light of changing facts and
circumstances. Settlement of any particular issue would usually require the use of cash.  Favorable resolution would
be recognized as a reduction to the Company's annual tax rate in the year of resolution.  The Company does not expect
any significant increases or decreases for uncertain income tax positions during the next twelve months.
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The Company's federal net operating loss carryforwards are available to offset future federal taxable income, if any,
through 2030, while its state net operating loss carryforwards and state tax credits expire over various periods through
2030 based on jurisdiction. The capital loss carryforward related to the loss on the investment in Transplace is
available to offset future capital gains through 2014.

During the third quarter of 2010, we recognized a $0.4 million income tax benefit arising from the exercise of stock
options and restricted share vesting. This resulted in a related reduction in taxable income in the current period and an
offsetting increase to additional paid in capital.

11.           STOCK REPURCHASE PLAN

In May 2007, the Board of Directors approved an extension of the Company's previously approved stock repurchase
plan for up to 1.3 million Company shares to be purchased in the open market or through negotiated transactions
subject to criteria established by the Board. No shares were purchased under this plan during 2010, 2009, or
2008.  The stock repurchase plan expired on June 30, 2009; however, as discussed in Note 4, we remitted
approximately $0.3 million and $0.1 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively, to the proper taxing authorities in
satisfaction of the employees' minimum statutory withholding requirements related to employees' vesting in restricted
share grants. The tax withholding amounts paid by the Company were accounted for as a repurchase of shares.  Our
Credit Facility prohibits the repurchase of any shares, except those purchased to offset an employee's minimum
statutory withholding requirements upon the vesting of equity awards, without obtaining approval from the lenders.
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12.           DEFERRED PROFIT SHARING EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company has a deferred profit sharing and savings plan under which all of its employees with at least six months
of service are eligible to participate.  Employees may contribute a percentage of their annual compensation up to the
maximum amount allowed by the Internal Revenue Code.  The Company may make discretionary contributions as
determined by a committee of its Board of Directors.  The Company made no contributions in 2010 and contributed
minimal contributions in 2009 and approximately $1.3 million in 2008, respectively, to the profit sharing and savings
plan.  The Board approved the suspension of employee matching "discretionary" contributions to be made beginning
early in 2009 for an indefinite time period.

13.           RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As discussed in Note 5, from July 2001 through December 2009, we owned approximately 12.4% of Transplace and
had receivables from Transplace related to a bridge loan made in 2005 and related accrued interest. In addition, the
Company provides transportation services to Transplace which provided for gross revenues of approximately $13.8
million, $18.8 million, and $26.2 million during 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. The trade accounts receivable
balance as of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 was approximately $2.1 million and $4.7 million,
respectively.

Additionally, a company wholly owned by a relative of a significant stockholder and executive officer operated a
"company store" on a rent-free basis in the Company's headquarters building, and used Covenant service marks on its
products at no cost. The "company store" ceased operations in 2008. The Company paid fair market value for all
supplies that were purchased which totaled approximately less than $0.1 million in 2008.

14.           DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company engages in activities that expose it to market risks, including the effects of changes in fuel prices. 
Financial exposures are evaluated as an integral part of the Company's risk management program, which seeks, from
time-to-time, to reduce the potentially adverse effects that the volatility of fuel markets may have on operating
results.  In an effort to seek to reduce the variability of the ultimate cash flows associated with fluctuations in diesel
fuel prices, we periodically enter into various derivative instruments, including forward futures swap contracts.  As
diesel fuel is not a traded commodity on the futures market, heating oil is used as a substitute for diesel fuel because
prices for both generally move in similar directions. Under these contracts, we pay a fixed rate per gallon of heating
oil and receive the monthly average price of New York heating oil per the New York Mercantile Exchange
("NYMEX"), noting the retrospective and prospective regression analyses provided that changes in the prices of diesel
fuel and heating oil were deemed to be highly effective based on the relevant authoritative guidance. The Company
does not engage in speculative transactions, nor does it hold or issue financial instruments for trading purposes. 

During the fourth quarter of 2010, the Company sold all of its contracts related to the forecasted purchase of diesel
fuel in 2011 to lock-in the related gains.  The gains totaling $0.5 million are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income, net of tax of $0.3 million.  As such, there are no outstanding derivative instruments at
December 31, 2010. During 2010, $1.8 million was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to
earnings related to gains on contracts that expired or were sold and for which the Company completed the forecasted
transaction by purchasing the hedged diesel fuel.  At December 31, 2009, the Company's derivative instruments had a
fair value of $0.5 million and were included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet, while the offsetting $0.3
million, net of tax of $0.2 million, was included in accumulated other comprehensive income.  No amounts were
reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income into earnings in 2009 given the futures swap contracts
were forward starting in 2010 and as such there had been no transactions involving purchases of the related diesel fuel
being hedged at December 31, 2009.
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We perform both a prospective and retrospective assessment of the effectiveness of our hedge contracts at inception
and quarterly, including assessing the possibility of counterparty default.  If we determine that a derivative is no
longer expected to be highly effective, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively and recognize subsequent
changes in the fair value of the hedge in earnings.  As a result of our effectiveness assessment at inception, quarterly,
and at December 31, 2010 and 2009, we believe our hedge contracts have been and will continue to be highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.

We recognize all derivative instruments at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets.  The Company's derivative
instruments are designated as cash flow hedges, thus the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is
reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and will be reclassified into earnings in the
same period during which the hedged transaction affects earnings.  The effective portion of the derivative represents
the change in fair value of the hedge that offsets the change in fair value of the hedged item.  To the extent the change
in the fair value of the hedge does not perfectly offset the change in the fair value of the hedged item, the ineffective
portion of the hedge is immediately recognized in other income on our consolidated statements of operations.
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Based on the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2010 and the expected timing
of the purchases of the diesel hedged, we expect to reclassify $0.8 million of gains on derivative instruments from
accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings during the next twelve months due to the actual diesel fuel
purchases.

Derivative instruments expose us to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the counterparties to the
agreements.  We do not expect any of the counterparties to fail to meet their obligations.  Our credit exposure related
to these financial instruments is represented by the fair value of contracts reported as assets.  To manage credit risk,
we review each counterparty's audited financial statements and credit ratings and obtain references.

During the second quarter of 2010, the Company entered into a fixed forward purchase agreement with a fuel vendor
whereby the Company agreed to purchase 0.5 million gallons of diesel fuel per month for twenty-four months and
included in the contract was a hedge of the related cost of the fuel under which the Company pays a fixed rate per
gallon of heating oil and receives the monthly average price of New York heating oil per the NYMEX. The hedge and
related purchase of the fuel was accounted for using the normal purchases and sales scope exception given
management concluded that all relevant criteria were met.  Subsequent to entering into the agreement, the Company
sold the related contract as a result of a significant gain on the hedge and determination that the fundamentals of the
petroleum markets provided for the likely ability of the Company to both realize the gain and enter into a subsequent
hedge to mitigate the risk at a similar cost. The termination of the agreement generated a $0.8 million gain that was
recorded during the second quarter of 2010 and is included as a reduction in fuel expense.

15.           COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

From time-to-time, the Company is a party to ordinary, routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business,
most of which involves claims for personal injury and property damage incurred in connection with the transportation
of freight. The Company maintains insurance to cover liabilities arising from the transportation of freight for amounts
in excess of certain self-insured retentions. In management's opinion, the Company's potential exposure under pending
legal proceedings is adequately provided for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Company had $44.7 million and $42.0 million of outstanding and undrawn letters of credit as of December 31,
2010 and 2009, respectively. The letters of credit are maintained primarily to support the Company's insurance
programs.

The Company had commitments outstanding at December 31, 2010, to acquire revenue equipment totaling
approximately $112.5 million in 2011 versus commitments at December 31, 2009 of approximately $97.2 million.
These commitments are cancelable, subject to certain adjustments in the underlying obligations and benefits. These
purchase commitments are expected to be financed by operating leases, capital leases, long-term debt, proceeds from
sales of existing equipment, and/or cash flows from operations. The Company also had commitments outstanding at
December 31, 2010, to acquire computer software totaling $0.4 million in 2011 and 2012.
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16.           SEGMENT INFORMATION

As previously discussed, we have two reportable segments: Asset-Based Truckload Services and our Brokerage
Services.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies.  Substantially all intersegment sales prices are market based.  The Company evaluates performance based on
operating income of the respective business units.

"Unallocated Corporate Overhead" includes expenses that are incidental to our activities and are not specifically
allocated to one of the segments.

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Truckload Brokerage

Unallocated
Corporate
Overhead Consolidated

Revenue – external customers $610,291 $46,053 $- $ 656,344
Intersegment revenue - (6,595 ) - (6,595 )
Operating income (loss) (1) 35,390 1,462 (10,844 ) 26,008
Depreciation and amortization 50,821 23 963 51,807
Goodwill at carrying value 11,539 - - 11,539
Total assets 391,510 6,983 33,873 432,366
Capital expenditures, net 81,316 2 954 82,272

Year Ended December 31, 2009
Revenue – external customers $541,325 $58,771 $- $ 600,096
Intersegment revenue - (11,409 ) - (11,409 )
Operating income (loss) (1) 10,552 155 (15,429 ) (4,722 )
Depreciation and amortization 46,482 374 1,266 48,122
Goodwill at carrying value 11,539 - - 11,539
Total assets 369,979 7,856 20,477 398,312
Capital expenditures, net 60,946 104 1,958 63,008

Year Ended December 31, 2008
Revenue – external customers $719,220 $74,474 $- $ 793,694
Intersegment revenue - (19,780 ) - (19,780 )
Operating income (loss) (2) (37,091 ) 466 (19,054 ) (55,679 )
Depreciation and amortization (3) 61,888 81 1,266 63,235
Goodwill at carrying value 11,539 - - 11,539
Total assets 351,831 11,770 30,075 393,676
Capital expenditures, net 58,587 222 3,837 62,646

(1) Unallocated corporate overhead includes $11.5 million loss on Transplace discussed in
Note 5.

(2) Truckload segment includes $24.7 million goodwill impairment discussed in Note 7 and
$15.8 million related to property and equipment impairments discussed in Note 6.

(3) Truckload segment includes $15.8 million related to property and equipment
impairments discussed in Note 6.
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17.           QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(in thousands except per share amounts)

Quarters ended
Mar. 31,

2010
June 30,

2010
Sep. 30,

2010
Dec. 31,

2010

Freight revenue $129,336 $141,392 $138,964 $136,628
Operating income (1) 1,816 10,042 8,172 5,976
Net income (loss) (1) (2,176 ) 2,889 1,884 690
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share (0.15 ) 0.20 0.13 0.05

(in thousands except per share amounts)

Quarters ended
Mar. 31,

2009
June 30,

2009
Sep. 30,

2009
Dec. 31,

2009

Freight revenue $122,129 $129,247 $133,332 $135,787
Operating loss (5,145 ) (637 ) 1,829 (769 )
Net loss (5,543 ) (3,146 ) (13,600 ) (2,741 )
Basic and diluted loss per share (1) (0.39 ) (0.22 ) (0.96 ) (0.19 )

(1) Quarter totals do not aggregate to annualized results due to rounding.
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